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Forward-looking Statements
Statements contained in this report 
with respect to Aeon’s plans, strate-
gies and beliefs that are not histori-
cal facts are forward-looking state-
ments about the future perform-
ance of Aeon which are based on 
management’s assumptions and 
beliefs in light of the information 
currently available to it. These for-
ward-looking statements involve 
known and unknown risks, uncer-
tainties and other factors that 
may cause Aeon’s actual results, 
performance or achievements to 
differ materially from the expecta-
tions expressed herein.

Electronic Delivery from 2011  
Aeon Co., Ltd. intends to begin full 
electronic delivery of its annual 
report starting from 2011. This 
move will help us to more fully 
realize our commitment to responsi-
ble stewardship of natural resourc-
es and reduction of our carbon 
emissions. We invite you to 
download or view our reports online 
at http://www.aeon.info/en/
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MaximizingValue
Aeon approaches business from the defi ning standpoint of value, 
so, amid the protracted global economic downturn we have 
focused on reforms that maximize both earnings and customer 
satisfaction. We closely and constantly monitor markets and 
customers, then adjust what we offer to give customers the 
most attractive value for the times. This core dictum guided 
our steady progress in the past year and will see us through many 
future cycles of economic change.

Aeon* is a retailing group of 169 companies united by a strong management base and 
globally advanced merchandizing and logistics processes. With retailing as its core, the 
Group operates lifestyle-enhancing retail and a variety of other services, from general mer-
chandise stores and supermarkets, to fashion-conscious specialty stores, fi nancial services 
and amusement facilities.
 In our home market of Japan and in a growing network in China and 
Southeast Asia, Aeon stores, goods and services are character-
ized by customer partnerships at the community level, and 
our commitment to total customer satisfaction at 
all times.  

Note:   “Aeon” or “the Group” refers to the pure holding 
company Aeon Co., Ltd. and its 168 subsidiaries. 

Annual Report 2010 / 01
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Notes:
1.  For convenience only, U.S. dollar amounts were translated at the rate of ¥89=$1, the rate of exchange at February 28, 2010. Such translations should not be construed as 

representations that the Japanese yen amounts could be converted into U.S. dollars.

2.  Japanese yen figures less than a billion yen are rounded down to the nearest billion yen, except for per share data.

3.  According to a new accounting standard for presentation of equity, which is effective for fiscal years ending on or after May 1, 2006, stock acquisition rights, minority  
interests and any deferred gain or loss on derivatives under hedge accounting are presented as components of equity. Accordingly the amounts of equity as of February 
20, 2006 is not directly comparable to shareholders’ equity of following years, stated above.

4. Capital expenditures include payments for fixed leasehold deposits to lessors.

 ’06 ’07 ’08 ’09 ’10 ’10

Total revenues (¥ billion) 4,430 4,824 5,167 5,230 5,054 56.7

Operating income (¥ billion) 166 189 156 124 130 1.4

Net income (loss) (¥ billion) 28 57 43 (2.7) 31.1 0.3

At Year-end

Equity (¥ billion) 676 1,200 1,167 1,105 1,144 12.8

Capital expenditures (¥ billion) 224 270 296 367 321 3.6

Interest-bearing debt (¥ billion) 857 1,041 1,041 1,194 1,250 14.0

Per Share Data

Basic net income (loss) per share (¥) 39.6 77.3 55.7 (3.6) 40.6 0.45

Cash dividends per share (¥) 15 15 17 17 20 0.22

Major Indicators

Return on equity (ROE) (%) 4.4 7.3 4.9 (0.3) 3.7   

Return on assets (ROA) (%) 1.0 1.8 1.2 (0.1) 0.8   

 ($ billion)

 ($ billion)

 ($ billion)

 ($ billion)

 ($ billion) 

 ($ billion)

 ($)

 ($)

Years Ended February 20, 2006, 2007, 2008 
and February 28, 2009 and 2010

Financial Highlights

Total Revenues (¥ billion)
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To Our Shareholders

As a result of these efforts, although consolidated revenues for the Company and its 168 

consolidated subsidiaries decreased by 3.4% from the previous year to ¥5,054.3 billion 

(US$56,790.9 million), operating income increased by 4.7% to ¥130.1 billion 

(US$1,462.8 million). Net income was ¥31.1 billion (US$349.6 million), a marked 

improvement of ¥33.8 billion (US$380.7 million) following a net loss in the previous year.

  Cost restructuring has only just begun

The principal reason for the earnings increase was cost restructuring. We achieved a 

tremendous year-on-year reduction of ¥77.1 billion (US$867.2 million) in selling, gen-

eral and administrative (SG&A) expenses. 

 Aeon Retail Co., Ltd., the Group’s largest operating company and operator of the 

GMS business, led the way in cost reductions that were applied, in turn across the 

Group. In the second half of the fi scal year, with consumption still in the doldrums, the 

Group stepped up its cost reduction efforts. 

 The cost savings exceeded expectations, but cost restructuring was never intended 

to be a one-year program. We will carry restructuring forward so that we can continue 

to offer attractive prices and maintain our competitive advantages over the long term. 

A variety of initiatives implemented in our general 

merchandise stores (GMS), supermarket and other 

retail operations, and other businesses have borne 

fruit. Business results improved substantially from 

the fi rst half of the fi scal year into the second. 

Consequently, in an adverse business environment, 

we increased profi ts year on year and met our per-

formance forecasts. We also undertook restructur-

ing of the Group’s businesses and new business 

development in preparation for future growth.

Motoya Okada
President

Across-the-board cost 

restructuring raises 

profi ts and price 

competitiveness

>>  See Page 08
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   Taking advantage of Group strengths to 

further increase profi tability

Even as we continue to reduce costs in the new fi scal year, taking advantage of bright-

ening prospects for economic recovery, we will also seek to improve the top line and 

profi t margin by focusing on sales and profi ts and more fully using the Group’s business 

strengths. Topvalu is a leading private brand in Japan and one of Aeon’s key assets. 

Sales of Topvalu rose 20% year on year, even in a diffi cult year for retail. Believing that 

considerable room remains for further penetration, now that the Topvalu brand is fi rmly 

established in the food products category, we will actively promote it into the clothing 

and household categories and provide quality comparable to that of specialty stores at 

more attractive prices. At the same time, we will seek to take advantage of the higher 

margins available from private brand products to improve the gross profi t margin.

 Meanwhile, we continue to develop greater synergy through business consolida-

tion in the consumer fi nance, specialty clothing retail and service areas, for example, 

which will establish new revenue sources through collaboration, build product plat-

forms that can be utilized in more than one area of our operations, reinforce competi-

tiveness and open up new markets.

   Continuing the investment policy and maintaining 

fi nancial discipline

We have announced a policy to shift investment emphasis on three levels: 1) from 

domestic to overseas businesses, 2) from large stores to small and medium-size stores, 

and 3) from new store openings to reinforcement of competitiveness at existing stores. 

With regard to overseas businesses, through a stock transfer and debt repayment 

agreement with The Talbots, Inc. concluded in April 2010, we have exited North Ameri-

can business and shifted the focus of management resources from North America to 

China and the ASEAN region. 

 Increasing the effi ciency of capital expenditures and reducing the level of investment, 

coupled with an emphasis on growth-sector investment has generated free cash fl ow 

for the fi rst time in six years. Our future plans call for the building of a strong fi nancial 

base to support growth by continuing to focus investment on high-priority areas, maxi-

mizing cash fl ow and reducing liabilities.

Focusing on sales, 

profi ts and Group 

strengths to improve 

the profi t margin 

>>  See Page 09

Focusing investment 

on high-priority areas, 

maximizing cash 

fl ow and reducing 

liabilities

>>  See Page 11
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  New growth to come from China and the ASEAN region

More than 20 years have passed since we started retail operations in Hong Kong, 

Malaysia and Thailand. We are establishing a strong business base for retail operations 

in China and the ASEAN region, where we operate GMS and supermarkets. We have 

increased revenues on a local-currency basis by opening new stores and enhancing 

product lines at the low-price end. Aeon Credit Service Co., Ltd.’s subsidiaries in Hong 

Kong, Thailand and Malaysia have listed their shares on local exchanges, increased 

name recognition and penetration in their respective markets and expanded peripheral 

businesses in addition to the credit card business. Overseas operations  account for 

nearly 30% of Aeon Credit Service’s profi t.  

 Aeon’s long-term growth potential lies in China and the ASEAN region, and we 

will apply the collective strength of the Group to develop business in these markets. 

The Aeon Beijing International Mall Shopping Center, which opened in November 

2008, successfully transferred our proven mall operation expertise from Japan into 

China, which will experience rapid motorization in the coming years. We will compre-

hensively apply the Group’s wide-ranging strengths in retailing, mall operation, 

fi nancial services, business services and specialty store operation to develop our 

business in these key regions.

  Consolidating more gains in the year ahead

As Japan’s economy begins to recover, Aeon aims to increase sales and the gross profi t 

margin by implementing cost restructuring, reform in the GMS operations, Group 

restructuring and merchandise reform. At the same time, we will actively allocate man-

agement resources to future growth sectors, including operations in China and the 

ASEAN region and small and medium-size stores. 

 Aeon will continue the process of group-wide management reforms in parallel 

with a growth strategy designed to increase corporate value and meet shareholder 

expectations. We have set targets of a minimum annual dividend of ¥15 (US$0.1) 

per share and a consolidated dividend payout ratio of at least 15% and strive to 

provide returns to our shareholders. We look forward to the continuing support of 

our shareholders and investors.

Establishing a strong 

base in China and 

ASEAN for retail 

operations centered 

on GMS and 

supermarkets 

>>  See Page 12
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Current Value—Our Business at a Glance—

Revenues and Operating Income (¥ billion)
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GMS and other retail store operations
Share of revenues

Core Services

GMS: Anchors Aeon shopping centers. 
468 stores selling food, clothes and 
household items.

Supermarkets: Selling food at afford-
able prices. 732 stores in Japan and Asia. 

Discount stores: Offering high conven-
ience and low prices through low-cost 
operations.

Strategic small size stores: Serving 
everyday life. Convenience stores 
(Ministop), small supermarkets (My 
Basket) and food services (Origin Toshu).

Specialty store operations
Core Services

Specialty stores: Catering to various 
needs of customer lifestyles. Operate in 
malls and stand-alone shops.

Drugstores and pharmacies: Cooper-
ate with drugstore companies and 
dispensing pharmacies in Japan. Provide 
original health care products, services 
and new store formats for greater 
customer convenience. Nurture pharma-
cists to support community health.

Total revenues

¥5,054.3
billion

GMS and other retail store operations

70%

Specialty store operations

9%

SC development operations

3%

Service and other operations

18%
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Revenues and Operating Income (¥ billion)
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Shopping center (SC) development operations
Core Services

Develop and manage large-scale shopping 
malls across Japan, often with Aeon GMS 
as its anchor. Also offer property manage-
ment service. Started to develop malls in 
China, with its fi rst large mall opened in 
Beijing in 2008.

Service and other operations

Core Services

Financial service: Offering credit 
services in Japan and Asia.
Also offering Waon electronic money 
service.

Service: Offering various services, such as 
building maintenance, entertainment and 
business supply.
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Maximizing Value

Maximizing Value through 
a Balance of Offense 
and Defense
The worldwide recession since autumn 2008 has given rise in Japan to a form of 
thriftiness known as “stay-at-home consumption.” While facing adverse economic 
conditions in the year under review, Aeon increased earnings with a low-price 
policy aimed at maintaining customer traffi c, and cost restructuring to maintain 
profi t margins. With some signs of a recovery, in the year ahead we will vigorously 
implement updated strategies for growth in the medium and long term, while 
continuing to capture the benefi ts of cost restructuring.    

BASIC DEFENSE: 

Cost restructuring
In the year under review, successful cost reduction meas-
ures at Aeon Retail Co., Ltd. were implemented at other 
Group companies, with across-the-board results that low-
ered the Group’s overall SG&A expenses. Aeon Retail, the 
Group’s largest operating company and operator of the 
general merchandise store (GMS) business, spearheaded 
numerous cost reductions, conducting a comprehensive 
review of SG&A expenses, increasing operating effi ciency 
through stock keeping unit (SKU) reductions, personnel 
reassignment, installation of energy-effi cient equipment and 
rent reductions. We will continue to apply these measures 
throughout the Group to strengthen the bottom line, and, 
among other things, enable us to maintain capital expendi-
tures within operating cash fl ow.

Overview of Year Ended February 2010 

Financial recovery
• Cost structure reform
• Review of investments

Low-price policy
Joint sales campaign
Separation of Talbots

Cost structure reform (Second phase)
Merchandise reform
Reconstruction of business models 

Growth strategy based on 
new business models

Results

Countermeasures

Observable events

Operating income increase Strengthening of investment in growth areas Record high profi t

2008—2009 2010 2011 onward• Lehman Brothers Shock
• Synchronous global recession • Bottoming out of the economy >>> Trending toward recovery

Operating Income Analysis  (Cost Structure Reform)
(¥ billion)

Gross profi t decline  
Personnel cost savings   
Sales promotion savings    

Facility cost savings     
General expense savings  

2009 2010

124.3
130.1

Impact of ¥77.1 billion 
Group-wide cost reduction 

(consolidated basis)

Years ended February 28,
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OFFENSIVE STRATEGY 1: 

Merchandise reform
In a diffi cult year, sales of our private brand Topvalu, featuring low prices 
and high quality, showed a 20% year-on-year increase, on top of a 40% 
increase a year earlier. This raised the contribution of private brands to 
Aeon Retail’s sales by 2.5 percentage points to 13.3%. Sales of Best-
price by Topvalu products, aimed at bargain seekers, nearly doubled. Unit 
sales of Topvalu Heatfact functional innerwear exceeded 10 million piec-
es, raising customer traffi c and gross profi t. These efforts successfully 
increased sales and gross margins, and we will push for further gains by 
developing more functional products and expanding the brand further.

OFFENSIVE STRATEGY 2: 

Pursuing synergies 
that take full 
advantage of 
Aeon malls
The Group, operator of more than 
100 malls across Japan, conducted a 
discount sale campaign in December 
2009 involving 22,500 tenants and 
500 directly operated GMS. Tenant 
sales surged over 20% year on year. 
Such an ambitious initiative was 
possible only for a company that has 
both shopping center management 
operations and retail operations. We 
will continue to leverage our position 
as Japan’s largest retail network to 
pursue a recovery in sales through 
initiatives that take full advantage of 
the collective power of the Group and 
collaboration with tenants.  

Mer
In a diffi
and hig
increas
Aeon R
price by
sales of
es, rais
increas
develop

Sales of Topvalu (¥ billion)
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OFFENSIVE STRATEGY 3: 

Synergies from the fusion 
of retailing and fi nancial 
services
The number of Waon e-money cards issued since its introduc-
tion in April 2007 has reached 13.4 million, an increase of 5.7 
million from the previous year-end. Reward points and reduced 
check-out times are raising customer satisfaction, and the 
e-money cards play an important role in promoting shopping at 
Aeon malls.
 Use of Waon cards outside the Group is expanding. Waon 
cards are now accepted by Family Mart convenience stores, 
Yamato Transport and at McDonald’s and Yoshinoya restau-
rants. In the year ahead, we will continue to increase the con-
venience of Waon cards through their use within and beyond 
the Group and will also promote their use in marketing and 
sales promotion activities.

Total Number of Waon E-money Cards Issued 
(million cards)

15

9

12

6

3

0

10/208/2 09/2

Aeon Credit Service Co., Ltd. branches out

As a response to new regulations on personal lending and 
slowed borrowing in Japan, Aeon Credit Service, the Group’s 
core fi nancial services company, is developing new business by 
taking advantage of Group synergies. It began operation of 54 
branches of Aeon Bank, Ltd. in Aeon malls during the year under 
review and is developing not only loan services and payment 
settlement services, but also bank agency services, as a new 
source of income. As a result, the company has successfully 
stepped up recruitment of card members for Aeon Card Select, 
a combined credit card, Aeon Bank cash card and Waon e-money 
card. Aeon Credit Service is also holding joint promotional 
events for housing loans with 
homebuilders at Group shopping 
malls. The company will continue 
to accelerate the development of 
new income sources.

10 / Annual Report 2010
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OFFENSIVE STRATEGY 4: 

Medium-term to long-term business restructuring
To further advance the strategy of selection and focus, 
Aeon is implementing medium- and long-term business 
restructuring in four directions.
 The fi rst is to focus on growing businesses and re-
gions. The stock transfer and debt repayment agreement 
concluded with The Talbots, Inc. and its exclusion from 
consolidation from the next fi scal year resulted in the 
withdrawal from North American business operations 
and a new focus on overseas operations in China and 
the ASEAN region. 
 The second direction is to fully develop our growth 
potential. In our service operations, for example, the 
merger of Aeon Delight Co., Ltd. and Certo Corporation, 
planned for September 2010, aims to establish a com-

prehensive facility management services (FMS) company 
that provides outsourcing services for non-core opera-
tions of client companies.
 The third direction is to increase competitiveness, man-
agement effi ciency and speed through community-focused 
store operation. In the supermarket business, we trans-
ferred operations split off from Aeon Retail to local Maxvalu 
companies, including newly established companies.
 The fourth direction is to improve management effi -
ciency and develop a growth model. The merger of Cox 
Co., Ltd. and Blue Grass Co., Ltd., in August 2010, will 
help streamline clothing merchandise, improve profi tabil-
ity and establish an SPA business platform that can be 
utilized in the GMS and specialty store operations, alike.

   Year ended February 28, 2010

1.  Aeon Retail concentrates on GMS: 
Its supermarkets transferred to Maxvalu companies

2.  Withdrawal from North America: 
Overseas focus on China and ASEAN

3.  Strengthening Supermarket business: 
Aeon Retail’s supermarkets deepen Maxvalu’s 
regional coverage

   Year ending February 28, 2011

1.  Strengthening Drugstores and Pharmacies: 
Reinforcement of cooperation with CFS Corporation

2.  Strengthening Service business: 
Targeting facility management service 

3.  Strengthening Specialty Stores business: 
New merchandise reforms in clothing sector

Progress of Group Restructuring
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Future Value

Operations in China and 
the ASEAN Region
In contrast with Japan, with its mature and 
slow-growing retail market, Chinese and 
ASEAN region economies are growing 
rapidly, with emerging middle classes and 
rapidly growing retail markets. Since 
September 1984, when Aeon established 
Jaya Jusco Stores (currently Aeon Malaysia), 
Aeon’s overseas network has covered 
eight countries. In 2011 and beyond, we 
plan to leverage the connections and expe-
rience already developed overseas to nur-
ture and integrate the growth of retail, 
shopping center development, fi nancial 
services and service operations. 

A network spanning China and the ASEAN region
Aeon relies on the collective strength of the Group to 
engage in integrated business operations in China and 
ASEAN countries. In the year under review, we opened 
four general merchandise stores (GMS) in China and 
two in the ASEAN region, and one supermarket each, 
respectively. We operate nearly 1,500 Ministop conven-
ience stores in South Korea and the Philippines and 
opened the fi rst store in China in July 2009. A total of  

20 Group companies including shopping center devel-
oper Aeon Mall Co., Ltd. and trading company Aic Inc. 
operate overseas affi liate companies or representative 
offi ces in ASEAN countries. Future plans call for taking 
full advantage of our existing networks to provide serv-
ices tailored to local needs and reinforce the store net-
work in these countries as well as accelerating expan-
sion into new geographical areas.

North America/Asia Total Revenues and Operating Income 
(¥ billion)
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China

Thailand Vietnam
Cambodia

Malaysia

Philippines

Indonesia

South
Korea

Shopping center
GMS
Supermarket
Convenience store
Others
Financial service
Representative office

Taiwan

Hong Kong  8countries
Aeon’s expanding presence 

in Asia

The only Japanese retailer 

with full-scale fi nancial 

services in China and the 

ASEAN region
Aeon Credit Service Co., Ltd. launched its over-
seas operations with a branch offi ce in Hong Kong 
in October 1987. Since then, overseas business 
has steadily expanded, principally through subsidi-
aries in Hong Kong, Thailand, Malaysia and other 
countries. Today, these operations guide the 
Group’s policies in China and the ASEAN region. 
In the year under review, the company added 
insurance agency business and servicer business 
to diversify its revenue sources. The number of 
overseas card members exceeds 3.2 million. In the 
year ahead, we anticipate further growth built on 
the foundation of service enhancements and 
expansion into new regions in these countries. 

 30%

Overseas contribution to 

Aeon Credit Service 

operating income, 

nearly

Total Number of Aeon Credit Cardholders Overseas 
(ten thousand)

10/208/2 09/207/206/2
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Aeon operates 30 GMS and supermarkets 
in China, and in November 2008, we 
opened Beijing’s fi rst true mall and the 
city’s largest shopping center, the Aeon 
Beijing International Mall Shopping Center. 
Based on the one-stop destination con-
cept, customers can shop at numerous 
stores opened for the fi rst time in Beijing. A 
cinema complex and other premium serv-
ices identical to those in Japan have suc-
cessfully differentiated the shopping center 
from other overseas-operated stores, and 
sales are steadily increasing. We aim to 
build on the pilot success of this mall to 
implement an effective strategy for pen-
etrating the market in China.

20years

Providing steady employment for 

more than

Harmonious coexistence 

with local communities 

contributes to 

sustained growth.
The key to growth in China and the ASEAN region is 
localizing management for an advantageous synergy 
between local ideas and Aeon’s strengths. We aim 
for harmonious coexistence with local communities 
through GMS and supermarket operations closely 
aligned with local lifestyles and fi nancial services that 
are appropriate to local business customs. In ASEAN 
countries, we introduced new sales methods, such 
as person-to-person selling in Thailand. 
 Concern for ESG (environmental, social and 
governance issues) in all activities and business 
development, is a prerequisite of an excellent com-
pany. Aeon contracts production to sewing plants in 
Thailand and Vietnam because we believe it contrib-
utes to modernization by creating jobs and transfer-
ring technology, which promotes mutual, comprehen-
sive growth and development by improving the lives 
of people and ensures a stable supply of products in 
the countries where we do business.

Using the Aeon Beijing International Mall 

Shopping Center as a springboard for 

future business in China
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SustainingValues
As a corporate citizen, Aeon tries to 
maximize value in all of its activities, not 
only in the economic sphere, but all 
spheres, as it advocates for a sustain-
able future and a better standard of 
living for all. Aeon is showing the 
way toward stable corporate 
growth and robust relationships 
with stakeholders through its interac-
tions with society, its impact on the 
earth and its dealings with suppliers. 
These values are values we hope the 
whole world can share.

Note:  “Aeon” or “the Group” refers to the 
pure holding company Aeon Co., Ltd. 
and its 168 subsidiaries.

Annual Report 2010 / 15
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Building on the solid foundation of 

the Customer-First philosophy

Aeon’s fundamental principles are the pursuit of peace, respect for 

humanity and contribution to local communities, always with the 

customer’s point of view as its core. On the basis of this unchang-

ing philosophy, we strive to deliver customer satisfaction and 

continuously increase corporate value. In keeping with these 

principles and in accordance with the Aeon Code of Conduct, a set 

of behavior guidelines for all Group employees, we seek to build 

excellent relationships with our customers, shareholders, business partners, local communities, employees and 

other stakeholders—while rigorously complying with laws and regulations to remain a company that enjoys the 

trust and respect of society.  

 Aeon aims to grow at all times—in tune with the times and dedicated to providing customer satisfaction—by 

swiftly and appropriately adapting to ever-changing external conditions and customer needs through innovation.

Maximizing customer satisfaction through Group management reforms

To enhance our services to customers Aeon shifted to a pure holding company structure in August 2008, institut-

ing a management system to oversee our 12 businesses. Chief executive offi cers are appointed for each busi-

ness. They lead their teams in focused management aimed at prompt decisions in response to changing econom-

ic and social conditions. This management structure will enable us to effectively develop new growth models for 

the Group, streamline our business operations and further strengthen efforts to centralize and delegate. On the 

basis of this organizational structure, Aeon Co., Ltd. will work to enhance the corporate value of the Group as a 

whole by establishing group-level strategies, optimizing the allocation of management resources, promoting 

group-level synergies and instilling our basic principles. 

Further enhancing corporate governance

To ensure expeditious decision-making, transparency and objectivity in management, Aeon has chosen the “com-

pany with committees” system as its corporate governance structure. Under this system, we clearly divide the 

management supervisory and business execution functions between the Board of Directors and executive offi cers, 

respectively, and delegate substantial operating authority to the executive offi cers. In this way, we strive to increase 

shareholder value by realizing expeditious management decision-making while simultaneously reinforcing the super-

A Message from the Chairman

Focusing fi rst and foremost on customers, Aeon continuously 
innovates, so as to respond promptly and appropriately to changes 
in the external environment and customer needs.
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visory role of the directors to ensure management transparency and objectivity. The Board of Directors comprises 

nine directors, including a majority of fi ve outside directors. We maintain a high standard of governance transpar-

ency and objectivity by obtaining multifaceted and diverse guidance from the independent viewpoints that the 

outside directors contribute. 

Taking a leadership position in environmental protection and social contribution activities 

Aeon considers the fulfi llment of social responsibility to be our mission as a good corporate citizen and engages in a 

wide variety of environmental protection and social contribution initiatives. In accordance with the “Aeon Manifesto 

on the Prevention of Global Warming,” adopted in March 2008, we are implementing measures to reduce CO2 

emissions, through efforts in three specifi c areas: Stores, Products and distribution and Partnership with customers, 

while maintaining corporate growth. In addition, in March 2010 we instituted the “Aeon Biodiversity Principle” to 

encourage recognition of the importance of biodiversity and to further systematize and advance the environmental 

protection activities we have engaged in heretofore. We are implementing concrete measures integrated across the 

entire Group to protect biodiversity and promote sustainable resource use. 

 The Aeon Environmental Foundation established the Japan Awards for Biodiversity in cosponsorship with the 

Ministry of the Environment and held the fi rst awards ceremony in 2009.      

 In the year ended February 2010, the Aeon Environmental Foundation conducted tree-planting projects at 13 

locations in Japan and overseas, including areas along the Great Wall of China, as well as Laos, Cambodia, 

Okinawa and Miyakejima. By the end of the fi scal year, Aeon had planted a cumulative total of 9.23 million trees 

through these projects and the “Hometown Forests Program,” which we launched in 1991.

 Aeon and the Aeon 1% Club, of which I am chairman, have supported construction of schools in Asian coun-

tries in partnership with the Japan Committee for UNICEF. Together, we built 20 new schools in the year ended 

February 2010, bringing the total to 326 schools throughout Laos, Cambodia and Nepal since 2001.

 One of Aeon’s key priorities is to achieve an optimal balance between corporate value enhancement for 

medium- and long-term growth and distribution of profi ts to shareholders. On that basis, we have adopted a 

dividend policy designed to maximize returns on shareholder capital. We are committed to maintaining stable 

dividend payments and increasing profi ts in pursuit of higher profi t distributions, while, at the same time, enhanc-

ing overall corporate value by achieving medium- to long-term growth.

  Akihiko Harada
  Chairman of the Board

The 
Customer

Peace

CommunityPeople

Peace  Aeon is a corporate group whose operations are dedicated to the 
pursuit of peace through prosperity.

People  Aeon is a corporate group that respects human dignity and values 
personal relationships. 

Community  Aeon is a corporate group rooted in local community life and 
dedicated to making a continuing contribution to the community.

Aeon Basic Principles



18 / Annual Report 2010

Corporate Governance

Independent A
uditors

Executive Officers
President

and 15 other executives

Chairman of the Board: non-executive

Appointment/dismissal
for each committee

(Three double as directors)

Board of Directors

Aeon Management Committee

Appointment/
dismissal

Supervision*,
Appointment/

dismissal

Audit

Propose appointment/
dismissal of independent auditors

Propose appointment/
dismissal of directors

Appointment/
dismissal

Shareholders’ Meeting

Executive
Officers

Outside
Directors

Inside
Directors

President

Nominating Committee

Audit Committee

Compensation
decisions

Compensation Committee

A
ccounting audit

*The same person may serve as outside director
  no more than six times consecutively.

As of the May 13, 2010 resolution
 by the Board of Directors

Aeon aims to steadily increase corporate value over the long term by building excellent relationships 
with stakeholders. To achieve this, we are implementing a number of measures to enhance and rein-
force corporate governance.

Strengthening corporate governance
Since 2003, Aeon Co., Ltd. has operated under the “Company with Committees” sys-
tem of corporate governance and clearly divided supervisory and executive functions of 
management. The Company has kept this committee-based governance form in place 
since it transitioned to a pure holding company structure. Executive officers have been 
given wide-ranging authority to work toward the realization of our medium- and long-
term goals, which serves to facilitate timely business execution. At the same time, we 
have strengthened the supervisory role of the directors, who are responsible for assur-
ing the objectivity of management decisions, to maintain and improve transparency and 
fairness and thereby enhance corporate value and maximize returns to shareholders.
 The Board of Directors comprises nine directors, including a majority of five out-
side directors appointed to the board to contribute an independent viewpoint and 
expertise from various backgrounds. Aeon will further increase governance transpar-
ency and objectivity by seeking the multifaceted and diverse advice of the outside 
directors at periodic meetings of the Board of Directors and of the Audit Committee, 
the Nominating Committee and the Compensation Committee. 
 We are laying foundations for the long-term growth and success of Aeon by devel-
oping a truly open form of management as the basis for relationships of trust with cus-
tomers and shareholders. We seek to minimize the distance between Aeon and custom-
ers, using the strengths that a pure holding company structure brings in terms of agility 
and flexibility to cope with every conceivable change in the business environment.

Measures to develop internal control systems
Aeon is continuously developing internal control systems to ensure the effective func-
tioning of governance mechanisms and systems. The basis for this development is the 
reinforcement of systems relating to corporate ethics, and we are striving to foster and 
consolidate good business ethics among all Aeon employees in accordance with the 
Aeon Code of Conduct, adopted in 2003.
 Outlined below are resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors concerning mat-
ters essential to the performance of the duties of the Audit Committee, systems to 
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ensure that executive officers perform their duties in compliance with laws, regulations 
and the articles of incorporation, and other systems required to ensure the appropriate 
performance of the Company’s activities.

1. Audit system
•  The Internal Audit Department assists the Audit Committee in the performance of its 

duties. The approval of the Audit Committee is required for personnel changes affect-
ing the Internal Audit Department.

•  Regular reports must be submitted to the Audit Committee concerning the perform-
ance of internal audits and internal governance systems throughout the Group, as well 
as any information provided through internal reporting systems, available to all Aeon 
employees.

•  Members of the Internal Audit Department attend important meetings and interview 
executive officers and others on the performance of their duties. Their findings are 
reported to the Audit Committee.

2. Information storage and management system
Secretariat staff prepares and retains minutes of all meetings. Written records of deci-
sions must be retained and managed appropriately by those who propose them. 

3. Risk management system
•  Risk management organizations are established by risk management committees 

under the guidance of the Aeon Management Committee, which is the most senior 
organ of management. The administration of these systems is supervised by the 
Internal Audit Department. 

•  Aeon works as an organization to prevent the involvement of antisocial influences in 
any aspect of its activities, including business transactions, through the establish-
ment of internal regulations, and through close collaboration with criminal investiga-
tion authorities and other organizations. 

•  Group companies must be included in measures relating to compliance with the 
so-called “J-SOX Law” through the establishment of internal control systems relat-
ing to financial reporting. 

4. Efficient executive system
The responsibilities and authority for each position are defined in accordance with the 
professional responsibility and authority regulations to ensure the organized and efficient 
administration of business operations. To provide checks and balances, officers are 
required to consult with specific organizational units. 

5. Compliance system
The Company promotes the Aeon Code of Conduct and must ensure that all employees 
are aware of its provisions. Regular compliance training is provided, and compliance 
systems are based on the latest amendments to laws. 

6. Group company management systems
Management plans of Group companies are reviewed and discussed in various forums, 
including executive committees for specific business areas or functions. In addition, cor-
porate divisions of Aeon Co., Ltd., which is the Group parent company, provide opera-
tional guidance under the leadership of the senior executives responsible for each busi-
ness area and the executives responsible for shared functions. These procedures 
ensure that Group management is thoroughly integrated and that individual Group com-
panies retain their management autonomy and independence.

Principal duties

 1.  Supervision of the 
performance of duties of 
directors and executive 
officers 

 2.  Decisions on matters that 
require resolution by the 
Board of Directors under 
the provisions of Article 
416 of the Japanese 
Company Law that cannot 
be delegated to executive 
officers

 1.  Auditing of the 
performance of duties of 
directors and executive 
officers

 2.  Decisions pertaining to 
the content of motions to 
be put to shareholders’ 
meetings concerning the 
appointment, dismissal 
and non-reappointment of 
independent auditors

  Decisions concerning the 
content of motions to be put 
to shareholders’ meetings 
concerning the appointment 
and dismissal of directors

  Decisions concerning 
the content of personal 
remuneration received by 
directors and executive 
officers

Organization No.*

Board of 
Directors

Audit 
Committee

Nominating 
Committee

8

13

2

3Compensation 
Committee

Duties

Note: Number of meetings held during the fiscal year 
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The Aeon Code of Conduct Commitment

�   Aeon people are always grateful to the many other individuals 
who provide support and help, never forgetting to act with 
humility.

�   Aeon people value the trust of others more than anything else, 
always acting with integrity and sincerity in all situations.

�   Aeon people actively seek out ways to exceed customer 
expectations.

�   Aeon people continually challenge themselves to find new ways 
to accomplish the Aeon ideals.

�   Aeon people support local community growth, acting as good 
corporate citizens in serving society.

Relevant laws and regulations

Rules of action/manuals

Our commitments to
customers together with

partners and Aeon people

The Aeon Code of
Conduct Commitment

In establishing 
the Aeon Code of Conduct

Corporate Commitment

Basic Principles

T
he A

eon C
ode of C

onduct

M
orality

E
conom

ic
efficiency

Positioning of the Aeon Code of Conduct

Compliance 

We strive to fulfill our social responsibilities as a good corporate citizen through management that bal-
ances economic, environmental and social demands. Aeon rigorously complies with laws, social norms 
and internal regulations, and engages in fair and honest business activities. Group companies in Japan 
and overseas seek to thoroughly instill a spirit of compliance among employees.

The Aeon Code of Conduct
Aeon has established the Aeon Code of Conduct to embody our unchanging principles: 
pursuit of peace, respect for humanity and contribution to local communities, always 
with the customer’s point of view as its core. The code stipulates a set of behavior 
guidelines for putting this philosophy into practice. The code spells out for individual 
employees a basic philosophy and clearly defined judgment criteria for their day-to-day 
activities, from the perspectives of customers, communities, suppliers, shareholders and 
Aeon employees.
 Aeon’s corporate value encompasses and consists of a variety of values, including 
sustained, long-term corporate growth, cooperation and collaboration with partners, the 
provision of employment, the improvement of living standards and culture, protection 
of the environment and contribution to society. That is to say, we can foster an honest 
and innovative corporate culture and earn the trust of the public by ensuring all Group 
employees share in the same set of values; specifically, “At all times, putting the cus-
tomer first.” 
 Aeon conducts workplace training to instill the Aeon Code of Conduct in Group 
employees and ensure adherence to the code, and to date, 17,313 (Japan: 15,699, 
overseas: 1,614) Aeon Code of Conduct Leaders have been trained throughout the 
Group to provide leadership in matters of corporate ethics. In the year under review, 
Aeon also trained 184,149 general employees (Japan: 166,836, overseas: 17,313).    

The Aeon Supplier Code of Conduct
We believe that Aeon must be accountable to society not only for the quality and safety 
of the goods that it sells, but also for the processes used to manufacture those goods. 
We require all manufacturers contracted to produce our Topvalu range of private brand 
products to comply with the Aeon Supplier Code of Conduct. The most basic require-
ment under this code is compliance with local laws and regulations. In all, there are 13 
categories, including the provision of safe and healthy working environments in which 
human rights are respected and working conditions and wages are guaranteed. We 
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believe that ensuring compliance with this code is the key to the safe and secure pro-
duction of our private brand products.
 Aeon has hosted seminars explaining the Aeon Supplier Code of Conduct since its 
formulation in 2003, and 500 companies attended and submitted compliance declara-
tions in response to Aeon’s request for cooperation. We continuously conduct second-
party audits by Aeon auditors and third-party audits by independent audit organizations 
to rigorously monitor compliance with the Code of Conduct and implementation of 
remedial measures. 

SA8000 certification
SA8000 is the international standard relating to corporate ethics, human rights and 
labor. In 2004, Aeon became the first Japanese retailer to achieve certification under 
this standard. The certification covers management of Topvalu 
suppliers and the headquarters operations of Aeon Co., Ltd. and 
Aeon Retail Co., Ltd.
 The SA8000 standard is based on human rights treaties 
established by the International Labor Organization (ILO) and 
the United Nations. It stipulates compliance with nine require-
ments, including the protection of human rights and avoidance 
of discrimination in employment, as well as the establishment 
and continual improvement of management systems. SA8000 
certification was renewed following a triennial audit conducted in 
January 2008. We will fulfill our social responsibilities in business 
processes based on SA8000 and the Aeon Supplier Code of Conduct.

Requirements of the Aeon Supplier Code of Conduct

Suppliers are required to comply with statutory standards of social responsibility enacted 
in the countries where they run manufacturing and sourcing operations.

Observe laws and regulations—Comply with laws and regulations of relevant countries.

�   Child labor—Illegal child labor is prohibited.

�   Forced labor—Forced, prison or restricted labor is prohibited.

�   Occupational safety, hygiene and health—A safe and healthy workplace must be provided.

�   Freedom of association and the right of collective bargaining—Employees’ rights must be respected.

�   Discrimination—Employers must not discriminate against employees on the basis of 
religious belief or birth attributes, such as race.

�   Discipline—Employers must not impose harsh discipline on their employees.

�   Working hours—Laws and regulations on working hours must be observed.

	   Wages and benefit packages—Laws and regulations on wages and benefit packages must be observed.


   Management responsibility—Suppliers are asked to sign a declaration promising to observe the Aeon Supplier CoC.

�   The environment—Suppliers are asked to engage in prevention and control of environmental contamination and destruction.

�   Business dealings—Suppliers are asked to observe the laws and regulations governing business dealings.

   Certification, auditing and monitoring—Suppliers are asked to receive certification, auditing 
and monitoring under the Aeon Supplier CoC. 

�   Prohibition of gift giving—Gift giving between Aeon employees and our suppliers is prohibited.
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Risk management organization
Risks associated with Aeon’s business activities are becoming increasingly diverse 
and complex. We regard risk management as an important priority for the entire 
Group and are strengthening risk management to cope with business risks. To that 
end, we have stepped up initiatives to raise awareness of business risks among all 
employees. We are also expanding the scope of our risk response activities by identi-
fying risks, large and small, in each business unit, undertaking measures to prevent 
problems and putting in place a well-defined crisis management system to respond to 
any problems that may occur.      
 In the unlikely event an incident, accident, disaster or other contingency occurs, a 
response team is immediately formed to minimize the impact, and the incident is han-
dled under the leadership of the General Affairs Department. In addition, cross-organiza-
tional task forces are formed to predict and prevent risks, especially those with high-
impact potential, and to rapidly respond when problems occur.

Policy on large-scale acquisitions of Aeon shares
Aeon’s shareholders approved the “Amendments to the Plan for Responding to Large-
scale Acquisitions of Aeon Shares (Takeover Defense Measures)” at the 84th Ordinary 
General Meeting of Shareholders held on May 14, 2009, and the amended plan has 
now gone into effect. Major amendments are as follows.

1)  Under the previous plan, the details of policies were determined by Aeon’s Board of 
Directors, but they are now put before the General Meeting of Shareholders.

2)  Under the previous plan, the policies were to be reviewed as necessary, but a 
specific effective term had not been fixed. The effective term of the policies is 
now set at three years in order to ensure they are reviewed regularly with respect 
to circumstances.

Personal information protection policy
Aeon’s Customer-First philosophy is also reflected in the importance that we place on 
the protection of personal information. We contribute to everyday peace of mind and the 
sense of personal security by treating all information pertaining to individuals with the 
utmost care. Personal information is an important element of a person’s identity and val-
ues, and we give it the same respect we afford people themselves. We are committed 
to building solid relationships of trust with customers by properly and securely manag-
ing information received from them.
 In November 2005, Aeon Co., Ltd. was authorized by the Japan Information 
Processing Development Corporation (JIPDEC) to use the “Privacy Mark” in recognition 
of its status as a business corporation that has established appropriate systems for the 
handling of personal information.

Basic policy on exclusion of anti-social forces
To exclude anti-social forces, Aeon bans any relationships, including business transac-
tions, with anti-social forces. We clearly define the internal organization responsible for 
handling unreasonable demands, maintain close collaboration with external expert orga-
nizations and respond to unreasonable demands as an organization by means including 
civil and criminal legal action.

Risk Management

Aeon has built a unique risk management structure to cope with all conceivable risks associated with 
our business. In addition to taking measures to identify and avert risks, we are putting in place a crisis 
management framework to respond in the event a problem occurs.
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Doing More, Sharing More, but 
Impacting Less
Our customers have always been the focus and foundation of our activities, and encouraging 

their participation with us on environmental protection, international cultural exchange, human 

resource development and regional cultural and social development has long been a part of 

our commitment.

 Since the early nineties, Aeon has recognized that environmental problems are global in scope, 

and has assumed an active role in helping to solve those problems, initiating numerous projects to 

help build a sustainable society. In March 2008, mindful of our responsibility as a corporate citizen, 

we became the fi rst Japanese retailer to set a specifi c target for cutting total CO2 emissions. In the 

“Aeon Manifesto on the Prevention of Global Warming,” we pledged to cut total emissions to ap-

proximately 1.85 million tons by the year ending February 2013 (a level below our fi scal 2007 

emissions) and defi ned measures to achieve the target. In keeping with the Manifesto, we are 

reducing CO2 emissions through our business activities to achieve balance between corporate 

growth and environmental protection.

 In March 2010, the “Aeon Biodiversity Principle” joined the “Aeon Manifesto on the Preven-

tion of Global Warming” to sharpen our focus on business activities that promote biodiversity and 

the sustainable use of natural resources. Furthermore, in collaboration with concerned parties, we 

actively implement conservation activities that 

extend beyond our business reach.

 A fundamental aspect of Aeon’s core 

being is our commitment to contribute to the 

lives of people, as an extension of our Cus-

tomer-First philosophy. By bringing together 

individuals and communities around the world 

to join us to conserve nature, sponsor environ-

mental education, build schools and provide 

disaster relief, we are deepening our ties with 

people everywhere.

Environmental Protection

Social Contribution Activities

Global 
Perspective

“Aeon Biodiversity 
Principle”

Community
Perspective

“Aeon Manifesto on 
the Prevention of 
Global Warming”



  Saving energy and reducing CO2 through store operations

While we have been recycling at stores since 1991, the Eco Store concept applies 
the latest eco-friendly technologies and practices, including state-of-the-art solar 
panels and the greening of walls, to achieve CO2 emissions levels that are 20% or 
more below those of conventional stores. We operated 10 Eco Stores as of the end 
of February 2010.
 The Aeon Laketown Eco Store makes use of Eco Store technology and environ-
ment-friendly materials and construction to achieve a 24% CO2 emission reduction 
over similar size facilities. We have recently extended this low-carbon construction 
technology with a new project to use FSC certifi ed lumber to build 20 Ministop con-
venience stores per year, which can make a 33% reduction in life-cycle CO2 emissions 
over steel frame construction. The fi rst Ministop store to be built of wood (and with 
LED lighting for outdoor signage) was completed near Aeon Laketown shopping 
center in October 2009. It was the fi rst store in Japan to be FSC certifi ed.

  Reducing CO2 in products and distribution

Aeon is popularizing the carbon footprint labeling system that displays on product labels 
all CO2 emissions throughout a product’s lifecycle, from manufacturing to consumption 
and disposal. New initiatives include test sales of carbon footprint-labeled products, 
launching labeled products under the Topvalu brand and promoting labeled products as 
eco-friendly gifts in year-end gift catalogs. Furthermore, in January 2010, we began 
in-store sales of Topvalu Gurinai Specially Cultivated Koshihikari Rice, a product in-
spected under the Japanese government’s Carbon Footprint System test implementa-
tion project. This product has attracted a great deal of attention as the fi rst Carbon 
Footprint System-verifi ed product to be sold in retail stores in Japan. 
 We also reduced our environmental load by enhancing and expanding the Topvalu 
Kyokan Sengen brand of environmentally conscious products.

  Environmental initiatives in partnership with customers

Since 1991, we have encouraged our customers to bring their own shopping bags in 
the “My Basket” & “My Bag” campaigns, and with community support, 704 Group 
stores in 267 communities (as of February 28, 2010) now sell plastic bags, if requested, 
for ¥5 each to encourage conservation. Half of the proceeds go to the community and 
the other half are used to purchase CO2 emissions credits and then donated to the 
government, and in the year under review, it received ¥125.2 million (US$1.4 million).

Aeon was acting with customers to protect the global environment even before global warming and 
other environmental problems reached critical proportions. The “Aeon Manifesto on the Prevention of 
Global Warming” and our parallel and newly established “Aeon Biodiversity Principle” aim to fi ne-tune our 
group-wide efforts to balance the pursuit of prosperity and protection of the global environment.

Environmental Protection

Preventing Global Warming and Helping to Preserve the Beautiful 
Complexity of Natural Environments
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  Promoting the importance of biodiversity to a sustainable society

The “Aeon Biodiversity Principle” aims to ascertain the impact of Aeon’s business 
activities as a whole on ecosystems and actively engage in impact mitigation and 
preservation activities with customers, government bodies, NGOs and other stake-
holders. In line with that basic principle, we are implementing wide-reaching biodiver-
sity preservation initiatives through our business activities.    
 In preparation for the tenth meeting of the Conference of the Parties (COP10) in 
Nagoya, October 2010, the Aeon Environmental Foundation and the Ministry of the 
Environment established the Japan Awards for Biodiversity with the aim of promoting 
biodiversity preservation and the sustainable use of biological resources. At the fi rst 
awards ceremony, held in October 2009, eight activities were recognized for their 
outstanding performance. 

  Over 9 million trees planted worldwide to date

We want our malls to enrich local communities with greenery. Through the “Hometown 
Forests Program,” since 1991, we have worked with customers to plant indigenous 
trees on the grounds of new retail facilities. Also, since its establishment in 1991, the 
Aeon Environmental Foundation has engaged in wide-ranging environmental protection 
activities and assistance to environmental NGOs. These activities include tree-planting 
programs in Japan and around the world in cooperation with national and local govern-
ments. In the year under review, we planted trees at 13 locations, including Laos, 
Cambodia, Okinawa, Miyakejima and part of a fi ve-year project to restore forests along 
the Great Wall of China. Since 1998, we have planted over 1 million trees near the 
Great Wall, and as of February 28, 2010, the total number of trees planted by both the 
“Hometown Forests Program” and the Aeon Environmental Foundation had reached 
approximately 9.23 million worldwide.

  Selling products certifi ed by the FSC and MSC

Aeon promotes products certifi ed by the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) and Marine 
Stewardship Council (MSC). The FSC certifi es that products we sell have been made 
from trees grown in appropriately managed sustainable forests. MSC certifi cation, also 
called the Marine Eco-Label, is conferred on the products of fi shing operations that 
demonstrate consideration of resources and environmental sustainability. Aeon actively 
promotes MSC-certifi ed fi sh and shellfi sh.

“Aeon Happy Clean Campaign”
As a part of the “Aeon Biodiversity 
Principle,” we implement conservation 
activities together with customers. 
One such event is the “Aeon Happy 
Clean Campaign,” through which 
employees of Group companies will 
work together with neighboring 
communities between May 22, 2010, 
International Day for Biodiversity, and 
October to clean up and preserve the 
biodiversity of lakesides and riverbanks.
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 Offsetting Carbon in Production and Distribution 

In the year under review, Aeon launched carbon offset campaigns to contribute to the Japanese government’s 
CO2 reduction goal. The “Carbon Offset Product Campaign” purchases offset credits using a portion of the sales 
proceeds and, along with business partners, donates the credits to the government. Products in gift catalogs, 

such as midyear and year-end catalogs, come with a 0.4 kg carbon offset per product 
to defray CO2 emissions during shipping, which are then donated. The long-running 
“My Basket Campaign,” which encourages customers to purchase and bring a shop-
ping basket to replace disposable shopping bags introduced a new approach: My 

Baskets with carbon offset credits to cover the cost of producing and distributing 
the baskets. In total, offset credits for 8,338 t-CO2, purchased from a biomass 
electric generation project in India, have been donated to apply toward Japan’s 

emission quota.



Activities from a global perspective

   Supporting school construction where educational facilities 
are lacking

The Aeon 1% Club has supported school construction in Asia since 2001 in partner-
ship with the Japan Committee for UNICEF. It began supporting school construction in 
Laos in 2006 and reached its goal of opening 100 schools in the country one year ago. 
Since then, 20 more schools have been built, bringing the total constructed in Asia to 
326, including 149 in Cambodia and 57 in Nepal.

  Concern for the global environment transcends national boundaries

The Aeon 1% Club supports youth environmental and cultural education, promotes 
people-to-people exchanges and supports human resource development. Since 1990, 
our “Teenage Ambassador Program,” an international exchange project in which high 
school students from Japan and other countries exchange opinions on topics connected 
with environmental protection, has brought 488 high school students from 13 countries 
to Japan. Since 2006, we have promoted mutual exchanges by sending Japanese high 
school students overseas. 
 The “Cheers Club,” launched in 2005 to promote the sound upbringing of children, 
also engages in activities to foster interest in the environment. Since 2003, the “Cheers 
Club” has conducted the Eco Tour in Germany, this year sending a total of 55 elemen-
tary school and junior high school students to Germany for experiential learning about 
ecology in an environmentally progressive country. 

  Supporting disaster recovery around the world

The Aeon 1% Club provides disaster relief around the world. In the year under review, 
Aeon supported activities to aid recovery from torrential rains in Yamaguchi, Fukuoka and 
Hyogo Prefectures in Japan as well as recovery efforts in Taiwan, Sumatra, Haiti and 
Vietnam, through direct disaster relief programs and through recovery funds. 
 Furthermore, the Aeon 1% Club, with the 7,700 stores and offi ces of 70 Group com-
panies nationwide, also participated in fundraising to eliminate landmines and cluster 
bombs, matching donations of ¥57.4 million (US$644.9 thousand) from customers to 
donate ¥114.9 million (US$1.2 million) to the Association for Aid and Relief, Japan. The 
program will teach landmine avoidance, remove landmines and unexploded bombs and 
support victims.

For 20 years, since it began donating 1% of pretax profi t to local community initiatives through the Aeon 
1% Club, Aeon has promoted social contribution as an integral part of Group activities. Aeon actively 
promotes education about environmental responsibility, sponsors cultural exchanges and supports the 
needs of youth in developing countries to help build strong communities around the world.

Social contribution activities
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Activities from a community perspective

  Disaster-prevention agreements

To contribute to the safety and security of local communities and assist area residents in 
the event of a disaster, Aeon builds stronger relationships with local authorities all over 
Japan by signing disaster-prevention agreements. We pledge Group stores and offi ces 
to provide relief supplies and evacuation facilities in the event of disaster. As of February 
28, 2010, we have signed a total of 1,099 agreements with 608 local authorities. At 
malls throughout Japan, Aeon is stockpiling large-scale “balloon shelter’’ infl atable 
emergency evacuation tents for disaster victims. To date, 28 malls have been equipped 
with the shelters. 

  Teaching the importance of food and diet

The term “dietary education” refers to the knowledge necessary for nurturing the mind 
and body through food. Aeon engages in various dietary education activities to promote 
sound dietary habits. One such activity is our focus on conveying the importance of 
food to children. Through programs such as dietary education experiential workshops, 
on-site courses and hands-on rice cultivation, we are expanding the scope of dietary 
education to convey information about Japan’s food culture and foster interest in and 
gratitude for food through enjoyable experiences.

  “Aeon Happy Yellow Receipt Campaign”

Since 2001, to support local volunteer organizations, Aeon has conducted the “Aeon 
Happy Yellow Receipt Campaign” in partnership with our customers to support volun-
teer organizations. Aeon donates to local, customer-designated volunteer organizations 
goods worth 1% of the total value of special yellow receipts issued to customers on the 
11th of each month. 
 In the year under review, 1,344 stores from 21 Group companies participated, donat-
ing ¥267.8 million (US$3.0 million) worth of products to 28,926 volunteer groups.

  Solar power equipment for junior high schools nationwide

In September 2009, the Aeon Environmental Foundation launched a program to donate 
solar power generation equipment to junior high schools across Japan with initial dona-
tions to fi ve schools. Our aim is to deepen understanding of renewable energy and pro-
mote its use by installing solar power equipment at junior high schools. The solar power 
systems, also used at Eco Stores, are expected to generate approximately 10,000 kilo-
watts of power, approximately one-tenth the annual use at each school. Monitors display 
the amount of electricity being generated to foster understanding of the mechanism and 
increase environmental awareness.
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Financial Review

Years Ended February 20, 2006, 2007, 2008
and February 28, 2009 and 2010

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 

U.S. Dollars 1

’06 ’07 ’08 ’09 ’10 ’10
OPERATING RESULTS
REVENUES

Net sales  ¥ 4,040,600  ¥ 4,345,308  ¥ 4,650,088  ¥ 4,706,069  ¥ 4,542,599  $ 51,040,439 
Rental and other revenues   389,684   479,466   517,277   524,717   511,795   5,750,512 

Total revenues   4,430,285   4,824,775   5,167,366   5,230,786   5,054,394   56,790,951 
COST OF SALES   2,895,595   3,086,681   3,313,381   3,374,213   3,269,190   36,732,481 

Gross profit   1,534,690   1,738,093   1,853,985   1,856,572   1,785,203   20,058,470 
SELLING, GENERAL AND 
  ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

  1,368,584   1,548,365   1,697,944   1,732,199   1,655,010   18,595,619 

Operating income   166,105   189,728   156,040   124,373   130,193   1,462,850 

OTHER EXPENSES—NET   65,861   35,962   31,465   51,761   23,952   269,134 
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 
  AND MINORITY INTERESTS

  100,244   153,765   124,575   72,611   106,240   1,193,716 

INCOME TAXES   43,568   61,778   56,611   63,472   53,032   595,869 
MINORITY INTERESTS IN NET INCOME   27,743   34,331   24,031   11,898   22,085   248,149 
NET INCOME (LOSS)  ¥ 28,932  ¥ 57,656  ¥ 43,932  ¥ (2,760)  ¥ 31,123  $ 349,697 

CASH FLOWS
Net cash provided by operating activities  ¥ 137,054  ¥ 141,644  ¥ 200,050  ¥ 234,082  ¥ 361,096  $ 4,057,267 
Purchases of property, buildings and equipment   199,182   244,892   270,505   349,786   307,390   3,453,827 

FINANCIAL POSITION
Total assets  ¥ 2,928,682  ¥ 3,534,346  ¥ 3,591,406  ¥ 3,741,447  ¥ 3,785,288  $ 42,531,326 
Long-term liabilities   958,492   1,101,427   1,090,169   1,107,646   1,252,802   14,076,437 
Equity 2   676,151   1,200,783   1,167,477   1,105,712   1,144,434   12,858,816 

Yen U.S. Dollars 1

’06 ’07 ’08 ’09 ’10 ’10
PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK DATA

Basic net income (loss)  ¥ 39.61  ¥ 77.31  ¥ 55.75  ¥ (3.61)  ¥ 40.68  $ 0.45 
Diluted net income 3   39.56   77.30   55.75   39.21   0.44 
Cash dividends applicable to the year 4   15.00   15.00   17.00   17.00   20.00   0.22 

Notes: 1.  For convenience only, U.S. dollar amounts were translated at the rate of ¥89=$1, the rate of exchange at February 28, 2010. Such translations should not be construed as representations 
that the Japanese yen amounts could be converted into U.S. dollars.

 2.  According to a new accounting standard for presentation of equity, which is effective for fiscal years ending on or after May 1, 2006, stock acquisition rights, minority interests and any 
deferred gain or loss on derivatives under hedge accounting are presented as components of equity. Accordingly the amount of equity as of February 20, 2006 is not directly comparable to 
shareholders’ equity of following years, stated above.

 3. Diluted net income per share of FY’09 is not disclosed because of net loss position.
 4. Cash dividend per share of FY’10 includes commemorative dividend of ¥3.00.
 5.  The fiscal period ended February 28, 2009 of the consolidated financial statements was 12 months and eight days due to the change of the fiscal closing date from February 20 to the end 

of February.

Performance overview
During the fiscal year ended February 28, 2010 (fiscal 2010), 
Aeon Co., Ltd. and its consolidated subsidiaries (Aeon) 
endeavored to reform the business structure and cost structure 
of the entire Group. The goals of both reforms are to achieve 
levels of profitability to fuel further growth, to develop new 
businesses and to exploit synergies among the Group.
 Under the effects of prolonged worldwide recession, 
consolidated revenues for the year under review totaled 
¥5,054.3 billion (US$56,790.9 million), 3.4% down from the 
previous fiscal year, reflecting precarious corporate earnings, 
lower employment and weak personal consumption. However, 
with significant contributions, mainly from progress in cost 

structure reform that improved the profitability in the general 
merchandise store (GMS) operations and also from a rebound 
in performance by The Talbots, Inc. (Talbots) in the U.S., 
consolidated operating income improved by 4.7% over the 
previous fiscal year to ¥130.1 billion (US$1,462.8 million). The 
effects of foreign exchange fluctuations during the year 
depressed consolidated revenues and consolidated operating 
income by ¥58.3 billion (US$655.8 million) and ¥2.4 billion 
(US$28.0 million), respectively.

Review by industry segment
GMS and other retail store operations
Revenues of the GMS and other retail store operations for the 
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billion (US$195.5 million), reducing the operating loss to ¥0.6 
billion (US$7.2 million).
 Talbots reported higher earnings on lower revenues, the 
result of an improved gross profit margin and drastic cuts in 
expenses. On April 7, 2010, all the conditions for the share 
transfer of and debt collection from Talbots were fulfilled. 
Pursuant to agreed conditions, Aeon Co., Ltd. and Aeon (U.S.A.), 
Inc. received the repayment of all loans to Talbots, including 
interest thereto, and transferred to Talbots all shares held in 
Aeon (U.S.A.), Inc. Accordingly, Talbots was excluded from the 
scope of Aeon consolidation as of the beginning of the fiscal 
year ending February 2011.
 In Japan, specialty stores, especially sellers of apparel, 
faced business challenges stemming from reduced personal 
consumption. The aggregate results of the domestic specialty 
stores increased revenues, but lowered operating income.

SC development operations
Revenues of shopping center (SC) development operations 
climbed by 4.7% year on year to ¥165.5 billion (US$1,860.3 
million), but operating income decreased by 3.8% to ¥38.0 
billion (US$427.4 million). Within this segment, Aeon Mall Co., 
Ltd. opened two large-scale shopping malls during the year 
under review, and renovated six existing malls. It also 
successfully maintained strong sales momentum in China, 
resulted in an increase in its consolidated revenue. However, 
mainly due to increased renovation costs, it recorded lower 
operating income.

Service and other operations
Although revenues of service and other operations rose by 
14.0% to ¥1,070.7 billion (US$12,030.5 million), operating 
income dropped by 8.7% to ¥43.7 billion (US$492.0 million), 
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fiscal year under review dropped by 3.1% from the previous 
fiscal year to ¥4,086.4 billion (US$45,915.4 million).
 Revenue from the domestic GMS business1, which accounts 
for the largest portion of consolidated revenues, decreased by 
5.1% from the previous fiscal year to ¥3,039.2 billion 
(US$34,149.4 million), partly as a result of the strategic 
promotion of low prices. However, through various initiatives for 
profitability improvement, it achieved a 69.9% year-on-year 
increase in its operating income to ¥20.8 billion (US$234.0 
million). Aeon Retail Co., Ltd.2, the core company in the GMS 
business, recorded 1.2% year-on-year growth in the number of 
comparable store customer visits, although its comparable store 
sales fell by 5.3%.
 However, due to increased store opening expenses in the 
supermarket (SM) business and the China business, the 
downward effect of stagnant domestic consumption on the 
Strategic Small Size Store business and effects of foreign 
exchange fluctuations on the China and ASEAN business, 
operating income of the entire segment fell by 20.1% from the 
previous fiscal year to ¥44.1 billion (US$496.4 million).

Notes: 1.  Following the transition to a pure holding company structure, as well as 
redefinition of businesses by Aeon Retail Co., Ltd., figures and 
comparative percentages of the domestic GMS business for fiscal 
2009 are calculated based on respective results adjusted to conform 
to the new business structure in fiscal 2010.

 2.  The comparable figures for Aeon Retail Co., Ltd. are provided only for 
reference and calculated by comparison with the totals of actual 
results of (a) the first half of the previous fiscal year of non-
consolidated Aeon Co., Ltd., and (b) the second half of the previous 
fiscal year of Aeon Retail Co., Ltd.

Specialty store operations
Although revenues from specialty store operations decreased 
8.9% from the previous fiscal year to ¥543.7 billion 
(US$6,109.2 million), operating income improved by ¥17.4 
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compared to the previous fiscal year. Both revenues and net 
income fell below the levels of the previous fiscal year at Aeon 
Credit Service Co., Ltd., which anchors Aeon’s financial service 
business. The positive effects of a net increase in active credit 
card memberships and an expansion in the number of affiliates 
for the electronic money Waon were outweighed by such factors 
as previously committed investments in new businesses, 
tightened standards for allowance for doubtful accounts, and a 
loss recorded for provision for loss on refund of interest received.

Cost of sales and selling, general and 
administrative expenses
The consolidated cost of sales in the fiscal year under review 
dropped in line with the decline in consolidated revenues, by 
3.1% year on year to ¥3,269.1 billion (US$36,732.4 million). 
The ratio of cost of sales to revenues edged up to 64.7%, from 
64.5% in the previous fiscal year.
 SG&A expenses, on the other hand, fell by 4.5% from 
the previous fiscal year to ¥1,655.0 billion (US$18,595.6 
mil l ion), reflecting successful cost reduction efforts, 
especially within the domestic GMS business. Accordingly, 
the ratio of SG&A expenses to revenues dropped by 0.4 
percentage points to 32.7%.
 As a result of the above, consolidated operating income for 
the year rose by 4.7% compared to the previous fiscal year, to 
¥130.1 billion (US$1,462.8 million). Reflecting higher earnings 
on lower revenues, the ratio of operating income to revenues 
saw a 0.2 percentage point improvement to 2.6%.

Consolidated net income
Aeon recovered from its loss in the previous fiscal year to 
record consolidated net income of ¥31.1 billion (US$349.6 
million) for the year under review. Despite certain negative 

impacts on the bottom line, such as a decrease in net gain on 
sales of securities and provision for loss on refund of interest 
received, various profit factors improved the annual performance 
by ¥33.8 billion (US$380.7 million) from the previous fiscal 
year’s ¥2.7 billion consolidated net loss. Such profit factors 
included higher consolidated operating income, gain on reversal 
of liability for retirement benefits from the revision of retirement 
benefit plans and deferred income taxes posted in accordance 
with the transfer of shares of Talbots. Accordingly, the ratio of 
net income to revenues also improved by 0.7 percentage points 
to 0.6%.

Consolidated financial position
Total assets at year-end rose by 1.2% compared to the 
previous fiscal year-end, to ¥3,785.2 billion (US$42,531.3 
million). Contributing factors included a ¥55.1 billion (US$620.1 
million) increase in cash and cash equivalents, and a ¥32.3 
billion (US$363.4 million) rise in investment securities. The 
main negative factors, on the other hand, were a ¥60.2 billion 
(US$676.4 million) decrease in financial loan receivables, and a 
¥16.5 billion (US$186.3 million) decrease in fixed leasehold 
deposits to lessors.
 Consolidated l iabil it ies stood at ¥2,640.8 bil l ion 
(US$29,672.5 million), a slight increase of 0.2% on the 
previous fiscal year-end. Total interest-bearing debt rose by 
¥56.1 bil l ion (US$630.5 mill ion) to ¥1,250.7 bil l ion 
(US$14,053.2 million), mostly as a result of a net increase in 
long-term debt, including ¥100.0 billion (US$1,123.5 million) 
issuance of convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights, 
against a decrease in short-term borrowings consisting of bank 
loans and commercial paper. Other notable fluctuations 
included a ¥138.5 billion (US$1,557.2 million) decrease in 
construction payables and a ¥54.4 billion (US$611.6 million) 
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increase in notes and accounts payable—trade, mainly due to 
the year-end falling on a banking holiday.
 Consolidated equity amounted to ¥1,144.4 bill ion 
(US$12,858.8 million), up by 3.5% on the previous fiscal year-
end. While net income of ¥31.1 billion (US$349.6 million) was 
posted and minority interests increased by ¥19.1 billion 
(US$214.9 million) to raise the equity balance. There were also 
negative factors such as ¥13.0 billion (US$146.1 million) cash 
dividends paid.

Consolidated cash flows and capital expenditures
Consolidated cash flows
Net cash provided by operating activities during the fiscal year 
under review rose by 54.3% year on year to ¥361.0 billion 
(US$4,057.2 million). This increase was led by a ¥33.6 billion 
(US$377.8 million) increase in income before income taxes 
and minority interests. Also contributing were increases in 
notes and accounts payable—trade and other assets and 
liabilities by ¥23.3 billion (US$262.1 million) and ¥20.4 billion 
(US$229.3 million), respectively, affected by the fiscal year-end 
falling on a banking holiday.
 Net cash used in investing activities slightly decreased by 
0.4% to ¥324.5 billion (US$3,646.8 million). Major cash 
outflows consisted of a ¥19.8 billion (US$222.5 million) 
decrease in proceeds from sales of investment securities and a 
¥18.5 billion (US$208.2 million) decrease in proceeds from 
lease deposits from lessees, while major cash inflows included 
a ¥42.3 billion (US$476.3 million) decrease in purchases of 
property, buildings and equipment.
 Net cash provided by financing activities saw a significant 
decline of 93.2% compared to the previous fiscal year, to ¥11.1 
billion (US$125.6 million). The cash inflow of ¥100.0 billion 
(US$1,123.5 million) provided by issuance of convertible bonds 

was offset by the net decrease of ¥168.4 billion (US$1,892.3 
million) in short-term borrowings, reversing the previous year’s 
net increase of ¥162.2 billion.
 As a result of the above cash flow, the balance of cash and 
cash equivalents as of the fiscal year-end amounted to ¥280.5 
billion (US$3,151.9 million), a ¥55.8 billion (US$628.0 million) 
or 24.9% increase compared to the previous fiscal year-end.

Capital expenditures
Capital expenditures during the year under review (on a 
payment basis, including payments for fixed leasehold 
deposits to lessors) resulted in ¥321.2 billion (US$3,609.1 
million), down by ¥45.9 billion (US$516.1 million) from the 
previous fiscal year. Reflecting the capital expenditure plan to 
curb new GMS openings, the capital expenditures of GMS 
and other retail store operations decreased by ¥31.8 billion 
(US$358.0 million).
 A total of 87 new stores were opened during fiscal 2010, 
excluding the My Basket stores. Among them were nine GMS 
and 58 supermarkets. On the other hand, a total of 51 stores, 
including 11 GMS and 32 supermarkets, were closed. During 
the fiscal year ending February 2011, 59 stores, including 11 
GMS and 39 supermarkets, are planned to open.

Consolidated financial ratios
Return on assets for fiscal 2010 was 0.8%, improving by 0.9 
percentage points from -0.1% of the previous fiscal year when 
consolidated net loss was posted. The return on equity* also 
improved by 4.0 percentage points to 3.7%. The equity ratio* 
edged up by 0.3 percentage points to 22.2%.

Note:  The equity used in calculation of return on equity and equity ratio does not 
include stock acquisition rights and minority interests.
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Aeon Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
February 28, 2009 and 2010

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 

U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

’09 ’10 ’10

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 8 and 14.a) ¥    227,162 ¥    282,358 $    3,172,570 

Time deposits 13,285 12,068 135,603 
Marketable securities (Note 4) 3,215 3,372 37,890 
Receivables:

Notes and accounts—trade 68,756 22,997 258,398 
Installment (Notes 3 and 8) 245,378 300,782 3,379,578 
Financial loans (Notes 3 and 8) 483,527 423,324 4,756,454 
Other 83,329 93,448 1,049,980 

Inventories (Notes 5 and 8) 342,904 333,624 3,748,587
Deferred tax assets (Note 13) 33,087 41,367 464,803 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (Note 7) 65,650 73,870 830,006
Allowance for doubtful accounts (52,361) (54,129) (608,197)

Total current assets 1,513,935 1,533,085 17,225,677 

PROPERTY, BUILDINGS AND EQUIPMENT (Notes 6 and 8):

Land 330,662 347,211 3,901,258 
Buildings and structures 937,491 934,161 10,496,202
Furniture and fixtures 131,088 119,140 1,338,655
Vehicles 3,504 3,394 38,137
Lease assets (Note 2.q) 3,140 35,283
Construction in progress 20,017 25,599 287,639

Total property, buildings and equipment 1,422,764 1,432,648 16,097,176 

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS:

Investment securities (Notes 4 and 8) 58,344 90,693 1,019,033 
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated subsidiary and associated companies 136,051 155,466 1,746,818 
Goodwill—net (Note 6) 72,425 69,479 780,670
Intangible assets (Notes 2.q and 6) 54,370 50,336 565,580
Fixed leasehold deposits to lessors (Notes 7 and 8) 338,393 321,807 3,615,820 
Deferred tax assets (Note 13) 70,543 61,519 691,233 
Other (Note 6) 92,594 86,856 975,913 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (17,976) (16,607) (186,597)

Total investments and other assets 804,747 819,554 9,208,472 

TOTAL ¥  3,741,447 ¥  3,785,288 $  42,531,326 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 

U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

’09 ’10 ’10

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Short-term borrowings (Note 8) ¥    262,253 ¥      96,180 $   1,080,675 

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 8) 157,368 210,721 2,367,662 

Current portion of lease obligations (Notes 2.q and 8) 571 6,416

Payables:

Notes and accounts—trade 583,033 637,470 7,162,588 

Construction 171,170 32,575 366,019 

Other 83,174 77,799 874,156 

Income taxes payable 34,564 33,233 373,415 

Accrued expenses 80,153 79,030 887,988 

Provision for store closing expenses 4,302 3,770 42,364 

Provision for point program 7,194 7,981 89,676 

Other current liabilities (Notes 8 and 15.a) 144,873 208,714 2,345,110 

Total current liabilities 1,528,089 1,388,050 15,596,072 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:

Long-term debt (Note 8) 776,490 939,393 10,554,984 

Lease obligations (Notes 2.q and 8) 3,869 43,473

Lease deposits from lessees (Note 8) 231,250 220,266 2,474,908 

Liability for retirement benefits (Note 9) 31,608 14,475 162,651 

Provision for store closing expenses 8,490 8,244 92,633 

Provision for loss on refund of interest received 11,936 22,840 256,637

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 13) 8,714 13,140 147,646 

Other (Note 15.a) 39,156 30,571 343,501

Total long-term liabilities 1,107,646 1,252,802 14,076,437 

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Note 17)

EQUITY (Note 10):

Common stock—authorized, 2,400,000,000 shares; 

Issued: 800,446,214 shares in 2009 and 2010 199,054 199,054 2,236,567 

Capital surplus 264,967 264,963 2,977,118 

Stock acquisition rights 787 920 10,339 

Retained earnings 434,991 449,950 5,055,627 

Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities (4,591) (718) (8,077)

Deferred loss on derivatives under hedge accounting (1,577) (1,863) (20,935)

Foreign currency translation adjustments (10,248) (9,340) (104,951)

Treasury stock—at cost, 35,320,620 shares 
  in 2009 and 35,319,696 shares in 2010

(61,517) (61,512) (691,147)

Total 821,865 841,454 9,454,541

Minority interests 283,846 302,980 3,404,274 

Total equity 1,105,712 1,144,434 12,858,816 

TOTAL ¥  3,741,447 ¥  3,785,288 $  42,531,326 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Aeon Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 

U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

’08 ’09 ’10 ’10

REVENUES:
Net sales ¥  4,650,088 ¥  4,706,069 ¥  4,542,599 $  51,040,439

Rental and other revenues (Note 15.b) 517,277 524,717 511,795 5,750,512
Total revenues 5,167,366 5,230,786 5,054,394 56,790,951

COST OF SALES 3,313,381 3,374,213 3,269,190 36,732,481
Gross profit 1,853,985 1,856,572 1,785,203 20,058,470

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 1,697,944 1,732,199 1,655,010 18,595,619
Operating income 156,040 124,373 130,193 1,462,850

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES):

Interest and dividend income 5,461 4,612 3,901 43,835
Interest expense (12,774) (11,751) (12,366) (138,943)
Loss on impairment of long-lived assets (Notes 6, 15.a and 20) (46,339) (55,584) (26,723) (300,260)
Amortization of negative goodwill (Note 2.d) 11,226 11,406 11,571 130,021
Net gain (loss) on sales of securities 8,648 20,421 (47) (531)

Loss on valuation of investment securities 
  and investment in associated company

(13,699) (717) (108) (1,221)

Equity in losses of associated companies (548) (8,047) (10,257) (115,252)
(Provision of) reversal of allowance for doubtful accounts—net 3,436 (7,585) (1,760) (19,784)
Reversal of liability for retirement benefits (Note 9) 18,048 202,797
Provision for loss on refund of interest received (Note 2.o) (14,000) (157,303)
Other—net (Note 12) 13,123 (4,515) 7,788 87,509

Other expenses—net (31,465) (51,761) (23,952) (269,134)
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND MINORITY INTERESTS 124,575 72,611 106,240 1,193,716

INCOME TAXES (Note 13):

Current 63,249 60,754 49,106 551,755
Deferred (6,638) 2,718 3,926 44,114

Total income taxes 56,611 63,472 53,032 595,869
MINORITY INTERESTS IN NET INCOME 24,031 11,898 22,085 248,149
NET INCOME (LOSS) ¥      43,932 ¥       (2,760) ¥      31,123 $      349,697

Yen U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

’08 ’09 ’10 ’10

PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK (Note 18):
Basic net income (loss) ¥  55.75 ¥  (3.61) ¥  40.68 $  0.45

Diluted net income 55.75 39.21 0.44
Cash dividends applicable to the year 17.00 17.00 20.00 0.22

Diluted net income per share of FY’09 is not disclosed because of net loss position.
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Aeon Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
Years Ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010

Thousands Millions of  Yen

Outstanding
Number of 
Shares of
Common 

Stock

Common
Stock

Capital
Surplus

Stock
Acquisition

Rights

Retained
Earnings

Unrealized 
Gain (Loss) on 
Available-for-
sale Securities

Deferred Loss 
on Derivatives 
under Hedge 
Accounting

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Adjustments

Treasury
Stock Total Minority

Interests
Total

Equity

BALANCE, FEBRUARY 20, 2007 799,574 ¥198,791 ¥264,704 ¥305 ¥419,438 ¥23,547 ¥(135) ¥7,139 ¥(848) ¥912,943 ¥287,840 ¥1,200,783

Net income 43,932 43,932 43,932

Cash dividends, ¥15 per share (11,994) (11,994) (11,994)

Issuance of common stock 238 263 263 526 526

Purchase of treasury stock (Note 10) (34,697) (60,687) (60,687) (60,687)

Disposal of treasury stock 17 20 21 21

Increase resulting from application of 
  U.S. GAAP by U.S. subsidiaries

2,022 2,022 2,022

Issuance of stock acquisition rights 138 138 138

Exercise of stock acquisition rights (16) (16) (16)

Net change in the year (8,570) (781) (7,360) (16,711) 9,462 (7,248)

BALANCE, FEBRUARY 20, 2008 765,133 199,054 264,968 427 453,399 14,977 (916) (220) (61,515) 870,174 297,302 1,167,477

Net loss (2,760) (2,760) (2,760)

Cash dividends, ¥17 per share (13,008) (13,008) (13,008)

Purchase of treasury stock (14) (14) (14) (14)

Disposal of treasury stock 6 11 10 10

Decrease resulting from application of 
  U.S. GAAP by U.S. subsidiaries

(2,639) (2,639) (2,639)

Issuance of stock acquisition rights 372 372 372

Exercise of stock acquisition rights (12) (12) (12)

Net change in the year (19,568) (660) (10,027) (30,257) (13,455) (43,712)

BALANCE, FEBRUARY 28, 2009 765,125 199,054 264,967 787 434,991 (4,591) (1,577) (10,248) (61,517) 821,865 283,846 1,105,712

Effect of application of 
  ASBJ Practical Task Force No. 18 (Note 2.b)

(5,225) (5,225) (5,225)

Net income 31,123 31,123 31,123 

Cash dividends, ¥17 per share (13,008) (13,008) (13,008)

Purchase of treasury stock (3) (4) (4) (4)

Disposal of treasury stock 5 (3) 9 5 5 

Increase resulting from application of 
  U.S. GAAP by U.S. subsidiaries

2,070 2,070 2,070 

Issuance of stock acquisition rights 187 187 187 

Exercise of stock acquisition rights (54) (54) (54)

Net change in the year 3,872 (286) 908 4,494 19,133 23,627 

BALANCE, FEBRUARY 28, 2010 765,126 ¥199,054 ¥264,963 ¥920 ¥449,950 ¥(718) ¥(1,863) ¥(9,340) ¥(61,512) ¥841,454 ¥302,980 ¥1,144,434 

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Common
Stock

Capital
Surplus

Stock
Acquisition

Rights

Retained
Earnings

Unrealized 
Gain (Loss) on 
Available-for-
sale Securities

Deferred Loss 
on Derivatives 
under Hedge 
Accounting

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Adjustments

Treasury
Stock Total Minority

Interests
Total

Equity

BALANCE, FEBRUARY 28, 2009 $2,236,567 $2,977,159 $  8,845 $4,887,545 $(51,586) $(17,721) $(115,154) $(691,211) $9,234,445 $3,189,291 $12,423,736 

Effect of application of 
  ASBJ Practical Task Force No. 18 (Note 2.b)

(58,709) (58,709) (58,709)

Net income 349,697 349,697 349,697 

Cash dividends, $0.1 per share (146,161) (146,161) (146,161)

Purchase of treasury stock (46) (46) (46)

Disposal of treasury stock (41) (10) 110 58 58 

Increase resulting from application of 
  U.S. GAAP by U.S. subsidiaries

23,265 23,265 23,265 

Issuance of stock acquisition rights 2,110 2,110 2,110 

Exercise of stock acquisition rights (616) (616) (616)

Net change in the year 43,508 (3,214) 10,203 50,497 214,983 265,481 

BALANCE, FEBRUARY 28, 2010 $2,236,567 $2,977,118 $10,339 $5,055,627 $  (8,077) $(20,935) $(104,951) $(691,147) $9,454,541 $3,404,274 $12,858,816 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



38 / Annual Report 2010

Aeon Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 

U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

’08 ’09 ’10 ’10

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Income before income taxes and minority interests ¥  124,575 ¥    72,611 ¥  106,240 $  1,193,716
Adjustments for:

Income taxes—paid (79,766) (68,260) (50,761) (570,358)
Depreciation and amortization 134,457 140,313 141,905 1,594,448
Amortization of negative goodwill (11,226) (11,406) (11,571) (130,021)
Amortization of goodwill 8,346 8,192 7,563 84,986
Foreign exchange (gain) loss—net 622 946 (1,058) (11,892)
Equity in losses of associated companies 548 8,047 10,257 115,252
Gain on sales of property, buildings and equipment (4,979) (1,747) (2,273) (25,549)
Loss on disposals and sales of property, buildings and equipment 5,830 4,911 3,263 36,663
Loss on impairment of long-lived assets 46,339 55,584 26,723 300,260
Loss on valuation of investment securities and investment in associated company 13,699 717 108 1,214
Net loss (gain) on sales of securities (8,648) (20,421) 47 531
Gain on redemption of investment securities (2,705)
Gain on change in interests in consolidated subsidiaries (4,805) (860) (283) (3,189)
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable—trade (5,103) 221 50,479 567,189
(Increase) decrease in installment receivable (39,037) 5,163 (69,619) (782,236)
Decrease (increase) in financial loan receivable (44,311) (18,385) 22,277 250,310
Decrease (increase) in inventories (17,314) (5,207) 12,378 139,087
Increase in notes and accounts payable—trade 42,583 25,062 48,396 543,783
Increase in allowance for doubtful accounts 40,257 37,481 32,358 363,581
(Decrease) increase in liability for retirement benefits 3,048 (20,082) (14,866) (167,037)
(Decrease) increase in provision for store closing expenses 1,123 (4,673) (776) (8,722)
Increase in provision for loss on refund of interest received 1,551 3,395 10,904 122,525
Other assets and liabilities (9,203) 22,531 42,939 482,468

Other—net 1,461 2,654 (3,537) (39,743)
Total adjustments 75,474 161,471 254,856 2,863,551
Net cash provided by operating activities 200,050 234,082 361,096 4,057,267

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of marketable securities (6,685) (6,523) (4,825) (54,216)
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 4,893 10,351 4,945 55,569
Purchases of property, buildings and equipment (270,505) (349,786) (307,390) (3,453,827)
Proceeds from sales of property, buildings and equipment 50,759 7,021 6,784 76,229
Purchases of investment securities (97,930) (33,590) (47,645) (535,348)
Proceeds from sales of investment securities 11,028 31,301 11,497 129,180
Proceeds from redemption of investment securities 2,705
Redemption of preferred securities and government bonds 8,000 
Proceeds from transfer of business 5,964 67,014
Cash paid in conjunction with the purchases of
  consolidated subsidiaries (Note 14.b) (9,517) (963) (12) (144)

Cash received in conjunction with the purchases of
  consolidated subsidiaries (Note 14.b) 8,068 47 1,183 13,300

Payments for fixed leasehold deposits to lessors (25,716) (17,358) (13,820) (155,290)
Collection of fixed leasehold deposits to lessors 28,502 20,520 24,989 280,778
Proceeds from lease deposits from lessees 25,184 32,021 13,486 151,530
Repayments of lease deposits from lessees (17,066) (20,870) (22,980) (258,203)
Other—net (298) (635) 3,251 36,530

Net cash used in investing activities (291,283) (325,758) (324,573) (3,646,895)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Net (decrease) increase in short-term borrowings (2,464) 162,288 (168,416) (1,892,318)
Proceeds from long-term debt 143,477 233,158 293,897 3,302,217
Repayments of long-term debt (193,359) (200,516) (188,401) (2,116,874)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights 100,000 1,123,595
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 526 
Proceeds from issuance of subsidiaries’ stock to minority shareholders 2,398 1,099
Repurchase of subsidiaries’ stock from minority shareholders (1,427) (373) (10) (119)
Dividends paid to shareholders (11,994) (13,008) (13,008) (146,161)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders (9,539) (10,519) (9,080) (102,025)
Other—net (68,883) (7,128) (3,800) (42,699)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (141,266) 165,000 11,179 125,613
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENTS ON 
  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 9,898 (8,443) 1,847 20,762

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (222,601) 64,881 49,550 556,748
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 382,851 159,744 224,625 2,523,886
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS INCREASED (DECREASED)
  RESULTING FROM CHANGES OF SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION (504) 6,344 71,289

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR (Note 14.a) ¥  159,744 ¥  224,625 ¥  280,521 $  3,151,925

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Aeon Co., Ltd. and consolidated subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the provisions set forth in the Japanese Financial 
Instruments and Exchange Act and its related accounting regulations, and in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan 
(“Japanese GAAP”), which are different in certain respects as to application 
and disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards 
and accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America (“U.S. GAAP”).
 Japanese yen figures less than a million yen are rounded down to the 
nearest million yen, except for per share data.
 In preparing these consolidated financial statements, certain 
reclassifications and rearrangements have been made to the consolidated 
financial statements issued domestically in order to present them in a form 
which is more familiar to readers outside Japan. In addition, certain 
reclassifications have been made in the 2008 and 2009 consolidated 
financial statements to conform to the classifications used in 2010.
 The consolidated financial statements are stated in Japanese yen, the 
currency of the country in which Aeon Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is 
incorporated and operates. The translation of Japanese yen amounts into 
U.S. dollar amounts is included solely for the convenience of readers outside 
Japan and has been made at the rate of ¥89 to $1, the approximate rate of 
exchange at February 28, 2010. Such translation should not be construed 
as representation that the Japanese yen amounts could be converted into 
U.S. dollars at that or any other rate.
 U.S. dollar figures less than a thousand dollars are rounded down to the 
nearest thousand dollars, except for per share data.

2. Summary of significant 
accounting policies

a. Change in fiscal closing date and group structure—At the regular general 
shareholders’ meeting held on May 15, 2008, it was resolved to change the 
fiscal closing date of the Company from February 20 to the end of February. 
Accordingly, the fiscal period ended February 28, 2009 of the consolidated 
financial statements was 12 months and eight days.
 It was also resolved that the Company divested its retail and other 
operating divisions, transferring them to wholly owned subsidiary Aeon 
Retail Co., Ltd., and became a pure holding company as of August 21, 2008. 

b. Unification of accounting policies applied to foreign subsidiaries for the 
consolidated financial statements—In May 2006, the Accounting Standards 
Board of Japan (the “ASBJ”) issued ASBJ Practical Issues Task Force 
(PITF) No. 18, “Practical Solution on Unification of Accounting Policies 
Applied to Foreign Subsidiaries for the Consolidated Financial Statements”. 
PITF No. 18 prescribes: (1) the accounting policies and procedures applied 
to a parent company and its subsidiaries for similar transactions and events 
under similar circumstances should in principle be unified for the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements, (2) financial statements prepared 
by foreign subsidiaries in accordance with either International Financial 
Reporting Standards or U.S. GAAP tentatively may be used for the 
consolidation process, (3) however, the following items should be adjusted 
in the consolidation process so that net income is accounted for in 
accordance with Japanese GAAP unless they are not material: 1) 

amortization of goodwill; 2) scheduled amortization of actuarial gain or loss 
of pensions that has been directly recorded in the equity; 3) expensing 
capitalized development costs of R&D; 4) cancellation of the fair value 
model accounting for property, plant, and equipment and investment 
properties and incorporation of the cost model accounting; 5) recording the 
prior years’ effects of changes in accounting policies in the income 
statement where retrospective adjustments to financial statements have 
been incorporated; and 6) exclusion of minority interests from net income, if 
contained. PITF No. 18 was effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 
April 1, 2008.
 The Company applied this accounting standard and made certain 
adjustments such as amortization of foreign subsidiaries’ goodwill that had 
not been amortized. The effect of these adjustments was to decrease the 
beginning balance of retained earnings by ¥5,225 million ($58,709 
thousand) at March 1, 2009.
 The effect of this change was not considered material to net income for 
the year ended February 28, 2010.
 The effect on segment information is presented in Note 20 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

c. Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements as of February 28, 
2010 include the accounts of the Company and its 168 significant (140 in 
2008 and 154 in 2009) subsidiaries (together, the “Group”).
 Under the control or influence concept, those companies in which the 
Company, directly or indirectly, is able to exercise control over operations are 
fully consolidated, and those companies over which the Group has the ability 
to exercise significant influence are accounted for by the equity method.
 Investments in 27 (28 in 2008 and 27 in 2009) associated companies 
are accounted for by the equity method.
 Investments in one unconsolidated subsidiary and one associated 
company in 2008, 2009 and 2010 are stated at cost. If the equity method of 
accounting had been applied to the investments in these companies, the effect 
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements would not be material.
 One special purpose entity is excluded from the scope of consolidation 
pursuant to Article 8 paragraph 7 of the Financial Statements regulations 
for terminology, Forms and Preparation of Financial Statements and was 
subject to the disclosure requirements in accordance with the ASBJ 
Implementation Guidance No. 15, “Implementation Guidance on Disclosures 
about Certain Special Purpose Entities”, which was effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after April 1, 2007 (see Note 21).
 The differences between the cost of an acquisition and the fair value of 
the net assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition are 
recorded as goodwill and are amortized within 20 years (estimated effective 
period) for the Company and domestic consolidated subsidiaries.
 Goodwill recorded upon the acquisition of Origin Toshu Co., Ltd. (“Origin 
Toshu”) of ¥41,903 million and Diamond City Co., Ltd. (“Diamond City”) 
(current Aeon Mall) of ¥55,625 million is amortized over a period of 20 
years. Negative goodwill recorded upon the acquisition of Mycal Corporation 
of ¥95,763 million is amortized over a period of nine years.
 Goodwill and negative goodwill are allowed to be presented as netted 
in the balance sheet. The gross amount of goodwill as of February 28, 2009 
and 2010 are ¥113,529 million and ¥100,053 million ($1,124,199 
thousand), respectively, and the gross amount of negative goodwill as of 
February 28, 2009 and 2010 are ¥41,103 million and ¥30,574 million 
($343,528 thousand), respectively.
 All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated in consolidation. All material unrealized profit included in assets 
resulting from transactions within the Group is eliminated.

1. Basis of presenting consolidated 
financial statements
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d. Business combination
In October 2003, the Business Accounting Council (the “BAC”) issued a 
Statement of Opinion, “Accounting for Business Combinations,” and on 
December 27, 2005, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Guidance No. 10, “Guidance 
for Accounting Standard for Business Combinations and Business 
Divestitures.” These new accounting pronouncements were effective for 
fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2006.
 This standard requires that amortization expense of goodwill is to be 
presented in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” and amortization 
of negative goodwill is to be presented in “Other income,” although the net 
of amortization of goodwill and negative goodwill was presented in “Other 
income” in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended 
February 20, 2007.
 The effect of adoption of this accounting standard was to decrease 
operating income by ¥8,346 million and had no impact on income before 
income taxes and minority interests for the year ended February 20, 2008. 
The effect on segment information is presented in Note 20 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

e. Cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets—Cash equivalents 
on the consolidated balance sheets are short-term investments that are 
readily convertible into cash and that are exposed to insignificant risk of 
changes in value.
 Cash equivalents include time deposits, certificate of deposits, 
commercial paper and bond funds, all of which mature or become due within 
three months of the date of acquisition.

f. Inventories—Prior to March 1, 2009, substantially all merchandise 
inventories of consolidated subsidiaries were stated at cost determined by 
the retail method and other inventories of certain consolidated subsidiaries 
were stated at cost determined by the moving-average method. In July 
2006, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Statement No. 9, “Accounting Standard for 
Measurement of Inventories”. This standard requires that inventories held for 
sale in the ordinary course of business be measured at the lower of cost or 
net selling value, which is defined as the selling price less additional 
estimated manufacturing costs and estimated direct selling expenses. The 
replacement cost may be used in place of the net selling value, if appropriate. 
The standard also requires that inventories held for trading purposes be 
measured at the market price. The standard was effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after April 1, 2008.
 Domestic consolidated subsidiaries applied this new accounting 
standard for measurement of inventories effective for the year ended 
February 28, 2010. Substantially all inventories of consolidated subsidiaries 
are stated at the lower of cost determined by the retail method or net selling 
value. Other inventories of certain consolidated subsidiaries are stated at the 
lower of cost determined by the moving-average method or net selling value.
 The effect of this adoption was not considered material to net income 
for the year ended February 28, 2010. The effect on segment information is 
presented in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

g. Marketable and investment securities—Marketable and investment 
securities are classified and accounted for, depending on management’s 
intent, as follows: (1) held-to-maturity debt securities, which are expected to 
be held to maturity with the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are 
reported at amortized cost, and (2) available-for-sale securities are reported 
at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of applicable taxes, 
reported in a separate component of equity.
 Non-marketable available-for-sale securities are stated at cost 

determined by the moving-average method. For other than temporary 
declines in fair value, investment securities are reduced to net realizable 
value by a charge to income.

h. Allowance for doubtful accounts—The allowance for doubtful accounts is 
stated in amounts considered to be appropriate based on the past credit 
loss experience and an evaluation of potential losses in receivables and 
other assets such as fixed leasehold deposits to lessors.
 A consolidated financial services subsidiary revised its credit control 
management methodology and implemented the new credit control system, 
considering the recent change of the business environment including the 
revision of the Money Lending Business Control and Regulation Law, which 
stipulates the lower ceiling rates. At the beginning of the fiscal year 2009, 
the consolidated financial services subsidiary changed its estimate method 
for the allowance for possible credit losses based on the revised credit 
control management methodology and the detailed data from its new 
system. The effect of this change was to record provision of allowance for 
doubtful accounts of ¥6,564 million at the beginning of the fiscal year 2009 
and this provision is included in “provision of allowance for doubtful 
accounts” in “other expenses” in the consolidated statements of operations.

i. Property, buildings and equipment (excluding lease assets)—Property, 
buildings and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of property, 
buildings and equipment is computed under the straight-line method based 
on the estimated useful lives of the assets. The range of useful lives is 
principally from 20 to 39 years for store buildings, from 38 to 50 years for 
office buildings, from 3 to 20 years for structures, from 2 to 20 years for 
furniture and fixtures, and from 4 to 6 years for vehicles. Accumulated 
depreciation of property, buildings and equipment at February 28, 2009 and 
2010 were ¥906,159 million and ¥988,489 million ($11,106,622 
thousand), respectively.

j. Intangible assets (excluding lease assets)—Intangible assets are carried 
at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization of intangible assets of 
the Group is calculated by the straight-line method except for intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives held by U.S. subsidiaries. Software is 
amortized mainly over five years. Intangible assets with indefinite lives 
held by U.S. subsidiaries are not amortized and are evaluated for 
impairment at least annually in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Trademarks 
held by U.S. subsidiaries at the fiscal year 2010 amounted to ¥6,911 
million ($77,005 thousand).

k. Long-lived assets—The Company and domestic consolidated subsidiaries 
review their long-lived assets, including goodwill, for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstance indicate the carrying amount of an asset 
or asset group may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be 
recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or asset group exceeds the 
sum of the undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the 
continued use and eventual disposition of the asset or asset group. The 
impairment loss would be measured as the amount by which the carrying 
amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of 
the discounted cash flows from the continued use and eventual disposition 
of the asset or the net selling price at disposition. Foreign consolidated 
subsidiaries adopt similar impairment accounting standards.

l. Bond issuance costs—Bond issuance costs are charged to income 
as incurred.
 The Company issued convertible bonds (Series 6 three-year bonds and 
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Series 7 four-year bonds) with a payment date of November 25, 2009. The 
underwriter offered at an offering price of ¥102.5 per ¥100 face value and 
paid to the Company ¥100 per ¥100 face value. The underwriting 
conditions stipulated that the total difference between the offering price and 
amount paid by the underwriter would be claimed by the underwriter and the 
Company would not pay an underwriting commission. The ¥2,500 million 
effectively corresponding to the underwriting commission for the issuance 
of the convertible bonds was therefore not included in bond issue costs 
(recorded in the “Other” account in other expenses) for the year ended 
February 28, 2010.

m. Provision for store closing expenses—The provision for store closing 
expenses, such as rental agreement cancellation penalties and facility 
restoration costs, is recognized at the time when a decision to close a store 
is made by management and such expenses are reasonably estimated.

n. Retirement and pension plans—The Company and certain domestic 
consolidated subsidiaries have a defined benefit pension plan, advance 
payment plan and defined contribution pension plan covering substantially 
all employees.
 U.S. subsidiaries have a non-contributory funded defined benefit 
pension plan and defined contribution pension plan covering substantially 
all employees.
 Liability for employees’ retirement benefits are accounted for based on 
the projected benefit obligations and plan assets at the balance sheet date.
 Retirement allowances for directors and corporate auditors are provided 
by certain domestic subsidiaries and included in liability for retirement 
benefits to state the liability at the amount that would be required if all 
directors and corporate auditors retired at each balance sheet date.

o. Provision for loss on refund of interest received—The provision for loss on 
refund of interest received (the amount of interest that exceeds the ceiling 
rate imposed by the Interest Rate Restriction Law) is provided by the 
consolidated financial services subsidiary and is stated in amounts considered 
to be appropriate based on the subsidiary’s past refund experiences.
 The subsidiary has fundamentally changed it’s estimate of the provision 
for the year ended February 28, 2010. This change was due to the current 
increase in refunds after the Supreme Court’s judgment in January 2009 
regarding extinctive prescription for the refund claim, and potential increase 
in refund claims corresponding full application of the revised Money-Lending 
Business Law, which limits the total amount of individual debtor’s debt. The 
effect of this change from the previous estimated amount was to record the 
provision for loss on refund of interest received of ¥14,000 million 
($157,303 thousand) in other expenses in the consolidated statements of 
operations for the year ended February 28, 2010.

p. Provision for point program—The provision for the point program is stated 
in amounts considered to be appropriate based on the companies’ past 
redemption experience.

q. Leases—Finance lease assets that deem to transfer ownership of the 
leased property to the lessee are depreciated using the same method for 
property, buildings and equipment. Finance lease assets that do not deem to 
transfer ownership of the leased property to the lessee are depreciated using 
the straight-line method over the period of the lease, with zero residual value.
 Previously, the Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries 
treated finance lease assets that do not transfer ownership as operating 
leases. Effective from the current fiscal year, the Company and its domestic 

consolidated subsidiaries have applied “Accounting Standard for Lease 
Transactions” (ASBJ, Statement No. 13, March 30, 2007; revised from 
standard originally issued by the first Subcommittee of the BAC on June 17, 
1993) and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions” 
(ASBJ, Guidance No. 16, March 30, 2007; revised from the standard 
originally issued by JICPA on January 18, 1994). 
 The revised accounting standard requires that all finance lease 
transactions should be capitalized to recognize lease assets and lease 
obligations in the balance sheet. In addition, the accounting standard permits 
leases which existed at the transition date and do not transfer ownership of 
the leased property to the lessee to be accounted for as operating lease 
transactions if certain “as if capitalized” information is disclosed in the notes 
to the financial statements. The Group accounted for leases which existed 
at the transition date and do not transfer ownership of the leased property 
to the lessee as operating lease transactions. The effect of this change was 
not considered material to net income for the year ended February 28, 
2010. The effect on segment information is presented in Note 20 to the 
consolidated financial statements.
 All other leases are accounted for as operating leases.

r. Income taxes—The provision for income taxes is computed based on the 
pretax income included in the consolidated statements of operations. The 
asset and liability approach is used to recognize deferred tax assets and 
liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. 
Deferred taxes are measured by applying currently enacted tax laws to the 
temporary differences. A valuation allowance is provided for any portion of 
the deferred tax assets that is not considered to be realizable.
 On March 29, 2007, “Practical Guidelines on Accounting Standards for 
Tax Effect Accounting in Consolidated Financial Statements” (the 
Accounting Practice Committee Report No. 6, issued by JICPA) was revised 
and the revised paragraph 30-2 became effective for this fiscal year. 
According to this revised paragraph 30-2, the Company wrote down the 
deferred tax assets related to the elimination of unrealized gains on 
intercompany stock transfer transactions of subsidiaries and associated 
companies stocks at the beginning of the fiscal year 2009. The effect of the 
adoption of the revised paragraph 30-2 was to increase income taxes—
deferred of ¥15,640 million and to increase net loss by ¥15,101 million for 
the year ended February 28, 2009.

s. Advertising costs—Advertising costs which are expensed as incurred and 
included in selling, general and administrative expenses were ¥115,820 million, 
¥115,390 million and ¥103,066 million ($1,158,053 thousand) for the years 
ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010, respectively.

t. Foreign currency transactions—All short-term and long-term monetary 
receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
into Japanese yen at the exchange rates at each consolidated balance 
sheet date. The foreign exchange gains and losses from translation are 
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations to the extent that 
they are not hedged by forward exchange contracts.

u. Foreign currency financial statements—The balance sheet accounts of 
the foreign consolidated subsidiaries are translated into Japanese yen at the 
current exchange rate as of each balance sheet date except for equity, 
which is translated at the historical rate. Differences arising from such 
translation were shown as “Foreign currency translation adjustments” in a 
separate component of equity.
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 Revenue and expense accounts of foreign consolidated subsidiaries 
are translated into yen at the average exchange rate.

v. Derivatives and hedging activities—The Group uses derivative financial 
instruments to manage its exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency 
exchange and interest rates. Derivative financial instruments are comprised 
principally of foreign exchange forward contracts, currency swaps and 
interest rate swaps utilized by the Group to reduce foreign currency 
exchange and interest rate risks. The Group does not enter into derivatives 
for trading or speculative purposes.
 Derivative financial instruments and foreign currency transactions are 
classified and accounted for as follows: (a) all derivatives are recognized as 
either assets or liabilities and measured at fair value, and gain or loss on 
derivative transactions are recognized in the statements of operations and 
(b) for derivatives used for hedging purposes, if derivatives qualify for hedge 
accounting because of high correlation and effectiveness between the 
hedging instruments and the hedged items, gain or loss on derivatives are 
deferred until maturity of the hedged transactions.
 Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the contracted rates if the forward contracts qualify for hedge 
accounting. Gain and loss related to qualifying hedges of firm commitments 
or anticipated transactions are deferred and recognized in income or loss 
when the hedged transaction occurs.
 Long-term debt denominated in foreign currencies for which currency 
swaps are used to hedge the foreign currency fluctuations are translated at 
the contracted rate if the forward contracts qualify for hedge accounting.
 Interest rate swaps are utilized to hedge interest rate exposures of long-
term debt. In principle, these swaps which qualify for hedge accounting are 
measured at market value at the balance sheet date and the unrealized gain or 
loss, net of applicable taxes are deferred until maturity as “Deferred Gain (Loss) 
on Derivatives under Hedge Accounting” in a separate component of equity.
 Interest rate swaps which qualify for hedge accounting and meet 
specific matching criteria are exceptionally not remeasured at market value 
but the differential paid or received under the swap agreements are 
recognized and included in interest expense or income.

w. Per share information—Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by 
dividing net income (loss) available to common shareholders by the 
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period, 
retroactively adjusted for stock splits. Diluted net income per share reflects 
the potential dilution that could occur if securities were exercised or 
converted into common stock. Diluted net income per share of common 
stock assumes full conversion of the outstanding convertible bonds at the 
beginning of the year (or at the time of issuance) with an applicable 
adjustment for related interest expense, net of tax and full exercise of 
outstanding stock acquisition rights.
 Cash dividends per share presented in the accompanying consolidated 
statements of operations are dividends applicable to the respective years 
including dividends to be paid after the end of the year, retroactively 
adjusted for stock splits.

x. New accounting pronouncements
Asset retirement obligations
On March 31, 2008, the ASBJ published a new accounting standard for 
asset retirement obligations, ASBJ Statement No. 18 “Accounting Standard 
for Asset Retirement Obligations” and ASBJ Guidance No. 21 “Guidance on 
Accounting Standard for Asset Retirement Obligations”. Under this 
accounting standard, an asset retirement obligation is defined as a legal 

obligation imposed either by law or contract that results from the acquisition, 
construction, development and the normal operation of a tangible fixed 
asset and is associated with the retirement of such tangible fixed asset.
 The asset retirement obligation is recognized as the sum of the 
discounted cash flows required for the future asset retirement and is 
recorded in the period in which the obligation is incurred if a reasonable 
estimate can be made. If a reasonable estimate of the asset retirement 
obligation cannot be made in the period the asset retirement obligation is 
incurred, the liability should be recognized when a reasonable estimate of 
asset retirement obligation can be made. Upon initial recognition of a liability 
for an asset retirement obligation, an asset retirement cost is capitalized by 
increasing the carrying amount of the related fixed asset by the amount of 
the liability. The asset retirement cost is subsequently allocated to expense 
through depreciation over the remaining useful life of the asset. Over time, 
the liability is accreted to its present value each period. Any subsequent 
revisions to the timing or the amount of the original estimate of undiscounted 
cash flows are reflected as an increase or a decrease in the carrying amount 
of the liability and the capitalized amount of the related asset retirement 
cost. This standard is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 
2010 with early adoption permitted for fiscal years beginning on or before 
March 31, 2010.

Accounting changes and error corrections
In December 2009, the ASBJ issued ASBJ Statement No. 24 “Accounting 
Standard for Accounting Changes and Error Corrections” and ASBJ 
Guidance No. 24 “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Accounting 
Changes and Error Corrections”. Accounting treatments under this standard 
and guidance are as follows;
(1) Changes in accounting policies
  When a new accounting policy is applied with revision of accounting 

standards, a new policy is applied retrospectively unless the revised 
accounting standards include specific transitional provisions. When the 
revised accounting standards include specific transitional provisions, an 
entity shall comply with the specific transitional provisions.

(2) Changes in presentations
  When the presentation of financial statements is changed, prior 

period financial statements are reclassified in accordance with the 
new presentation.

(3) Changes in accounting estimates
  A change in an accounting estimate is accounted for in the period of the 

change if the change affects that period only, and is accounted for 
prospectively if the change affects both the period of the change and 
future periods.

(4) Corrections of prior period errors
  When an error in prior period financial statements is discovered, those 

statements are restated.
This accounting standard and the guidance are applicable to accounting 
changes and corrections of prior period errors which are made from the 
beginning of the fiscal year that begins on or after April 1, 2011.

Segment information disclosures
In March 2008, the ASBJ revised ASBJ Statement No. 17 “Accounting 
Standard for Segment Information Disclosures” and issued ASBJ Guidance 
No. 20 “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Segment Information 
Disclosures”. Under the standard and guidance, an entity is required to 
report financial and descriptive information about its reportable segments.  
Reportable segments are operating segments or aggregations of operating 
segments that meet specified criteria. Operating segments are components 
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of an entity about which separate financial information is available and such 
information is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in 
deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Generally, 
segment information is required to be reported on the same basis as is used 

internally for evaluating operating segment performance and deciding how 
to allocate resources to operating segments. This accounting standard and 
the guidance are applicable to segment information disclosures for the fiscal 
years beginning on or after April 1, 2010.

Installment and financial loans are operating receivables of the consolidated financial services subsidiaries.
 During the years ended February 28, 2009 and 2010, the consolidated financial services subsidiaries securitized a part of those receivables and 
subsequently transferred the cash flow interests in those assets mainly to unconsolidated special purpose entities in total of ¥153,958 million and ¥150,727 
million ($1,693,561 thousand), respectively.

3. Receivables

Marketable and investment securities as of February 28, 2009 and 2010 consisted of the following:

4. Marketable and investment securities

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’09 ’10 ’10

Current-Government and corporate bonds  ¥ 3,215  ¥ 3,372  $ 37,890

Non-current: Equity securities  ¥ 42,690  ¥ 48,533  $ 545,320

 Government and corporate bonds   1,689   3,329   37,412

 Other   13,964   38,830   436,300

Non-current total  ¥ 58,344  ¥ 90,693  $ 1,019,033
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The cost and aggregate fair values of marketable and investment securities at February 28, 2009 and 2010 were as follows:

Millions of  Yen

February 28, 2009 Cost
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses
Fair Value

Securities classified as:

Available-for-sale: Equity securities  ¥ 48,261  ¥ 2,705  ¥ (10,756)  ¥ 40,211 

 Debt securities   3,046   (271)   2,774 

 Other   184   (59)   124 

Held-to-maturity debt securities   2,128   38   2,166 

Millions of  Yen

February 28, 2010 Cost
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses
Fair Value

Securities classified as:

Available-for-sale: Equity securities  ¥ 48,323  ¥ 3,676  ¥ (5,358)  ¥ 46,640 

 Debt securities   4,537   10   4,548 
 Other   121   (6)   114 
Held-to-maturity debt securities   2,151   41   2,192 

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

February 28, 2010 Cost
Unrealized

Gains
Unrealized

Losses
Fair Value

Securities classified as:

Available-for-sale: Equity securities  $ 542,956  $ 41,303  $ (60,205)  $ 524,055 

 Debt securities   50,982   121   (1)   51,103 
 Other   1,362   (71)   1,290 
Held-to-maturity debt securities   24,177   462   24,640 

Carrying Amount

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’09 ’10 ’10

Available-for-sale — Equity securities  ¥ 2,479  ¥ 1,892  $ 21,265

Available-for-sale securities whose fair value is not readily determinable as of February 28, 2009 and 2010 were mainly as follows:

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Due in one year or less  ¥ 4,519  $ 50,779 
Due after one year through five years   2,151   24,177 

Due after five years through ten years   28   323 

Total  ¥ 6,699  $ 75,280 

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’08 ’09 ’10 ’10

Proceeds  ¥ 5,662  ¥ 41,658  ¥ 10,093  $ 113,407 
Gross realized gains   4,386   20,425   45   508 
Gross realized losses   (3)   (1)   (12)

Proceeds, gross realized gains and losses on sales of available-for-sale securities for the years ended February 20, 2008 and February 28, 2009 and 2010 
were as follows:

The carrying values of debt securities by contractual maturities for securities classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity at February 28, 2010 are as follows:
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Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Merchandise  ¥ 327,035  $ 3,674,553 
Raw materials and supplies   6,589   74,033 

Total  ¥ 333,624  $ 3,748,587 

Use Type of Assets Location
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’08 ’09 ’10 ’10

Stores Land, buildings and 
structures and others

Japan

   Northern Japan 89  ¥ 5,730 69  ¥ 4,396 50  ¥ 3,808  $ 42,791 

   Kanto 126   3,155 106   4,241 132   5,326   59,850 
   Chubu 82   3,133 56   4,487 95   5,449   61,233 
   Western Japan 124   7,298 61   5,131 90   7,641   85,855 
China 4   150 9   49   554 
Korea and others 102   693 193   238 84   155   1,741 

Idle assets Land, buildings and 
structures and others

Japan

   Western Japan and others 14   714 8   165 15   333   3,745 

Total 537  ¥ 20,725 497  ¥ 18,811 475  ¥ 22,763  $ 255,772 

Inventories at February 28, 2010 consisted of the following:

The Group reviewed its long-lived assets for impairment as for the years ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010 and, as a result, recorded an 
impairment loss of ¥46,339 million, ¥55,584 million and ¥26,723 million ($300,260 thousand) on the following group of long-lived assets, respectively.

a. GMS and other retail store operations 

5. Inventories

6. Long-lived assets

Use Type of Assets Location
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’08 ’09 ’10 ’10

Stores

Buildings and 
structures and others

Japan

   Northern Japan 31  ¥ 427 35  ¥ 186 43  ¥ 489  $ 5,501 

   Kanto 163   1,024 331   1,545 170   1,030   11,581 
   Chubu 25   102 36   216 38   272   3,058 
   Western Japan 42   291 92   611 81   766   8,617 

Land, buildings and 
structures and others U.S. and others 27   580 31   14,386 10   126   1,420 

Goodwill, trademarks 
and others U.S. 1   17,459   18,386

Idle assets Land
Japan

   Chubu and other 1   9

Total 289  ¥ 19,886 526  ¥ 35,341 342  ¥ 2,685  $ 30,179 

b. Specialty store operations
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Use Type of Assets Location
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’08 ’09 ’10 ’10

Stores Land, buildings and 
structures and others

Kanto 1  ¥ 352  $ 3,961 
Western Japan 3  ¥ 5,091 1  ¥ 921 1   310   3,483 

Idle assets Land Western Japan 2   400

Total 5  ¥ 5,492 1  ¥ 921 2  ¥ 662  $ 7,444 

c. SC development operations

The Company and domestic consolidated subsidiaries mainly categorize 
stores as standard units, which are the minimum cash-generating units, and 
idle assets as individual independent units.
 The book values of the stores which incurred or are expected to incur 
continuous operating losses, and idle assets which are not scheduled to be 
used, were reduced to recoverable amounts, and such deducted amounts 
were recorded as impairment loss in other expenses.

 The recoverable amounts of the asset groups are measured at net 
selling price or value in use. The net selling price for land is measured based 
on evaluations based on real estate appraisal value or assessed value of 
fixed assets. The net selling price for other assets is measured on a best 
estimate based on past transaction cases. The value in use is based on the 
present values of expected cash flows with the discount rate. The discount 
rates for fiscal years ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 
2010 were 2.5% to 13.7%, 2.0% to 9.6% and 1.9% to 10.27%, respectively.

Use Type of Assets Location
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Number of 

Asset Groups
Millions of

Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’08 ’09 ’10 ’10

Stores Buildings and structures 
and others

Northern Japan 10  ¥ 25 11  ¥ 24 14  ¥ 44  $ 501 
Kanto 18   84 30   190 44   159   1,795 
Chubu 6   31 22   107 26   92   1,040 
Western Japan 28   93 35   187 39   172   1,935 

Idle assets Land Northern Japan 2   141   1,592 
Total 62  ¥ 234 98  ¥ 510 125  ¥ 610  $ 6,864 

d. Service and other operations

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’08 ’09 ’10 ’10

Buildings and structures  ¥ 17,178  ¥ 30,122  ¥ 14,915  $ 167,584
Land   4,455   1,946   2,227   25,032
Furniture and fixtures   3,937   2,486   4,758   53,468
Leased property held under finance leases   1,669   1,179   2,578   28,974
Goodwill, trademarks and others   17,459   18,386

Other intangible assets and others   1,638   1,463   2,242   25,200
Total  ¥ 46,339  ¥ 55,584  ¥ 26,723  $ 300,260

The breakdown of impairment loss for the years ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010 were as follows:
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Certain consolidated subsidiaries (“Companies”) have securitized certain 
amounts of fixed leasehold deposits to lessors by transferring these 
deposits to unconsolidated special purpose entities such as J-one Assets 
Corporation (see Note 21). The aggregate amounts of securitized deposits 
as of February 28, 2009 and 2010 were ¥33,972 million and ¥26,159 
million ($293,921 thousand), respectively.
 These special purpose entities have options to sell the transferred 
deposits back to the Companies in certain cases, including lessors’ 

insolvency. When the special purpose entities exercise their put options, 
they also cancel interest rate swap agreements, which they entered into 
with financial institutions for hedging interest rate exposures, incorporated 
in these transactions, and the cancellation gains or losses are borne by the 
Companies. The unrealized loss on these interest rate swap agreements as 
of February 28, 2009 and 2010 were ¥544 million and ¥425 million 
($4,775 thousand), respectively.

Short-term borrowings at February 28, 2009 and 2010 consisted of the following:

7. Fixed leasehold deposits to lessors

8. Short-term borrowings and long-term debt

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’09 ’10 ’10

Short-term loans principally from banks,
  0.496% to 5.913% (2009) and 0.39% to 12.0% (2010)  ¥ 179,807  ¥ 88,531  $ 994,731 

Bank overdraft, 1.875% to 2.0% (2009) and 1.4% to 6.44% (2010)   1,446   649   7,292 

Commercial paper, 0.646% to 1.305% (2009) and 0.85% to 0.89% (2010)   81,000   7,000   78,651 

Total  ¥ 262,253  ¥ 96,180  $ 1,080,675 
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Long-term debt at February 28, 2009 and 2010 consisted of the following:

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’09 ’10 ’10
Issued by Aeon Co., Ltd.:

Unsecured 2.59% Japanese yen notes due 2010  ¥ 10,000 
Unsecured 2.44% Japanese yen notes due 2011   10,000  ¥ 10,000  $ 112,359 
Unsecured 2.59% Japanese yen notes due 2026   15,000   15,000   168,539 
Unsecured 1.60% Japanese yen notes due 2016   20,000   20,000   224,719 
Subordinated Japanese yen bond with deferral of interest and 
   early redemption provisions due 2057 (Note 1)   4,500   4,500   50,561 

Subordinated Japanese yen bond with deferral of interest and 
   early redemption provisions due 2057 (Note 2)   26,500   26,500   297,752 

Unsecured 1.59% Japanese yen notes due 2015   34,000   382,022 
Unsecured 0.00% convertible Japanese yen bonds with 
   stock acquisition rights due 2013   49,999   561,786 

Unsecured 0.30% convertible Japanese yen bonds with 
   stock acquisition rights due 2014   49,999   561,786 

Issued by Aeon Credit Service Co., Ltd.:
Unsecured 1.47% Japanese yen notes due 2010   15,000 
Unsecured 0.81% Japanese yen notes due 2011   10,000   10,000   112,359 
Unsecured 1.60% Japanese yen notes due 2012   10,000   10,000   112,359 
Unsecured 1.08% Japanese yen notes due 2013   20,000   20,000   224,719 
Unsecured 1.55% Japanese yen notes due 2013   10,000   10,000   112,359 
Unsecured 1.79% Japanese yen notes due 2014   20,000   20,000   224,719 
Unsecured 1.78% Japanese yen notes due 2013   20,000   20,000   224,719 

Issued by Aeon Hokkaido Corporation:
Unsecured 1.00% Japanese yen notes due 2010   50 
Unsecured 0.71% Japanese yen notes due 2010   50 
Unsecured 0.83% Japanese yen notes due 2010   110 

Issued by Aeon Mall Co., Ltd.:
Unsecured 1.60% Japanese yen notes due 2014   10,000   10,000   112,359 
Unsecured 1.54% Japanese yen notes due 2015   23,000   258,426 

Issued by Aeon Thana Sinsap (Thailand) Plc.:
Unsecured 4.94% Thai baht notes due 2011   795   827   9,302 
Unsecured 4.59% Thai baht notes due 2011   2,650   2,750   30,902 
Unsecured 5.20% Thai baht notes due 2013   2,650   2,727   30,640 
Unsecured 2.88% Thai baht notes due 2012   1,544   1,510   16,970 

Issued by Aeon Credit Service (M) Berhad:
4.37% Medium term notes due 2010   507 
Medium term notes due 2010 (Note 3)   507 
Medium term notes due 2012 (Note 4)   985   1,047   11,768 
Medium term notes due 2011 (Note 5)   1,028   1,077   12,110 
Medium term notes due 2013 (Note 6)   1,027   1,077   12,102 
Medium term notes due 2011 (Note 7)   1,284   1,346   15,134 
Medium term notes due 2011 (Note 8)   770   808   9,080 
Medium term notes due 2010 (Note 9)   256 
Medium term notes due 2012 (Note 10)   1,155   1,211   13,612 
Medium term notes due 2012 (Note 11)   641   672   7,561 
Medium term notes due 2013 (Note 12)   807   9,068 

Issued by other consolidated subsidiaries (Note 13):
Secured and unsecured notes, due through 2016 with interest 
   rates ranging from 0.61% to 1.92%:   2,273   1,835   20,626 

Loans from banks and insurance companies, due through 2023 with interest 
   rates ranging from 0.00% to 7.30% (2009) and from 0.00% to 12.00% (2010):

Collateralized   96,658   80,237   901,548 
Unsecured   616,411   719,179   8,080,665 

Debt under securitization of future cash flow   1,500 
Lease Obligations   4,440   49,890 
Total   933,859   1,154,555   12,972,537 
Less current portion   (157,368)   (211,293)   (2,374,079)
Long-term debt, less current portion  ¥ 776,490  ¥ 943,262  $ 10,598,458 

Notes: 1. Interest rate: 3.25% per annum till September 29, 2016 and Six-month euroyen Libor plus 2.40% after September 29, 2016
 2. Interest rate: Six-month euroyen Libor plus 1.40% till September 29, 2016, and Six-month euroyen Libor plus 2.40% after September 29, 2016
 3. Profit return rate: 4.37%   9. Profit return rate: 4.15%
 4. Profit return rate: 4.54% 10. Profit return rate: 5.25%
 5. Profit return rate: 3.81% 11. Profit return rate: 4.80%
 6. Profit return rate: 3.89% 12. Profit return rate: 4.18%
 7. Profit return rate: 4.11% 13. Consolidated subsidiaries: Gfoot Co., Ltd. and one other company
 8. Profit return rate: 4.85%
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Annual maturities of long-term debt at February 28, 2010 were as follows: The carrying amounts of assets pledged as collateral for short-term 
borrowings, long-term debt and other at February 28, 2010 were as follows:

Collateralized short-term borrowings, long-term debt and other at February 
28, 2010 were as follows:

Year Ending February 28, Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2011  ¥ 211,293  $ 2,374,079 

2012   220,627   2,478,960 

2013   276,211   3,103,495 

2014   197,114   2,214,770 

2015   141,787   1,593,120 

2016 and thereafter   107,521   1,208,110 

Total  ¥ 1,154,555  $ 12,972,537 

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Land  ¥ 66,512  $ 747,333 

Buildings and structures—net of 
accumulated depreciation 

  106,682   1,198,676 

Fixed leasehold deposits to lessors   35   393 

Investment securities   3,714   41,734 

Installment and financial loans receivables   24,786   278,495 

Inventories   2,194   24,652 

Cash and cash equivalents   113   1,273 

Total  ¥ 204,037  $ 2,292,560 

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Short-term borrowings  ¥ 13,426  $ 150,854 

Unsecured notes   1,118   12,561 

Long-term debt   80,237   901,548 

Other current liabilities   38,697   434,799 

Lease deposits from lessees   2,232   25,088 

Total  ¥ 135,711  $ 1,524,851 

Conversion Price
(Note 1)

Number of shares of 
common stock

(thousands) (Note 2)
Exercise Period

Unsecured 0.00% convertible Japanese yen bonds with stock acquisition rights due 2013 ¥  908 55,064 From January 4, 2010 to 
November 20, 2012

Unsecured 0.30% convertible Japanese yen bonds with stock acquisition rights due 2014 ¥  931 53,704 From January 4, 2010 to 
November 20, 2013

The following is a summary of the terms for conversion and redemption of the convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights:

Notes: 1. The conversion price is subject to adjustment for certain subsequent events such as the issue of common stock at less than market value and stock splits.
 2. Numbers of shares of common stock are calculated on the assumption that all convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights are converted as of February 28, 2010.

The Group has severance payment plans for employees, directors and 
corporate auditors, except that the Company ceased the severance 
payments for the directors and corporate auditors effective May 15, 2003.
 The Company and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries have a
defined benefit pension plan, advance payment plan and defined contribution 
pension plan covering substantially all employees.
 The Company and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries amended 
their defined benefit pension plan on January 15, 2010 and implemented 
the new pension plan which features cash balance plans from April 1, 2010.  
Under the cash balance plans, the amount of pension pensioners receive 
fluctuates based on the market interest rates.
 The Company and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries 
recognized all prior service cost arising from the amendment of the defined 
benefit pension plan in the year ended February 28, 2010. The effect of the 

amendment was to record reversal of liability for retirement benefits of 
¥18,048 million ($202,797 thousand) in other income in the consolidated 
statements of operations for the year ended February 28, 2010.
 U.S. subsidiaries have a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan 
and defined contribution pension plan covering substantially all employees. 
In February 2009, they announced their decision to discontinue future 
benefits being earned under the defined benefit pension plan effective May 
1, 2009, and accordingly, participant benefit accruals and additional years of 
credited service ceased as of May 1, 2009.
 A certain domestic consolidated subsidiary contributed its financial 
assets to its employee retirement benefit trust which can be used only for 
future contribution to the pension plan for the year ended February 28, 
2009. This contribution to this trust is accounted for as plan assets.

9. Retirement and pension plans
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Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’09 ’10 ’10

Projected benefit obligation  ¥ 127,451  ¥ 109,751  $ 1,233,167 

Fair value of plan assets   (78,666)   (86,046)   (966,815)

Unrecognized prior service cost   1,424   1,229   13,818 

Unrecognized actuarial loss   (19,720)   (11,388)   (127,959)

Net liability  ¥ 30,488  ¥ 13,546  $ 152,209 

The liability for employees’ retirement benefits at February 28, 2009 and 2010 consisted of the following:

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’08 ’09 ’10 ’10

Service cost  ¥ 5,406  ¥ 5,347  ¥ 4,392  $ 49,358 
Interest cost   3,442   3,527   3,416   38,389 
Expected return on plan assets   (2,166)   (2,201)   (1,408)   (15,822)
Recognized actuarial loss   2,949   3,046   3,678   41,335 
Amortization of prior service cost   (284)   (319)   (319)   (3,585)
Other   3,999   4,338   4,455   50,066 
Net periodic benefit costs   13,348   13,739   14,217   159,741 
Loss on transfer of pension plan resulting from changes in scope of consolidation   78 

Reversal of liability for retirement benefits   (18,048)   (202,797)
Total  ¥ 13,427  ¥ 13,739  ¥ (3,831)  $ (43,056)

Note:  “Other” includes payments for advance payment plan and contributions for defined contribution pension plan.

The components of net periodic benefit costs and relevant gain and loss for the years ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010 were as follows:

Assumptions used for the years ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010 are set forth as follows: 

The Company and domestic consolidated subsidiaries

’08 ’09 ’10

Discount rate Mainly 2.40% Mainly 2.40% Mainly 2.40%
Expected rate of return on plan assets Mainly 2.05% Mainly 2.05% Mainly 1.30%
Recognition period of actuarial gain/loss 10 years 10 years Mainly 10 years
Amortization period of prior service cost 

 The Company and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries Amortized one-time as incurred
 Some few domestic consolidated subsidiaries 10 years 10 years 10 years

The liability for retirement benefits at February 28, 2009 and 2010 for directors and corporate auditors is ¥1,240 million and ¥1,062 million ($11,938 
thousand), respectively.

U.S. subsidiaries

’08 ’09 ’10

Discount rate 6.50% 6.50% 6.00%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 9.00% 9.00% 8.50%
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On and after May 1, 2006, Japanese companies are subject to the new 
Companies Act of Japan (the “Companies Act”), which reformed and 
replaced the Commercial Code of Japan (the “Code”) with various revisions 
that are, for the most part, applicable to events or transactions which occur 
on or after May 1, 2006 and for the fiscal years ending on or after May 1, 
2006. The significant changes in the Companies Act that affect financial 
and accounting matters are summarized below:

(a) Dividends 
Under the Companies Act, companies can pay dividends at any time during 
the fiscal year in addition to the year-end dividend upon resolution at the 
shareholders meeting. For companies that meet certain criteria such as: (1) 
having the Board of Directors, (2) having independent auditors, (3) having 
the Board of Corporate Auditors, and (4) the term of service of the directors 
is prescribed as one year rather than two years of normal term by its articles 
of incorporation, the Board of Directors may declare dividends (except for 
dividends in kind) at any time during the fiscal year if the company has 
prescribed so in its articles of incorporation. The Board of Directors of 
companies with board committees (an appointment committee, compensation 
committee and audit committee) can also do so because such companies 
with board committees already, by nature, meet the above criteria under the 
Companies Act, even though such companies have an audit committee 
instead of the Board of Corporate Auditors. 
 The Board of Directors of the Company can declare dividends without 
resolution at the shareholders meeting since the Company is organized as a 
company with board committees and meet the above criteria. 
 The Companies Act permits companies to distribute dividends-in-kind 
(non-cash assets) to shareholders subject to a certain limitation and 
additional requirements.
 Semiannual interim dividends may also be paid once a year upon 
resolution by the Board of Directors if the articles of incorporation of the 
company so stipulate. The Companies Act provides certain limitations on the 
amounts available for dividends or the purchase of treasury stock. The 
limitation is defined as the amount available for distribution to the 
shareholders, but the amount of net assets after dividends must be 
maintained at no less than ¥3 million.

(b)  Increases/decreases and transfer of common stock, 
reserve and surplus

The Companies Act requires that an amount equal to 10% of dividends must 
be appropriated as a legal reserve (a component of retained earnings) or as 

additional paid-in capital (a component of capital surplus) depending on the 
equity account charged upon the payment of such dividends until the total of 
aggregate amount of legal reserve and additional paid-in capital equals 25% 
of the common stock. Under the Companies Act, the total amount of 
additional paid-in capital and legal reserve may be reversed without limitation.
 The Companies Act also provides that common stock, legal reserve, 
additional paid-in capital, other capital surplus and retained earnings can be 
transferred among the accounts under certain conditions upon resolution of 
the shareholders.

(c) Treasury stock and treasury stock acquisition rights
The Companies Act also provides for companies to purchase treasury stock 
and dispose of such treasury stock by resolution of the Board of Directors. 
The amount of treasury stock purchased cannot exceed the amount available 
for distribution to the shareholders which is determined by specific formula.
 Under the Companies Act, stock acquisition rights, which were 
previously presented as a liability, are now presented as a separate 
component of equity.
 The Companies Act also provides that companies can purchase both 
treasury stock acquisition rights and treasury stock. Such treasury stock 
acquisition rights are presented as a separate component of equity or 
deducted directly from stock acquisition rights.

Purchase of treasury stock
During the year ended February 20, 2008, the Company acquired 
34,692,200 shares of the Company’s common stock under its acquisition 
plan at a price per share of ¥1,749. The total amount was ¥60,676 million. 
These acquisitions were made under a stock acquisition plan approved by 
the Company’s Board of Directors on October 4, 2007 authorizing the 
Company to acquire an aggregate of up to ¥70,000 million in stock or up to 
35,000,000 shares.

Restriction of dividends and repurchase of its stock
In relation to the issuance of two series of subordinated bonds of ¥31,000 
million on September 29, 2006 (see Note 8), the Company may defer the 
payment of interest for up to ten years in the event its financial condition 
deteriorates to a certain level and certain other events. If the Company’s 
financial condition deteriorates further, the source of funds for interest 
payments will be limited to proceeds from the issuance of new stock and 
certain other sources. In this situation, the Company shall not pay any 
dividends from capital surplus or repurchase any of its stock.

10. Equity
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1. The Company and domestic consolidated subsidiaries
For the years ended February 28, 2009 and 2010, the Company and domestic consolidated subsidiaries recognized expenses regarding stock options of ¥380 
million and ¥187 million ($2,110 thousand), respectively, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses.

The stock options outstanding as of February 28, 2010 are as follows:

11. Stock-based compensation

Company Name Stock Option Persons Granted
Number of 

Options Granted
Date of Grant

Exercise 
Price Yen

Exercise Period

Aeon Co., Ltd. 2008
Stock Option 30 executive officers 66,500 shares April 21, 2007 ¥1 From May 21, 2007 

to May 20, 2022

Aeon Co., Ltd. 2009
Stock Option

30 executive officers and 
7 executives of the group companies 84,000 shares April 22, 2008 ¥1 From May 21, 2008 

to May 20, 2023

Aeon Co., Ltd. 2009
Stock Option

26 executive officers and 
7 executives of the subsidiaries 21,600 shares November 20, 2008 ¥1 From November 21, 2008 

to November 20, 2023

Aeon Co., Ltd. 2010
Stock Option 8 executives of the subsidiaries 5,300 shares May 20, 2009 ¥1 From May 21, 2009 

to May 20, 2024

Origin Toshu Co., Ltd. 2005
Stock Option

12 directors, 128 employees, 2 directors and 
1 employee of the subsidiary

106,500 
shares June 19, 2004 ¥1,875 From July 3, 2006 

to June 30, 2009

Origin Toshu Co., Ltd. 2006
Stock Option

12 directors, 4 corporate auditors, 174 employees 
and 4 employees of the subsidiary

176,000 
shares June 18, 2005 ¥2,090 From July 2, 2007 

to June 30, 2010
Aeon Hokkaido 
Corporation

2009 
Stock Option 5 directors 20,000 shares April 30, 2008 ¥1 From May 31, 2008 

to May 30, 2023
Aeon Hokkaido 
Corporation

2010
Stock Option 5 directors 27,100 shares April 30, 2009 ¥1 From May 31, 2009 

to May 30, 2024

Aeon Kyushu Co., Ltd. 2009 
Stock Option 9 directors 6,300 shares April 21, 2008 ¥1 From May 21, 2008 

to May 20, 2023

Aeon Kyushu Co., Ltd. 2010
Stock Option 8 directors 7,500 shares April 21, 2009 ¥1 From May 21, 2009 

to May 20, 2024
Maxvalu Hokkaido 
Co., Ltd.

2010
Stock Option 9 directors 5,800 shares April 10, 2009 ¥1 From May 1, 2009 

to April 30, 2024

Maxvalu Tokai Co., Ltd. 2009 
Stock Option 7 directors 10,000 shares May 1, 2008 ¥1 From June 1, 2008 

to May 31, 2023

Maxvalu Tokai Co., Ltd. 2010
Stock Option 7 directors 14,800 shares May 1, 2009 ¥1 From June 1, 2009 

to May 31, 2024
Maxvalu Chubu 
Co., Ltd.

2009 
Stock Option 7 directors 11,100 shares April 1, 2008 ¥1 From May 1, 2008 

to April 30, 2023
Maxvalu Chubu 
Co., Ltd.

2010
Stock Option 7 directors 27,800 shares April 1, 2009 ¥1 From May 1, 2009 

to April 30, 2024
Maxvalu Nishinihon 
Co., Ltd.

2009 
Stock Option 11 directors 24,900 shares April 21, 2008 ¥1 From May 21, 2008 

to May 20, 2023
Maxvalu Nishinihon 
Co., Ltd.

2010
Stock Option 11 directors 21,800 shares April 21, 2009 ¥1 From May 21, 2009 

to May 20, 2024

Ministop Co., Ltd. 2009 
Stock Option 8 directors 12,700 shares April 30, 2008 ¥1 From June 1, 2008 

to May 31, 2023

Ministop Co., Ltd. 2010
Stock Option 8 directors 12,900 shares April 30, 2009 ¥1 From June 1, 2009 

to May 31, 2024

Cox Co., Ltd. 2009 
Stock Option 7 directors 16,000 shares April 21, 2008 ¥1 From May 21, 2008 

to May 20, 2023

Blue Grass Co., Ltd. 2009 
Stock Option 6 directors 6,800 shares April 21, 2008 ¥1 From May 21, 2008 

to May 20, 2023

Aeon Mall Co., Ltd. 2009 
Stock Option 17 directors 20,200 shares April 21, 2008 ¥1 From May 21, 2008 

to May 20, 2023

Aeon Mall Co., Ltd. 2010
Stock Option 16 directors 29,400 shares April 21, 2009 ¥1 From May 21, 2009 

to May 20, 2024

Aeon Delight Co., Ltd. 2009 
Stock Option 15 directors 35,000 shares May 12, 2008 ¥0.5 From June 10, 2008 

to June 10, 2023

Aeon Delight Co., Ltd. 2010
Stock Option 15 directors 33,700 shares May 11, 2009 ¥0.5 From June 10, 2009 

to June 10, 2024

Certo Corporation 2009 
Stock Option 7 directors 8,100 shares April 21, 2008 ¥1 From May 21, 2008 

to May 20, 2023

Certo Corporation 2010
Stock Option 9 directors 10,800 shares April 21, 2009 ¥1 From May 21, 2009 

to May 20, 2024
Aeon Credit Service 
Co., Ltd.

2009 
Stock Option 12 directors 20,000 shares April 21, 2008 ¥1 From May 21, 2008 

to May 20, 2023

Zwei Co., Ltd. 2009 
Stock Option 5 directors 8,500 shares April 21, 2008 ¥1 From May 21, 2008 

to May 20, 2023

Zwei Co., Ltd. 2010
Stock Option 6 directors 9,500 shares April 21, 2009 ¥1 From May 21, 2009 

to May 20, 2024

Aeon Fantasy Co., Ltd. 2009 
Stock Option 10 directors 5,200 shares April 21, 2008 ¥1 From May 21, 2008 

to May 20, 2023

Aeon Fantasy Co., Ltd. 2010
Stock Option 9 directors 9,800 shares April 21, 2009 ¥1 From May 21, 2009 

to May 20, 2024
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The summary of stock option activity during the fiscal year 2010 is as follows:

Aeon Co., Ltd. 
’08–’10 Stock Option

Origin Toshu Co., Ltd.
’05–’06 Stock Option

Aeon Hokkaido 
Corporation

’09–’10 Stock Option

Aeon Kyushu Co., Ltd.
’09–’10 Stock Option

Maxvalu Hokkaido 
Co., Ltd.

’10 Stock Option

Maxvalu Tokai Co., Ltd.
’09–’10 Stock Option

Non-vested (Shares)
Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted 5,300 27,100 7,500 5,800 14,800
Expired
Vested 5,300 27,100 7,500 5,800 14,800
Outstanding at end of year

Vested (Shares)
Outstanding at beginning of year 167,800 121,500 5,400 6,300 3,600
Vested 5,300 27,100 7,500 5,800 14,800
Exercised 2,800 3,700 1,600 2,400 13,200
Expired 50,500
Outstanding at end of year 170,300 71,000 28,800 12,200 3,400 5,200

Exercise price ¥1 ¥1,875–¥2,090 ¥1 ¥1 ¥1 ¥1
Average stock price at exercise ¥796–¥857 ¥305 ¥1,320 ¥1,532 ¥1,095–¥1,119
Fair value price at grant date ¥710–¥2,085 ¥292–¥325 ¥928–¥1,308 ¥1,460 ¥782–¥1,350

Maxvalu Chubu Co., Ltd.
’09–’10 Stock Option

Maxvalu Nishinihon 
Co., Ltd.

’09–’10 Stock Option

Ministop Co., Ltd.
’09–’10 Stock Option

Cox Co., Ltd.
’09 Stock Option

Blue Grass Co., Ltd.
’09 Stock Option

Aeon Mall Co., Ltd.
’09–’10 Stock Option

Non-vested (Shares)
Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted 27,800 21,800 12,900 29,400
Expired
Vested 27,800 21,800 12,900 29,400
Outstanding at end of year

Vested (Shares)
Outstanding at beginning of year 11,100 24,900 12,700 16,000 6,800 20,200
Vested 27,800 21,800 12,900 29,400
Exercised 2,000 1,900 2,700
Expired
Outstanding at end of year 38,900 46,700 25,600 14,000 4,900 46,900

Exercise price ¥1 ¥1 ¥1 ¥1 ¥1 ¥1
Average stock price at exercise ¥398 ¥484 ¥1,633
Fair value price at grant date ¥788 ¥975–¥1,020 ¥1,127–¥1,870 ¥340 ¥737 ¥1,197–¥2,750

Aeon Delight Co., Ltd.
’09–’10 Stock Option

Certo Corporation
’09–’10 Stock Option

Aeon Credit Service 
Co., Ltd.

’09 Stock Option

Zwei Co., Ltd.
’09–’10 Stock Option

Aeon Fantasy Co., Ltd.
’09–’10 Stock Option

Non-vested (Shares)
Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted 33,700 10,800 9,500 9,800
Expired
Vested 33,700 10,800 9,500 9,800
Outstanding at end of year

Vested (Shares)
Outstanding at beginning of year 35,000 8,100 20,000 8,500 5,200
Vested 33,700 10,800 9,500 9,800
Exercised 20,000
Expired
Outstanding at end of year 68,700 18,900 18,000 15,000

Exercise price ¥0.5 ¥1 ¥1 ¥1 ¥1
Average stock price at exercise ¥978
Fair value price at grant date ¥1,136–¥2,063 ¥748–¥977 ¥1,256 ¥422–¥472 ¥570–¥1,242
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The assumptions used to measure fair value of stock options vested during fiscal year 2010 were as follows:

Aeon Co., Ltd.
’10 Stock Option

Aeon Hokkaido 
Corporation

’10 Stock Option

Aeon Kyushu Co., Ltd.
’10 Stock Option

Maxvalu Hokkaido 
Co., Ltd.

’10 Stock Option

Maxvalu Tokai Co., Ltd.
’10 Stock Option

Maxvalu Chubu 
Co., Ltd.

’10 Stock Option

Measurement method
Black-Scholes
option-pricing 

model

Black-Scholes
option-pricing 

model

Black-Scholes
option-pricing 

model

Black-Scholes
option-pricing 

model

Black-Scholes
option-pricing 

model

Black-Scholes
option-pricing 

model

Risk-free interest rate 1.16% 1.27% 1.12% 1.19% 1.16% 1.77%

Expected life of option grants 7.5 years 7.5 years 7.5 years 7.5 years 7.6 years 7.5 years

Expected volatility of underlying stock 37.59% 24.63% 31.93% 25.24% 29.40% 23.80%

Expected dividend payment rate, as a 
percentage of the stock price on the 
date of grant

1.93% 0.00% 0.71% 0.40% 3.52% 1.16%

Maxvalu Nishinihon 
Co., Ltd.

’10 Stock Option

Ministop Co., Ltd.
’10 Stock Option

Aeon Mall Co., Ltd.
’10 Stock Option

Aeon Delight Co., Ltd.
’10 Stock Option

Certo Corporation
’10 Stock Option

Zwei Co., Ltd.
’10 Stock Option

Measurement method
Black-Scholes
option-pricing 

model

Black-Scholes
option-pricing 

model

Black-Scholes
option-pricing 

model

Black-Scholes
option-pricing 

model

Black-Scholes
option-pricing 

model

Black-Scholes
option-pricing 

model

Risk-free interest rate 1.17% 1.11% 1.16% 1.18% 1.18% 1.16%

Expected life of option grants 7.6 years 7.5 years 7.5 years 7.5 years 7.5 years 7.5 years

Expected volatility of underlying stock 24.86% 24.80% 46.14% 88.69% 31.33% 40.78%

Expected dividend payment rate, as a 
percentage of the stock price on the 
date of grant

2.88% 2.92% 1.49% 1.70% 5.92% 4.29%

Aeon Fantasy 
Co., Ltd.

’10 Stock Option

Measurement method
Black-Scholes
option-pricing 

model

Risk-free interest rate 1.18%

Expected life of option grants 7.5 years

Expected volatility of underlying stock 55.76%

Expected dividend payment rate, as a 
percentage of the stock price on the 
date of grant

3.92%
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2. Foreign consolidated subsidiary
The Talbots, Inc. (“Talbots”)
Amended 2003 Executive Stock Based Incentive Plan
The 2003 Plan provides for grants of stock options and nonvested stock 
awards to certain key members of management. The stock options are 
granted at an exercise price equal to the fair market value at the date of 
grant, generally vest over a three-year period at each anniversary date and 
expire no later than ten years from the grant date.
 Holders of nonvested stock awards have voting rights and are entitled to 
dividends equivalent to those paid on common stock. Upon the grant of 
nonvested stock, the recipient or Talbots on the recipient’s behalf is required to 
pay the par value of $0.01 per share. If the employee terminates employment 
prior to the vesting date, the nonvested stock awards are generally forfeited to 
Talbots through the repurchase of the shares at the $0.01 par value. Certain 
shares granted as performance accelerated nonvested stock vest at the end 
of a five-year service period, however, all or a portion of the vesting may be 
accelerated to three years depending on the achievement of certain corporate 

financial goals. Certain other shares of nonvested stock are time vested and 
generally vest between two and four years.

Amended and restated Directors Plan
The Directors Plan provides for grants of stock options and restricted stock 
units (“RSUs”) to non-management members of Talbots’s Board of Directors. 
The stock options generally vest over a three-year period and expire no later 
than ten years from the date of grant. The RSUs generally vest over one 
year, and may be mandatorily or electively deferred, in which case the RSUs 
will be issued as common stock to the holder upon departing from the 
Board, but not before vesting. If the RSUs are not deferred, the RSUs will be 
issued as common stock upon vesting. Holders of RSUs are entitled to 
dividends equivalent to those paid on common stock but RSUs have no 
voting rights.
 Talbots intends to issue shares upon exercises of stock options and 
future issuances of share-based awards from its unissued reserved shares 
under its 2003 Plan and Directors Plan.

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’08 ’09 ’10 ’10

Cost of sales, buying and occupancy  ¥ 197  ¥ (13)  ¥ 64  $ 692 
Selling, general, and administrative   2,047   1,107   614   6,570 
Restructuring charges   (221)   (78)   (839)
Total  ¥ 2,244  ¥ 873  ¥ 600  $ 6,423 

Note: Japanese yen amounts are translated at the average foreign exchange rates of each fiscal year.

Number of 
Shares

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price per Share

Outstanding at beginning of year 9,410,953 $ 27.24 

Granted 1,784,500 2.66 

Forfeited (441,230) 11.20 

Expired (352,204) 16.84 

Outstanding at end of year 10,402,019 $ 24.06 

Exercisable at end of year 8,316,536 $ 28.66 

The consolidated statements of operations for the years 2008, 2009, and 2010 include the following stock-based compensation expense related to stock 
option awards, nonvested stock awards, and restricted stock unit awards:

Stock options
Talbots measures the fair value of stock options on the date of grant by using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The estimated weighted average fair 
value of options granted during 2008, 2009, and 2010 were $7.58, $2.84, and $1.75, per option, respectively. The summary of stock option activity during the 
fiscal year 2010 is as follows:
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’08 ’09 ’10

Estimated weighted average fair value $7.58 $2.84 $1.75 

Measurement method Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model

Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model

Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model

Risk-free interest rate 4.5% 2.6% 2.0%

Expected life of options 4.6 years 5.3 years 4.8 years
Expected volatility of underlying stock 38.5% 50.8% 83.9%
Expected dividend yield 2.4% 7.8% 0.0%

The assumptions used to measure fair value of stock options were as follows:

The risk-free interest rate represents the implied yield available on U.S. 
Treasury zero-coupon bond issues with a term approximately equal to the 
expected life of the option. The expected life of an option is based on the 
historical experience for the population of option holders. Expected volatility 
is based on Talbots’s historical volatility over the period that matches the 
expected life of the option. Expected dividend yield is based on the expected 

annual payment of dividends divided by the exercise price of the option 
award at the date of the award. In determining the assumptions to be used, 
when Talbots has relied on historical data or trends, Talbots has also 
considered, if applicable, any expected future trends that could differ from 
historical results and has modified its assumptions if applicable.

Nonvested stock awards and RSUs
The fair value of nonvested stock awards and RSUs is based on the price of 
the Talbots’s common stock on the date of grant. A summary of nonvested 
stock awards and RSU activity for the fiscal year 2010 is as follows:

Number of 
Shares

Weighted 
Average Grant Date 

Fair Value
per Share

Nonvested at beginning of year 2,003,660 $    16.28 

Granted 369,689 3.04 

Vested (466,734) 17.65 

Forfeited (575,725) 15.11 

Nonvested at end of year 1,330,890 $    12.62 

Other income (expenses)—net for the years ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010 consisted of the following:

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’08 ’09 ’10 ’10

Loss on disposals of fixed assets  ¥ (4,452)  ¥ (4,654)  ¥ (3,312)  $ (37,223)
Gain on sales of fixed assets   4,979   1,747   2,273   25,549 
Provision for store closing expenses   (3,051)   (3,324)   (2,474)   (27,808)
Gain on redemption of investment securities   2,705 

Gain on change in interests in consolidated subsidiaries   4,805   860   387   4,353 
Loss on store closings   (5,587)   (1,365)   (1,649)   (18,538)
Gain on bad debts recovered   2,896   2,366   3,273   36,776 
Other   13,532   (2,851)   9,291   104,400 
Total  ¥ 13,123  ¥ (4,515)  ¥ 7,788  $ 87,509 

12. Other income (expenses)
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The tax effects of significant temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards which resulted in deferred tax assets and liabilities at February 28, 2009 and 
2010 are as follows:

Reconciliations between the normal effective statutory tax rate and the actual effective tax rate reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations for the years ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010 are as follows:

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’09 ’10 ’10
Deferred tax assets:

Enterprise tax  ¥ 3,785  ¥ 3,648  $ 40,998 

Inventories   3,453   3,643   40,935 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   24,682   22,823   256,441 
Receivables   341   1,639   18,418 
Payables and accrued expenses   7,687   6,760   75,963 
Provision for point program   2,206   3,174   35,668 
Property, buildings and equipment   69,701   68,446   769,056 
Liability for retirement benefits   17,459   11,732   131,824 
Provision for loss on refund of interest received   4,822   9,227   103,681 
Investment securities, including investments in consolidated subsidiaries   599   334   3,762 
Provision for store closing expenses   5,177   4,814   54,093 
Temporary difference relating to the sale of investment in foreign consolidated subsidiary   6,744   75,778 
Tax loss carryforwards   44,596   51,925   583,437 
Write-down of assets under the reorganization proceedings   36,602   32,059   360,223 
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities   4,033   746   8,386 
Other   34,179   35,033   393,629 
Less valuation allowance   (146,586)   (155,382)   (1,745,867)
Total   112,742   107,372   1,206,433 

Deferred tax liabilities:
Investments in consolidated subsidiaries   (1,841)   (1,730)   (19,438)
Undistributed earnings of foreign consolidated subsidiaries   (3,905)   (4,621)   (51,927)
Property, buildings and equipment   (5,852)   (6,104)   (68,587)
Intangible assets   (3,675)   (2,553)   (28,695)
Other   (2,551)   (2,616)   (29,394)
Total   (17,826)   (17,625)   (198,043)

Net deferred tax assets  ¥ 94,916  ¥ 89,746  $ 1,008,390 

’08 ’09 ’10
Normal effective statutory tax rate 40.3% 40.3% 40.3%
Lower income tax rates applicable to income in certain foreign countries (3.4) (6.5) (3.6)
Foreign tax credit (0.9) (0.8) (0.3)
Undistributed earnings of foreign consolidated subsidiaries (2.5) 0.7 
Dividends from foreign consolidated subsidiaries eliminated for consolidation purposes 2.2 3.7 1.5 
Temporary difference relating to the sale of investment in foreign consolidated subsidiary (6.6)
Per capita portion of inhabitant tax 2.7 4.2 3.3 
Goodwill and negative goodwill-net 3.4 (1.8) (1.5)
Equity in losses of associated companies 0.2 4.5 3.9 
Change in valuation allowance 1.2 26.2 10.2 
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 2.2 4.5 1.7 
Gain on change in interests in consolidated subsidiaries (1.6) (0.5) (0.1)
Change of accounting standard (Note 2.r) 21.5 
Other—net (1.1) (5.4) 0.4 
Actual effective tax rate 45.2% 87.4% 49.9%

13. Income taxes
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At February 28, 2010, certain consolidated subsidiaries have tax loss 
carryforwards aggregating approximately ¥113,874 million ($1,279,493 
thousand), which are available to be offset against taxable income of such 
subsidiaries in future years. These tax loss carryforwards, if not utilized, 
expire as follows:

b. Purchases of newly consolidated subsidiaries
For the year ended February 20, 2008, Aeon Hokkaido, Joy Co., Ltd., 
Kohyo, and one other company were acquired. Assets and liabilities of 
these companies at the time of consolidation, cash paid for the capital and 
cash paid in conjunction with the purchases of consolidated subsidiaries 
were as follows:

For the year ended February 28, 2009, Season Select Co., Ltd., Kankyo 
Seibi Co., Ltd. and Tokushima River City Co., Ltd. were acquired. Assets and 
liabilities of these companies at the time of consolidation, cash paid for the 
capital and cash paid in conjunction with the purchases of consolidated 
subsidiaries were as follows:

Year Ending February 28, Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2011  ¥ 4,308  $ 48,409 

2012   37,917   426,037 

2013   9,411   105,742 

2014   7,660   86,075 

2015 and thereafter   54,577   613,228 

Total  ¥ 113,874  $ 1,279,493 

Millions of  Yen

Assets  ¥ 95,071 

Goodwill   16,086 

Liabilities   (91,354)

Minority interests   (1,293)

Cash paid for the capital   18,509 

Cash and cash equivalents of consolidated subsidiaries   17,060 

Cash paid in conjunction with the purchases 
  of consolidated subsidiaries—net

 ¥ 1,449 

a. Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
A reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents between the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of cash flows at February 20, 2008, 
February 28, 2009 and 2010 is as follows:

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’08 ’09 ’10 ’10

Cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets  ¥ 161,833  ¥ 227,162  ¥ 282,358  $ 3,172,570 
Bank overdraft   (1,649)   (1,446)   (649)   (7,292)
Money deposited as insurance premiums   (439)   (1,089)   (1,188)   (13,352)
Cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated statements of cash flows  ¥ 159,744  ¥ 224,625  ¥ 280,521  $ 3,151,925 

Millions of  Yen

Assets  ¥ 6,564 

Goodwill   1,435 

Liabilities   (4,537)

Minority interests   (1,363)

Cash paid for the capital   2,099 

Cash and cash equivalents of consolidated subsidiaries   1,183 

Cash paid in conjunction with the purchases 
  of consolidated subsidiaries—net

 ¥ 916 

14. Supplemental cash flow information
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For the year ended February 28, 2010, Do Service Co., Ltd., and four other 
companies were acquired. Assets and liabilities of these companies at the 
time of consolidation, cash paid for the capital and cash received in 
conjunction with the purchases of consolidated subsidiaries were as follows:

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of
 U.S. Dollars

Assets  ¥ 21,134  $ 237,466 
Goodwill   (46)   (524)
Liabilities   (12,976)   (145,804)
Minority interests   (7,273)   (81,719)
Cash paid for the capital   838   9,418 

Cash and cash equivalents of 
  consolidated subsidiaries   2,009   22,574 

Cash received in conjunction with the 
  purchases of consolidated subsidiaries—net ¥ 1,170  $ 13,156 

a. Lessee
(1) Finance leases
The Group leases certain store buildings, store equipment and other assets. 
Total rental expenses for the years ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 
2009 and 2010 were ¥265,509 million, ¥291,148 million and ¥287,949 
million ($3,235,390 thousand), respectively, including ¥19,237 million, 
¥16,746 million and ¥19,552 million ($219,688 thousand) of lease 
payments under finance leases.
 For the years ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010, 
the Group recorded an impairment loss of ¥1,669 million, ¥1,179 million 
and ¥2,578 million ($28,974 thousand), respectively, on certain leased 
property held under finance leases that do not transfer ownership and an 

allowance for impairment loss on leased property, which is included in other 
current liabilities and long-term liabilities–other.
 As discussed in Note 2.q, the Group accounts for leases which existed 
at the transition date and do not transfer ownership of the leased property 
to the lessee as operating lease transactions.
 Pro forma information of leased property such as acquisition cost, 
accumulated depreciation, accumulated impairment loss, obligations under 
finance leases, depreciation expense, interest expense and other information 
of finance leases that do not transfer ownership of the leased property to 
the lessee on an “as if capitalized” basis for the years ended February 20, 
2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010 for the Company and domestic 
consolidated subsidiaries was as follows:

15. Leases

Millions of  Yen

’09
Buildings and 

Structures
Furniture and 

Fixtures
Vehicles Total

Acquisition cost  ¥ 22,294  ¥ 56,024  ¥ 1,918  ¥ 80,237 

Accumulated depreciation   (7,598)   (30,220)   (1,052)   (38,871)

Accumulated impairment loss   (2,856)   (4,823)   (4)   (7,685)

Net leased property  ¥ 11,839  ¥ 20,980  ¥ 861  ¥ 33,680 

Millions of  Yen

’10
Buildings and 

Structures
Furniture and 

Fixtures
Vehicles Total

Acquisition cost  ¥ 106,043  ¥ 40,077  ¥ 1,648  ¥ 147,769 

Accumulated depreciation   (48,902)   (23,562)   (912)   (73,377)

Accumulated impairment loss   (4,530)   (3,882)   (110)   (8,523)

Net leased property  ¥ 52,610  ¥ 12,631  ¥ 625  ¥ 65,868 

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

’10
Buildings and 

Structures
Furniture and Fixtures Vehicles Total

Acquisition cost  $ 1,191,503  $ 450,303  $ 18,520  $ 1,660,326 

Accumulated depreciation   (549,464)   (264,747)   (10,248)   (824,460)

Accumulated impairment loss   (50,904)   (43,626)   (1,238)   (95,769)

Net leased property  $ 591,133  $ 141,929  $ 7,032  $ 740,096 
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Depreciation expense and interest expense, which are not reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, are computed by the straight-
line method and the interest method, respectively.

Note:  The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries have changed the lease classification of certain real-estate lease transactions which existed at 
the transition date based on the revised accounting standard for lease transactions (Note 2.q). The figures in the note for the year ended February 28, 
2010 include leases newly classified as finance leases that do not transfer ownership.

Note:  The Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries have changed the lease classification of certain real-estate lease transactions which existed at 
the transition date based on the revised accounting standard for lease transactions (Note 2.q). The figures above include leases newly classified as 
noncancelable operating lease.

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Due within one year  ¥ 128,370  $ 1,442,369 

Due after one year   793,928   8,920,550 

Total  ¥ 922,299  $ 10,362,919 

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Due within one year  ¥ 255  $ 2,873 

Due after one year   811   9,118 

Total  ¥ 1,067  $ 11,992 

b. Lessor
The Group leases certain store space to tenants and other assets.
Total rental revenues for the years ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010 were ¥227,316 million, ¥241,985 million and ¥244,016 million 
($2,741,763 thousand), respectively. The minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating leases at February 28, 2010 were as follows:

Obligations under finance leases:

Depreciation expense, interest expense and other information under finance leases:

(2) Operating leases
The minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating leases at February 28, 2010 were as follows:

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’09 ’10 ’10

Due within one year  ¥ 11,576  ¥ 13,003  $ 146,104 

Due after one year   26,820   69,099   776,402 

Total  ¥ 38,396  ¥ 82,103  $ 922,507 

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

’08 ’09 ’10 ’10

Depreciation expense  ¥ 15,522  ¥ 13,661  ¥ 14,533  $ 163,296 
Interest expense   1,156   1,384   3,805   42,755 
Total  ¥ 16,679  ¥ 15,046  ¥ 18,338  $ 206,051 
Reversal of allowance for impairment loss on leased property  ¥ 2,185  ¥ 1,824  ¥ 1,646  $ 18,500 
Impairment loss   1,669   1,179   2,578   28,974 

Allowance for impairment loss on leased property of ¥4,311 million ($48,439 thousand) as of February 28, 2010 is not included in obligations under 
finance leases.
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The Group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts and currency 
swap contracts to hedge foreign exchange risk associated with certain 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. The Group also 
enters into interest rate swap contracts, interest rate cap contracts and 
interest rate option contracts to manage its interest rate exposures on 
certain liabilities. 
 All derivative transactions are entered into to hedge interest and foreign 
currency exposures incorporated within its business. Accordingly, market 
risk in these derivatives is basically offset by opposite movements in the 

value of hedged assets or liabilities.
 Because the counterparties to these derivatives are limited to major 
international financial institutions, the Group does not anticipate any losses 
arising from credit risk.
 Derivative transactions entered into by the Group have been made in 
accordance with internal policies which regulate the authorization and credit 
limit amount.
 The Group had the following derivatives contracts outstanding at 
February 28, 2009 and 2010:

Derivatives which qualify for hedge accounting for the years ended February 
28, 2009 and 2010 are excluded from the disclosure of market information.
 The contract or notional amounts of derivatives which are shown in the 
above table do not represent the amounts exchanged by the parties and do 

not measure the Group’s exposure to credit or market risk.
 The fair value of forward exchange contracts represents the unrealized 
gain (loss) for the year ended February 28, 2010.

16. Derivatives

Millions of  Yen

’10
Contract Amount Fair Value Unrealized Gain (Loss)

Forward exchange contracts: Buy (U.S. dollar) ¥         11 

 Buy (Malaysia Ringgit) 1,268 

 Sell (U.S. dollar) 38,895 ¥     (109) ¥     (109)

Currency option contracts Buy (U.S. dollar) 71 (2) (2)

 Sell (U.S. dollar) 142 (4) (4)

Currency swap contracts Thai baht payment, yen receipt 2,906 

 Malaysia Ringgit payment, yen receipt 2,084 29 29 

 Malaysia Ringgit payment, U.S. dollar receipt 808 (12) (12)

Interest rate swap contracts Receive floating, pay fixed 828 

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

’10
Contract Amount Fair Value Unrealized Gain (Loss)

Forward exchange contracts: Buy (U.S. dollar) $       130 

 Buy (Malaysia Ringgit) 14,253 $          5 $          5 

 Sell (U.S. dollar) 437,033 (1,227) (1,227)

Currency option contracts Buy (U.S. dollar) 801 (25) (25)

 Sell (U.S. dollar) 1,603 (47) (47)

Currency swap contracts Thai baht payment, yen receipt 32,654 

 Malaysia Ringgit payment, yen receipt 23,418 336 336 

 Malaysia Ringgit payment, U.S. dollar receipt 9,084 (135) (135)

Interest rate swap contracts Receive floating, pay fixed 9,303 

Millions of  Yen

’09
Contract Amount Fair Value Unrealized Loss

Forward exchange contracts: Sell (U.S. dollar) ¥19,168 ¥19,468 ¥299 
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Basic and diluted net income per share (“EPS”) for the years ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010 are as follows:

a. Commitments
The Company has agreements with J-one Assets Corporation (“J-one”), an 
unconsolidated special purpose entity (“SPE”, see Note 21), under which it 
is committed to execute loans as the first back-up line for the Asset Backed 
Commercial Paper program of J-one, unless certain agreed-upon terms 
such as the default of J-one are met. In cases when the Company cannot 
finance the loans under this agreement to J-one, a certain financial 
institution has agreed to provide loans to J-one instead of the Company. At 
February 28, 2010, the total unused credit available to J-one is ¥30,000 
million ($337,078 thousand).
 The consolidated financial services subsidiaries have agreements under 
which they are committed to card members to execute loans as long as the 
agreed-upon terms are met. At February 28, 2010, the total unused credit  
available to card members is ¥5,323,840 million ($59,818,426 thousand).

b. Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities at February 28, 2010 for guarantees of personal loans 
were ¥2,754 million ($30,948 thousand).
 A certain consolidated subsidiary entered into noncancelable operating 
lease contracts with Forester Special Purpose Company (“Forester”), an 
unconsolidated SPE incorporated by the Law on the Securitization of Assets 
in Japan. In connection with these lease contracts, the consolidated 
subsidiary also entered into a total rate of return swap contracts with 
Forester, principally to swap repayments of ¥8,700 million ($97,752 

thousand) senior secured note issued by Forester for construction of leased 
assets and certain proceeds from sales of the leased assets.
 A certain consolidated subsidiary entered into noncancelable operating 
lease contracts with Neo Pas FIS Ltd. (“Neo Pas”), an unconsolidated SPE. 
In these lease contracts, the consolidated subsidiary has agreed that when 
Neo Pas incurs losses on the sales of the beneficiary rights to trustees 
representing the ownership of the leased land at the end of the 
noncancelable lease term, the consolidated subsidiary will compensate Neo 
Pas for a certain portion of the losses up to ¥4,400 million ($49,438 
thousand). In addition, if the sales price is below 50% of the acquisition cost 
of these beneficiary rights, the consolidated subsidiary is also obligated to 
compensate half of the deficiency up to ¥5,150 million ($57,865 thousand).
 Certain consolidated subsidiaries entered into noncancelable operating 
lease contracts with unconsolidated SPEs, named as Takakura Funding 
Corporation and Mebius Alfa (“SPEs”). SPEs financed the construction of 
the lease assets from financial institutions, and the consolidated subsidiaries 
entered into a contract with these financial institutions, which entitles the 
financial institutions with put options to sell a portion of their senior secured 
loans to SPEs in certain cases including their insolvency. If the financial 
institutions exercise their put options, the consolidated subsidiaries will be 
able to terminate these lease contracts with SPEs. The borrowings of SPEs 
from the financial institutions and minimum lease payment under these 
lease contracts as of February 28, 2010 were ¥9,815 million ($110,284 
thousand) and ¥13,299 million ($149,430 thousand), respectively.

18. Net income per share

17. Commitments and contingent liabilities

Millions of  Yen Thousands of Shares Yen

Year Ended February 20, 2008 Net Income Weighted-average Shares EPS

Basic EPS:

Net income  ¥ 43,932 

Net income available to common shareholders  ¥ 43,932   787,955  ¥ 55.75 

Effect of dilutive securities—Warrants of the Company   55

Diluted EPS—Net income for computation  ¥ 43,932   788,010  ¥ 55.75 

Millions of  Yen Thousands of Shares Yen

Year Ended February 28, 2009 Net Income Weighted-average Shares EPS

Basic EPS:

Net loss  ¥ (2,760)

Net loss available to common shareholders  ¥ (2,760)   765,123  ¥ (3.61)

Diluted EPS is not disclosed because of net loss position.
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Millions of  Yen Thousands of Shares Yen U.S. Dollars

Year Ended February 28, 2010 Net Income
Weighted-average 

Shares
EPS

Basic EPS:

Net income  ¥ 31,123 

Net income available to common shareholders  ¥ 31,123   765,123  ¥ 40.68  $ 0.45 

Effect of dilutive securities—Mainly convertible bonds with 
   stock acquisition rights of the Company

  28,481 

Diluted EPS—Net income for computation  ¥ 31,123   793,604  ¥ 39.21  $ 0.44 

The Company adopted “Accounting Standard for Related Party Disclosures” (ASBJ Statement No. 11 issued on October 17, 2006) and “Guidance on 
Accounting Standard for Related Party Disclosures” (ASBJ Guidance No. 13 issued on October 17, 2006) for the year ended February 28, 2010. As a result of 
this adoption, summarized financial information of significant associated companies is required to be disclosed.

Note to significant associated company
For the year ended February 28, 2010, Aeon Bank, Ltd. is the significant associated company. Its summarized financial information is as follows:

19. Related party transactions

Millions of  Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Total assets ¥ 715,474 $ 8,039,033 
Total liabilities 660,257 7,418,617 
Total equity 55,217 620,415 

Ordinary income 10,441 117,314 
Loss before income taxes (15,324) (172,179) 
Net loss (15,371) (172,707) 

The Company separates its operations into four segments, which consist of 
GMS and other retail store operations, specialty store operations, SC 
development operations and service and other operations, and reviews 
operating results of the segments to make decisions about resources to be 
allocated to the segments and to assess its performance regularly.
 GMS and other retail store operations include mainly GMS, 
supermarket, convenience store and department store operations. Stores in 
this segment offer various types of goods. The specialty store operations 
include women’s apparel, casual wear items for men and women, cosmetics 
and toiletries, and shoes. The Company’s management assesses the 
operating results of stores categorized in this segment separately from 
those of GMS because of the differences in target customers and level of 

value added to the merchandise.
 The SC development operations provide store development and rental 
services. The service and other operations segment includes credit card 
operations, consumer financing, amusement facility operator, restaurants 
and store maintenance.
 The Company also separates its operations into three geographic areas, 
which consist of Japan, North America and Asia and Others. This 
segmentation is based on location of operations.
 Information about industry segments, geographic segments and sales 
to foreign customers of the Company and consolidated subsidiaries for the 
years ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010 is as follows:

20. Segment information
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(1) Industry segments
a. Sales and operating income (loss)

Millions of  Yen

’08

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Sales to customers  ¥ 4,094,073  ¥ 636,795  ¥ 99,745  ¥ 336,752  ¥ 5,167,366 

Intersegment sales   39,614   3,086   42,195   398,752  ¥ (483,648)

Total revenues   4,133,688   639,881   141,940   735,504   (483,648)   5,167,366 

Operating expenses   4,064,346   640,438   106,107   683,764   (483,331)   5,011,325 

Operating income (loss)  ¥ 69,341  ¥ (556)  ¥ 35,832  ¥ 51,740  ¥ (316)  ¥ 156,040 

Millions of  Yen

’08

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Total assets  ¥ 1,815,157  ¥ 367,371  ¥ 578,101  ¥ 1,038,363  ¥ (207,586)  ¥ 3,591,406 

Depreciation and amortization   82,120   21,171   15,622   15,542   134,457 

Impairment loss   20,725   19,886   5,492   234   46,339 

Capital expenditures   170,496   19,324   48,327   32,356   270,505 

Notes: 1.  Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 20, 2008 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and investment securities maintained with 
regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 20, 2008 were ¥30,768 million.

 2.  The effect of adoption of the new accounting standard for business combinations described in Note 2.d was to decrease operating income of GMS and other retail store operations, specialty store operations,  
SC development operations and service and other operations for the year ended February 20, 2008 by ¥3,078 million, ¥2,110 million, ¥2,938 million and ¥218 million respectively, from such segments in the 
prior year.

b. Total assets, depreciation, impairment loss and capital expenditures

a. Sales and operating income (loss)

Millions of  Yen

’09

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Sales to customers  ¥ 4,167,302  ¥ 591,899  ¥ 110,316  ¥ 361,268  ¥ 5,230,786 

Intersegment sales   47,880   4,891   47,851   578,163  ¥ (678,788)

Total revenues   4,215,182   596,790   158,168   939,432   (678,788)   5,230,786 

Operating expenses   4,159,882   614,840   118,635   891,448   (678,393)   5,106,412 

Operating income (loss)  ¥ 55,300  ¥ (18,049)  ¥ 39,532  ¥ 47,983  ¥ (394)  ¥ 124,373 
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Millions of  Yen

’10

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Sales to customers  ¥ 4,040,525  ¥ 536,576  ¥ 114,449  ¥ 362,844  ¥ 5,054,394 

Intersegment sales   45,949   7,149   51,126   707,875  ¥ (812,101)

Total revenues   4,086,474   543,725   165,575   1,070,719   (812,101)   5,054,394 

Operating expenses   4,042,287   544,367   127,537   1,026,931   (816,923)   4,924,200 

Operating income (loss)  ¥ 44,186  ¥ (642)  ¥ 38,038  ¥ 43,788  ¥ 4,821  ¥ 130,193 

a. Sales and operating income (loss)

b. Total assets, depreciation, impairment loss and capital expenditures

Millions of  Yen

’10

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Total assets  ¥ 1,906,829  ¥ 311,848  ¥ 709,700  ¥ 1,190,133  ¥ (333,224)  ¥ 3,785,288 

Depreciation and amortization   89,033   12,984   23,921   22,593   937   149,469 

Impairment loss   22,763   2,685   662   610   26,723 

Capital expenditures   198,812   11,052   77,233   20,291   307,390 

b. Total assets, depreciation, impairment loss and capital expenditures

Millions of  Yen

’09

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Total assets  ¥ 1,844,043  ¥ 324,417  ¥ 672,569  ¥ 1,102,795  ¥ (202,377)  ¥ 3,741,447 

Depreciation and amortization   91,301   17,241   20,120   19,063   778   148,505 

Impairment loss   18,811   35,341   921   510   55,584 

Capital expenditures   225,934   16,940   78,236   28,675   349,786 

Notes: 1.  Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 28, 2009 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and investment securities maintained with 
regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 28, 2009 were ¥103,282 million.

 2.  In accordance with the demerger implemented on August 21, 2008, the Company became a pure holding company and the classification of its business concerning control, management and Group operations 
over its subsidiaries and associated companies has changed to “Eliminations/corporate” from “GMS and other retail store operations.” The effect of the change of classification for the year ended February 28, 
2009 was to decrease intersegment sales of GMS and other retail store operations, operating expenses of GMS and other retail store operations and specialty store operations, SC development operations, 
service and other operations and total assets of GMS and other retail store operations by ¥2,716 million, ¥758 million, ¥138 million, ¥293 million, ¥108 million and ¥71,897 million, respectively, from such 
segments in the prior year.

 3.  Amortization of goodwill is included in “Depreciation and amortization” of each segment from the year ended February 28, 2009. As for the year ended February 20, 2008, the amounts of amortization of 
goodwill in GMS and other retail store operations, specialty store operations, SC development operations and service and other operations were ¥3,078 million, ¥2,110 million, ¥2,938 million and ¥218 
million, respectively.

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

’10

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Sales to customers  $ 45,399,160  $ 6,028,946  $ 1,285,944  $ 4,076,899  $ 56,790,951 

Intersegment sales   516,283   80,329   574,458   7,953,662  $ (9,124,733)

Total revenues   45,915,443   6,109,275   1,860,403   12,030,561   (9,124,733)   56,790,951 

Operating expenses   45,418,965   6,116,491   1,433,003   11,538,552   (9,178,912)   55,328,101 

Operating income (loss)  $ 496,478  $ (7,215)  $ 427,400  $ 492,008  $ 54,178  $ 1,462,850 

a. Sales and operating income (loss)
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Millions of  Yen

’08

Japan North America Asia and Others
Eliminations/

Corporate
Consolidated

Sales to customers  ¥ 4,590,918   ¥ 264,586  ¥ 311,862  ¥ 5,167,366 

Interarea transfer   1,735   1,616   3,112  ¥ (6,465)

Total revenues   4,592,654    266,203   314,974   (6,465)   5,167,366 

Operating expenses   4,454,577    268,311   294,828   (6,391)   5,011,325 

Operating income (loss)  ¥ 138,077  ¥ (2,108)  ¥ 20,146  ¥ (73)  ¥ 156,040 

Total assets  ¥ 3,041,372  ¥ 169,878  ¥ 354,498  ¥ 25,657  ¥ 3,591,406 

Notes: 1. Major countries and areas included in each geographic segment are as follows:
  North America: the United States of America and Canada 
  Asia and Others: China, Korea, Taiwan, Malaysia, Thailand, Singapore, Indonesia and Australia
 2.  Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 20, 2008 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and investment securities maintained with 

regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 20, 2008 were ¥30,768 million.
 3.  The effect of adoption of the new accounting standard for business combinations described in Note 2.d was to decrease operating income of Japan and of Asia and other for the year ended February 20, 

2008 by ¥7,228 million and ¥1,118 million, respectively, from such segments in the prior year. 

(2) Geographical segments
The geographical segments of the Company and its subsidiaries for the years ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010 are summarized as follows:

b. Total assets, depreciation, impairment loss and capital expenditures

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

’10

GMS and 
Other Retail Store 

Operations 

Specialty Store 
Operations

SC Development 
Operations

Service and Other 
Operations

Eliminations/
Corporate

Consolidated

Total assets  $ 21,425,052  $ 3,503,914  $ 7,974,159  $ 13,372,290  $ (3,744,091)  $ 42,531,326 

Depreciation and amortization   1,000,381   145,888   268,776   253,854   10,533   1,679,434 

Impairment loss   255,772   30,179   7,444   6,864   300,260 

Capital expenditures   2,233,844   124,190   867,792   227,999   3,453,827 

Notes: 1.  Operating expenses of “Eliminations/corporate” include unallocatable operating expenses of ¥12,136 million ($136,360 thousand), which is mainly composed of the expenses concerning the pure holding 
company function.

 2.  Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 28, 2010 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and investment securities maintained with 
regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 28, 2010 were ¥131,695 million ($1,479,725 thousand).

 3.  The effect of adoption of the new accounting standards for measurement of inventories (Note 2.f), lease transactions (Note 2.q) and practical solution on unification of accounting policies applied to foreign 
subsidiaries for the consolidated financial statements (Note 2.b) was not considered material to segment information for the year ended February 28, 2010. 

Millions of  Yen

’09

Japan North America Asia and Others
Eliminations/

Corporate
Consolidated

Sales to customers  ¥ 4,726,499  ¥ 199,766  ¥ 304,520  ¥ 5,230,786 

Interarea transfer   1,351   427   3,206  ¥ (4,985)

Total revenues   4,727,850   200,193   307,727   (4,985)   5,230,786 

Operating expenses   4,610,123   215,311   287,351   (6,374)   5,106,412 

Operating income (loss)  ¥ 117,727  ¥ (15,118)  ¥ 20,375  ¥ 1,389  ¥ 124,373 

Total assets  ¥ 3,273,529  ¥ 112,220  ¥ 329,039  ¥ 26,658  ¥ 3,741,447 

Notes: 1.  Major countries and areas included in each geographic segment are as follows:
  North America: the United States of America and Canada 
  Asia and Others: China, Korea, Taiwan, Malaysia, Thailand, Singapore, Indonesia, Vietnam and Australia
 2.  Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 28, 2009 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and investment securities maintained with 

regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 28, 2009 were ¥103,282 million.
 3.  In accordance with the demerger implemented on August 21, 2008, the Company became a pure holding company and the classification of its business concerning control, management and group operations 

over its subsidiaries and associated companies has changed to “Eliminations/corporate” from “Japan.”
   The effect of the change of classification for the year ended February 28, 2009 was to decrease intersegment sales of Japan by ¥481 million, increase operating expenses of Japan by ¥936 million and 

decrease total assets of Japan by ¥69,448 million, from such segments in the prior year.
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Millions of  Yen

’10

Japan North America Asia and Others
Eliminations/

Corporate
Consolidated

Sales to customers  ¥ 4,636,406  ¥ 132,232  ¥ 285,756  ¥ 5,054,394 

Interarea transfer   995   3,449  ¥ (4,445)

Total revenues   4,637,401   132,232   289,206   (4,445)   5,054,394 

Operating expenses   4,529,032   130,885   275,155   (10,872)   4,924,200 

Operating income  ¥ 108,369  ¥ 1,346  ¥ 14,050  ¥ 6,427  ¥ 130,193 

Total assets  ¥ 3,413,020  ¥ 79,138  ¥ 352,115  ¥ (58,986)  ¥ 3,785,288 

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

’10

Japan North America Asia and Others
Eliminations/

Corporate
Consolidated

Sales to customers  $ 52,094,452  $ 1,485,755  $ 3,210,744  $ 56,790,951 

Interarea transfer   11,187   38,761  $ (49,949)

Total revenues   52,105,640   1,485,755   3,249,505   (49,949)   56,790,951 

Operating expenses   50,888,005   1,470,621   3,091,639   (122,165)   55,328,101 

Operating income  $ 1,217,635  $ 15,134  $ 157,865  $ 72,215  $ 1,462,850 

Total assets  $ 38,348,550  $ 889,194  $ 3,956,351  $ (662,770)  $ 42,531,326 

Notes: 1.  Major countries and areas included in each geographic segment are as follows:
  North America: the United States of America and Canada
  Asia and Others: China, Korea, Taiwan, Malaysia, Thailand, Singapore, Indonesia, Vietnam and Australia
 2.  Operating expenses of “Eliminations/corporate” include unallocatable operating expenses of ¥12,136 million ($136,360 thousand), which is mainly composed of the expenses concerning the pure holding 

company function.
 3.  Total assets of “Eliminations/corporate” at February 28, 2010 include corporate assets, consisting primarily of cash, time deposits, securities, other current assets and investment securities maintained with 

regard to corporate finance activities. Corporate assets as of February 28, 2010 were ¥131,695 million ($1,479,725 thousand).
 4.  The effect of adoption of the new accounting standards for measurement of inventories (Note 2.f), lease transactions (Note 2.q) and practical solution on unification of accounting policies applied to foreign 

subsidiaries for the consolidated financial statements (Note 2.b) was not considered material to segment information for the year ended February 28, 2010.

(3) Sales to foreign customers
Sales to foreign customers for the years ended February 20, 2008, February 28, 2009 and 2010 amounted to ¥576,448 million, ¥504,287 million and 
¥417,988 million ($4,696,499 thousand), respectively.
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a. Sales of shares in a subsidiary
On December 8, 2009, the Company, BPW Acquisition Corp., Aeon 
(U.S.A.), Inc. (“Aeon U.S.A.”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, 
and The Talbots, Inc. (“Talbots”), a specialty retailer of women’s apparel 
and a consolidated subsidiary of Aeon U.S.A., entered into Repurchase, 
Repayment and Support Agreement (the “Agreement”). Since all terms 
and conditions set forth in the Agreement were satisfied on April 7, 2010, 
Aeon U.S.A. sold all of its shares of Talbots (approximately 29.9 million 
shares, 54% of ownership in Talbots) to Talbots. As a result, Talbots was 
excluded from the scope of consolidation at the beginning of fiscal year 
ending February 28, 2011.
 In connection with the sales of shares to Talbots, the Company and 
Aeon U.S.A. collected from Talbots loan receivables of $436.5 million 
(¥40,934 million) and $50 million (¥4,689 million), respectively. 
 The number of shares sold, consideration received, gains or losses on the 
sales and percentage of ownership after the sales to Talbots are as follows:
(1) Number of shares sold: 29,921,829 shares
(2)  Consideration received: As consideration for the shares sold to Talbots, 

Aeon U.S.A. received one million Talbots’ warrants; each warrant gives a 
holder the right to purchase one Talbots common share at a certain 
exercise price. The Company is in the process of measuring the fair 
value of such warrants.

(3)  Gain/loss on the sales: The Company is currently evaluating gain/loss 
on the sales determined under U.S. GAAP in the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ending February 28, 2011.

(4) Post-transaction percentage of ownership: 0%
  If Aeon U.S.A. exercises the one million warrants and obtains common 

shares of Talbots, the percentage of ownership in Talbots would be 
approximately 1%.

Note:  Japanese yen amounts above were converted from the U.S. dollar at the exchange rate of ¥93.78 
to U.S. dollar on April 7, 2010.

b. Appropriations of retained earnings
The following appropriations of retained earnings at February 28, 2010
were resolved at the Board of Directors meeting held on April 14, 2010:

Millions of  Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

Year-end cash dividends,
  ¥20 ($0.2) per share ¥ 15,304 $ 171,955

Note: Cash dividend per share includes commemorative dividend of ¥3.00.

22. Subsequent event

Certain consolidated subsidiaries (“the consolidated subsidiaries”) 
securitized their fixed leasehold deposits through the special purpose entity 
(“SPE”), which was established in the Cayman Islands, to broaden its fund-
raising sources and to finance stably. Under the securitization scheme, the 
consolidated subsidiaries transferred their fixed leasehold deposits to SPE, 
and SPE issued commercial paper backed by the transferred deposits and 
paid the consideration for the transferred assets to the consolidated 
subsidiaries by the proceeds from issuance of the commercial paper. The 
Group had no investments nor voting rights in SPE or dispatched no 
directors, officers or employees to SPE. SPE has an option to sell the 
transferred fixed leasehold deposits back to the consolidated subsidiaries in 
certain cases, including lessors’ insolvency, and the consolidated 
subsidiaries provide for the allowance for loss on credit risk of transferred 
leasehold deposits.
 The Company has concluded a loan commitment agreement and a 
service agreement with SPE. Under the loan commitment agreement with 
SPE, the Company commits to execute loans upon request as the first 
backup line for the Asset Backed Commercial Paper program of SPE, unless 
certain agreed-upon terms such as the default of SPE are met. In cases 
when the Company cannot execute loans to SPE under this agreement, a 

certain financial institution is obliged to execute loans to SPE on behalf of 
the Company. During the fiscal year 2010, the Company executed loans 
totaling ¥6,933 million ($77,898 thousand) and all loans were repaid by the 
end of the fiscal year 2010. 
 As of February 28, 2010, SPE was excluded from the scope of 
consolidation pursuant to Article 8 paragraph 7 of the Financial Statements 
regulations for terminology, Forms and Preparation of Financial Statements 
and was subject to the disclosure requirements in accordance with ASBJ 
Implementation Guidance No. 15, “Implementation Guidance on Disclosures 
about Certain Special Purpose Entities.” 
 The total assets and total liabilities of SPE as of its most recent balance 
sheet date were ¥10,426 million ($117,147 thousand) and ¥10,415 million 
($117,028 thousand), respectively. 
 The deposits transferred from the consolidated subsidiaries to SPE in 
the fiscal year 2008 amounted to ¥9,499 million ($106,736 thousand), and 
the Group did not transfer its deposits to SPE in the fiscal year 2009 and 
2010. The Company recognized receivables related to its administrative 
service of ¥58 million ($654 thousand) as of February 28, 2010, and 
servicing fees received of ¥58 million ($654 thousand) and interest income 
of ¥6 million ($68 thousand) for the year ended February 28, 2010.

21. Disclosure of special purpose entities
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Corporate History

1758

  First Sozaemon Okada establishes 
Shinoharaya in Yokkaichi and 
begins trading in kimono fabrics and 
accessories.

1887

  Fifth Soemon Okada moves 
Shinoharaya, located in Yokkaichi-
kyuroku machi, to Yokkaichi-tsuji machi. 
Shinoharaya changes name to Okadaya.

1920

  Okadaya discounts products during the 
big economic crash after World War I, 
following the family motto, “Earn when 
markets are going downward, not up.”

1926

Sept.  Sixth Soemon Okada restructures 
Okadaya as a joint stock company. 
Okadaya Kimono Fabric Store 
established with ¥250,000 in capital.

1937

Nov.  Kazuichi Futagi establishes Futagi 
Clothing Store in Himeji.

1946

June  Takuya Okada named President of 
Okadaya Kimono Fabric Store.

1949

July  Futagi Clothing Store restructured as a 
joint stock company to establish Futagi 
with ¥1,000,000 in capital. Kazuichi 
Futagi named President.

1955

Aug.  Jiro Inoue establishes Iida (later Shiro) 
in Toyonaka.

1959

Nov.  Okadaya Kimono Fabric Store changes 
name to Okadaya (¥15 million in capital).

1968

May  Business tie-up established between 
Okadaya and Futagi based on merger.

June  Shiro joins the partnership between 
Okadaya and Futagi.

1969

Feb.  Jusco established as a cooperative 
purchasing structure through a joint 
venture of Okadaya, Futagi and Shiro, 
with ¥600 million in authorized capital 
and ¥150 million in paid-in capital.  

Mar.  Jusco and Mitsubishi Corporation 
establish a 50-50 joint-venture 
developer, Diamond City.

1970

Mar.  First merger: Okadaya merges with 
Futagi, Okadaya Chain, Kawamura and 
Jusco and changes name to Jusco the 
following month.

1972

Aug.  Second merger: Jusco merges with 
Yamateya, Yamateya Sangyo and 
Keihan Jusco (former Shiro), with 
capital of ¥777.5 million.

1974

June  R. MI. Jusco Farm (current Tasmania 
Feedlot) established in Australia.

Sept.  Jusco listed on the Second Sections of 
the Tokyo, Osaka and Nagoya Stock 
Exchanges.

1976

Aug.  Jusco moves up to the First Sections 
of the Tokyo, Osaka and Nagoya Stock 
Exchanges from the Second Sections.

Aug.  Jusco newly establishes a 
headquarters in Tokyo and begins the 
“Two headquarters, one branch system” 
including the Osaka headquarters and 
the Chubu branch.

1980

Sept.  Jusco Card issued.

Dec.  Joint venture, Abilities Jusco, 
established with Japan Abilities 
Incorporated.

1984

Sept.  Jaya Jusco Stores established in 
Malaysia.

Oct.  Business tie-up concluded with U.K.’s 
Laura Ashley.

Dec.  Siam Jusco established in Thailand.

1985

June  Jaya Jusco Stores opens Dayabumi 
Store in Malaysia, the first overseas 
store for Jusco.

Dec.  Jusco Stores (Hong Kong) established.

1986

Feb.  Laura Ashley Japan established as a 
joint venture between Jusco and U.K.’s 
Laura Ashley.

Oct.  Shinshu Jusco becomes the first 
subsidiary of Jusco Group listed on the 
Second Section of the Nagoya Stock 
Exchange.

1988

June  Talbots, a U.S. women’s fashion 
specialty chain store, joins Jusco 
Group.

Sept.  Wellmart listed on the OTC market.

1989

Sept.  Jusco Group changes name to Aeon 
Group, and Aeon Group 1% Club 
established.

Oct.  Diamond City listed on the Second 
Section of the Osaka Stock Exchange.

1990

Apr.  Business tie-up established with U.K.-
based The Body Shop.

June  Ministop concludes a contract for 
technical support with Miwon Trading 
and Shipping (current Ministop Korea) 
of South Korea.

June  Aeon Forest established to carry out 
domestic operations of The Body Shop.

Aug.  Cox listed on the OTC market.

Aug.  Aeon Group participates in 
management of U.K.’s Laura Ashley.

1991

Jan.  Aeon Group Environmental Foundation 
established.

Sept.  Business and capital tie-up established 
with a home center operator, Keiyo.

Oct.  Jaya Jusco Stores Malacca Store 
starts tree-planting under the 
“Hometown Forests Program.”

1992

Jan.  Jusco, Keiyo and Ishiguro Homa 
conclude a business and capital tie-up.

Apr.  Twenty thousand trees planted at 
the Jusco Shin Hisai Store, the first 
Japanese store of the “Hometown 
Forests Program.”

Oct.  Aeon Group Environmental Foundation 
officially recognized 
as a corporation operating for the 
public good.

1993

July  Ministop listed on the Second Section 
of the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

Nov.  Talbots in the U.S. listed on the New 
York Stock Exchange.

1994

Feb.  Jusco Stores (Hong Kong) listed on 
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

July  Business tie-up established with 
Claire’s Stores in the U.S.

Sept.  Private brand Topvalu launched.

Nov.  Business and capital tie-up established 
with a large liquor discount store chain 
operator, Yamaya.

Dec.  Aeon Credit Service listed on the OTC 
market.
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1995

Jan.  Business and capital tie-up established 
between Jusco and Tsuruha.

Feb.  My Land Shoes changes name to Nustep 
after merging with Diamond Takada.

Aug.  Ishiguro Homa, Make and Ishiguro 
Jusco merge to establish Homac.

Sept.  Aeon Credit Service (Asia) listed on the 
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Nov.  Blue Grass listed on the OTC market.

Dec.  Guangdong Jusco Teem Stores 
established.

Dec.  Jusco becomes a capital participant 
in Home Wide, a home center chain in 
Kyushu.

1996

Mar. Qingdao Dongtai Jusco established.

July   Guangdong Jusco Teem Stores opens 
Jusco’s first store in China, Jusco Teem 
Plaza Store, in Guangzhou, Guangdong 
Province.

July   Jusco, Mitsubishi Corporation and 
Mitsubishi Shoji Sekiyu Co., Ltd. jointly 
finance the establishment of a service 
station chain, Mega Petro.

July   First Japan store of Sports Authority, 
the largest sporting goods store in the 
U.S., opened by Mega Sports in Nagoya.

Aug.  Ministop moves from the Second 
Section of the Tokyo Stock Exchange 
to the First Section.

Dec.  Aeon Credit Service listed on the 
Second Section of the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange.

Dec.  Jaya Jusco Stores listed on the main 
board of the Kuala Lumpur Stock 
Exchange.

1997

Feb.  Aeon Fantasy established to operate the 
amusement business of Aeon Group.

Feb.  Jusco Maintenance changes name to 
Aeon Techno Service.

June  Motoya Okada named President of 
Jusco.

1998

July  Jusco becomes a capital participant in 
Kojima, the largest pet shop chain in 
Japan, to establish the fully capitalized 
Petcity.

July  Jusco cooperates with a major 
American fashion apparel specialty 
chain, Liz Claiborne.

July  Aeon Group Environmental Foundation 
starts planting trees under the “Great 
Wall Reforestation Project.”

Aug.   Aeon Credit Service moves from the 
Second Section of the Tokyo Stock 
Exchange to the First Section.

1999

Jan.  Jusco and Tsuruha become capital 
participants in Kraft, the largest 
dispensing pharmacy chain in Japan. 

Feb.  Liz Japan established as a joint venture 
between Jusco and Liz Claiborne.

Apr.  Cinema complex operator, Aeon 
Cinemas established.

Apr.  Donations for Battambang Prosthesis 
Center in Cambodia given to Japanese 
Red Cross Society.

July  Second tree-planting session of the 
“Great Wall Reforestation Project” held.

Aug.  Jusco merges with Shinshu Jusco and 
Ogiya Jusco.

Aug.  Kyushu Jusco and Asahi Jusco merge.

Aug.  Primart and Okinawa Jusco merge to 
establish Ryukyu Jusco.

Aug.  Jusco, Tsuruha and Drug Eleven 
establish a business tie-up, becoming 
a capital participant in Drug Eleven.

2000

Jan.  Jusco, Tsuruha and Sugi Pharmacy 
establish a business and capital tie-up.

Feb.  Jusco and Greencross · Coa establish a 
business and capital tie-up.

Feb.  Jusco merges with Hokuriku Jusco. 

Mar.  Yaohan Japan changes name to 
Yaohan and joins Aeon Group.

Mar.  Rejuvenation of private brand Topvalu 
announced.

Mar.  Second round of donations for 
Battambang Prosthesis Center in 
Cambodia given to Japanese Red 
Cross Society.

Apr.  Jusco and Hac-kimisawa establish a 
business and capital tie-up.

May  Jusco and Sugi Pharmacy become 
capital and business participants in 
Takiya Shoji. They establish a business 
tie-up. 

May  Third tree-planting session of the “Great 
Wall Reforestation Project” held.

May  Takuya Okada retires as Chairman 
of Jusco and becomes Honorary 
Chairman and Adviser. Toshiji Tokiwa 
becomes Chairman.

May  Tohoku Wellmart changes name to 
Maxvalu Tohoku.

June  Jusco obtains ISO 14001 certification 
for all of its offices and stores.

Aug.  Kyushu Jusco listed on the OTC market.

Aug.  Maxvalu Tohoku listed on the Second 
Section of the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

Aug.  Wellmart and Sanyo Maxvalu merge and 
change name to Maxvalu Nishinihon.

Sept.  Aeon Group acquires Organic-JAS 
certification for Topvalu “Gurinai” 
organic produce and organic frozen 
vegetables from Ministry of Agriculture, 
Forestry and Fisheries of Japan.

Oct.  Sapporo Food Center and Hokkaido 
Jusco merge and change name to 
Maxvalu Hokkaido.

Oct.  Frex Acore changes name to Maxvalu 
Chubu.

2001

Jan.  Aeon Welcia Stores selected as a 
group name for the Aeon Group 
Pharmacy and Drugstore Alliance 
(Tentative).

Feb.  Welpark joins Aeon Welcia Stores.

Mar.  Maxvalu Nishinihon integrates Mammy, 
a supermarket chain in Yamaguchi.

Mar.  Third round of donations for 
Battambang Prosthesis Center in 
Cambodia given to Japanese Red 
Cross Society.

June  Aeon Kosan changes name to Aeon Mall.

July  Donations for a school construction 
program in Cambodia given to Japan 
Committee for UNICEF.

Aug.  Takiya Shoji and Drux merge and 
change name to Takiya.

Aug.  Jusco Co., Ltd. becomes Aeon Co., 
Ltd. and Aeon Group changes name to 
Aeon. “Global 10” vision announced.

Oct.  Greencross · Coa listed on the OTC 
market.

Dec.  Aeon Thana Sinsap (Thailand) listed on 
the Thai Stock Exchange.

2002

Feb.  Aeon Fantasy listed on the OTC market.

Mar.  Yaohan recovery plan completed, and 
Yaohan changes name to Maxvalu Tokai.

Mar.  Yamaya listed on the Second Section 
of the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

Mar.  Maxvalu Kyushu established.

May  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Drug Terashima 
establish a business and capital tie-up.

May  Shenzhen Aeon Friendship (current 
Shenzhen Aeon) established in 
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, China.

May  Tsuruha listed on the First Section of 
the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

May  Hallo joins Aeon.

July  Aeon Mall listed on the First Section of 
the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

Aug.  Second round of donations for a school 
construction program in Cambodia 
given to Japan Committee for UNICEF.
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Sept.  “Shiretoko Reforestation and 
Tree-planting Project” held.

Nov.  Diamond City listed on the Second 
Section of the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

2003

Feb.  Diamond City listed on the First 
Sections of the Tokyo and Osaka Stock 
Exchanges.

May  Aeon Co., Ltd. moves to a Company 
with Committees system.

June  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Kasumi establish a 
business and capital tie-up.

July  Taiwan Aeon Stores opens its first 
regional Jusco store, Jusco Xinzhu 
Store, in Taiwan.

July  Third round of donations for a school 
construction program in Cambodia 
given to Japan Committee for UNICEF.

Aug.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Sunday establish a 
business and capital tie-up.

Sept.  Kyushu Jusco and Home Wide merge 
to establish Aeon Kyushu.

Nov.  Mycal and Mycal Kyushu join Aeon.

Nov.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Posfūl establish a 
business and capital tie-up.

Nov.  Aeon Fantasy listed on the Second 
Section of the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

Nov.  Maxvalu Kyushu merges with Nishi 
Kyushu Wellmart and Hallo.

2004

Jan.  Gourmet D’Or and Jack merge.

Apr.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Inageya establish a 
business tie-up.

June Joy joins Aeon.

June  Donations for a school construction 
program in Nepal given to Japan 
Committee for UNICEF.

July  Maxvalu Tokai relisted on the Second 
Section of the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

Aug.  Aeon Co., Ltd. increases its capital 
through a public offering of 27 million 
shares and implements share split.

Sept.  “ ” brand message 
launched as a new brand strategy.

Sept.  Aeon Co., Ltd. announces its 
participation in the United Nations 
Global Compact.

Sept.  Jaya Jusco Stores Bhd. holds a 
tree-planting event in Malaysia to 
commemorate its 20th anniversary and 
changes name to Aeon Co. (M) Bhd. 

Sept.  Aeon (China) established in Shenzhen 
City, Guangdong Province, China.

Oct.  Zwei listed on the JASDAQ market.

Nov.  Aeon Co., Ltd. achieves SA8000 
certification for its Topvalu supplier 
management systems and Aeon 
headquarters operations.

Nov.  Donations to help victims of the Niigata-
Chuetsu Earthquake and Typhoon 
Tokage given to distress areas.

Nov.  Medical Ikkou listed on the JASDAQ 
market.

Dec.  Certo listed on the JASDAQ market.

2005

Jan.  Donations to help victims of the 
tsunami triggered by the Sumatra-
Andaman Island Earthquake given to 
Japan Committee for UNICEF.

Feb.  Aeon Fantasy moves from the Second 
Section of the Tokyo Stock Exchange 
to the First Section.

Mar.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Carrefour S.A. agree 
on a strategic business tie-up. Aeon 
Co., Ltd. acquires management rights of 
Carrefour Japan, and renames it Aeon 
Marché.

May  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Sunday agree to 
strengthen their existing business and 
capital tie-up.

May  Aeon Chikusa Shopping Center opened 
as Aeon’s first Eco Store.

June  Donations for children affected by the 
tsunami triggered by the Sumatra-
Andaman Island Earthquake given to 
Japan Committee for UNICEF.

Oct.  Supercenter operations spun off to be 
succeeded by newly organized Aeon 
Supercenter.

Oct.  Donations for victims of Hurricane 
Katrina in the U.S. given to the U.S. 
Embassy in Japan.

Oct.  Tree-planting event held in the area 
surrounding the Mount Lao Dam in 
Qingdao City, China.

Nov.  Emergency relief funds for victims of 
the Pakistan and India Earthquake 
given to Japan Platform (JPF).

Nov.  Tree-planting project held in tsunami-
affected areas of Phuket, Thailand.

Dec.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and East Japan Railway 
Company agree on a comprehensive 
business tie-up.

Dec.  Human-Resource General Training 
Institute for Aeon Welcia Stores 
established.

Dec.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Tsuruya Shoe Store 
agree on a business and capital tie-up.

Dec.  Mycal completes corporate 
rehabilitation seven years ahead of 
schedule.

2006

Feb.  Talbots in the U.S. announces a friendly 
acquisition of J. Jill Group.

Feb.  Ceremony for the15th anniversary of 
Aeon Environmental Foundation held 
with an invited guest, Nobel Peace 
Prize laureate Wangari Maathai.

Mar.  Welcia Kanto (former Greencross · 
Coa) merges with Iino. 

Mar.  Origin Toshu becomes a subsidiary.

Mar.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and NTT Docomo, Inc. 
agree to cooperate in introducing a 
mobile credit payment service “iD*.” 

Mar.  Consolidation of six subsidiaries 
of Aeon Co., Ltd. and the service 
operations of Mycal’s subsidiary 
resolved. Japan Maintenance, Aeon 
Fantasy, Certo, Gourmet D’Or and 
Research Institute For Quality Living 
become newly consolidated companies.

Apr.  Sunday becomes a subsidiary of Aeon 
Co., Ltd. through a third-party allocation 
of new shares.

May  Nafukohasegawa Corporation becomes 
a subsidiary of Maxvalu Chubu.

May  Diamond City becomes a subsidiary of 
Aeon Co., Ltd. through a takeover bid.

May  Emergency relief funds for victims of 
the Java Indonesia Earthquake given to 
the Indonesian Embassy.

July  Nafukohasegawa Corporation changes 
name to Maxvalu Nagoya.

July  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Yamaya establish a 
joint-venture import company, Cordon 
Vert.

July  Donations for a school construction 
program in Laos given to Japan 
Committee for UNICEF.

July  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Belc agree on a 
business and capital tie-up.

Sept.  Sunday and Joy, a home center chain 
in Yamagata, agree on a business and 
capital tie-up.

Sept.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Japan Post agree on 
a comprehensive business tie-up.

Oct.  Second tree-planting project in Qingdao 
and a workshop about a Chinese 
historical figure, Jofuku.

Nov.  Aeon Co., Ltd. increases capital through 
a public offering of 70 million shares.

Nov.  Tree-planting project in Kenya held.

Nov.  Aeon Co., Ltd. becomes the first retail 
company in Japan to acquire Marine 
Stewardship Council Chain of Custody 
(MSC CoC) Certification. Sales of 
seafood certified by eco-label (MSC) 
begin.
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Dec.  Aeon Co., Ltd. issues 4,591,300 shares 
through a third-party allocation of new 
shares.

Dec.  Aeon Co., Ltd. concludes a license 
agreement with The Walt Disney 
Company (Japan) Ltd. and begins sales 
of original Disney character products.

2007

Feb.  Aeon Co., Ltd. becomes the first 
company in Japan to install shared 
infrastructure jointly developed by 
NTT Docomo, Inc. and East Japan 
Railway Company and starts accepting 
iD electronic payments using mobile 
phones and Suica* cards.

Feb.  Taking over the business of Joy-
Copain, Aeon Co., Ltd. establishes a 
new company, Aeon Bakery Systems, 
to start operation.

Feb.  New human resource management 
system introduced, under which 
employment for all employees is 
extended to age of 65.

Mar.  Aeon Co., Ltd., The Daiei, Inc. and 
Marubeni Corporation agree on a 
business and capital tie-up. Part of 
Daiei’s shareholding in Maruetsu, 
transferred to Aeon Co., Ltd.

Apr.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Posfūl conclude 
an agreement to spin off general 
retailing operations of Aeon Co., Ltd. in 
Hokkaido and transfer them to Posfūl.

Apr.  Aeon Co., Ltd. becomes the first 
company in the general retailing 
industry to sign an agreement with the 
Japanese Ministry of the Environment 
concerning initiatives toward the 
establishment of a recycling-oriented 
society.

Apr.  Aeon Co., Ltd. acquires private 
placement of shares in Posfūl, which 
becomes a subsidiary.

Apr.  Aeon launches its own branded Waon 
e-money card system.

Apr.  Aeon Environmental Foundation and 
East Japan Railway Company plant 
trees on the Akita Shimohama Coast.

May  Donations for victims of the Hokuriku 
Noto Peninsula Earthquake given to 
Ishikawa Prefecture.

May  Three functions of private brand product 
development, demand aggregation and 
supply chain management spun off from 
Aeon Co., Ltd. to set up three shared-
function companies. 

June  Aeon Stores (Hong Kong) and Aeon 
Credit Service (Asia) plant trees to 
commemorate the 20th anniversary 
of the commencement of business 
operations in Hong Kong. 

July  Aeon Environmental Foundation 
and the Beijing Municipal People’s 
Government implement a tree-planting 
project along the Great Wall of China at 
Badaling in Yanqing County, Beijing.

July  Aeon Co., Ltd., Maruetsu and Marubeni 
Corporation agree on a business tie-up.

July  Second round of donations for a school 
construction program in Laos given to 
Japan Committee for UNICEF.

Aug.  Aeon Mall merges with Diamond City 
and Aeon Kyushu merges with Mycal 
Kyushu.

Aug.  Donations for victims of the 
Niigata-Chuetsu Earthquake given to 
Ishikawa Prefecture.

Oct.  Maxvalu Chubu merges with 
Maxvalu Nagoya.

Oct.  Aeon Bank granted a banking license 
by the Financial Services Agency.

Oct.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Japan Airlines 
Corporation agree on a comprehensive 
business tie-up.

Oct.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and SIIC Shanghai 
(Holdings) Co., Ltd agree on a business 
tie-up.

Oct.  Aeon Bank increases capital through a 
third-party allocation of new shares.

Nov.  Construction of the Preah Norodom 
Sihanouk Angkor Museum, supported 
by the Aeon 1% Club, completed.

Nov.  Aeon Co., Ltd. establishes Beijing Aeon 
in Beijing, China.

Nov.  Emergency relief funds for victims of 
the devastating cyclone in Bangladesh 
given to the Embassy of Bangladesh.

Nov.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Sanyo Electric 
Co., Ltd. agree to collaborate on the 
development of electrical appliances for 
the Topvalu private brand products.

Dec.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Aeon Forest 
establish Aeon Body with the aim 
of creating a new business format 
combining retail operations and 
services relating to health and beauty.

Dec.  Aeon Credit Service (M) Bhd. listed on 
the Malaysia Stock Exchange.

Dec.  Zwei listed on the Second Section of 
the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

Dec.  Kohyo becomes a subsidiary of Aeon 
Co., Ltd. through a share transfer.

2008

Feb.  Aeon and Sumitomo Mitsui Card Co., 
Ltd. establish a business tie-up.

Feb.  Aeon Co., Ltd., Aeon Credit Service and 
Aeon Mall establish Aeon Insurance 
Service to integrate their insurance 
agency activities.

Feb.  Belc listed on the Second Section of 
the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

Mar.  Aeon Co., Ltd., NTT Docomo, Inc., East 
Japan Railway Company and West 
Japan Railway Company expand their 
e-money systems (Waon, iD, Suica and 
ICOCA*) nationwide.

Mar.  Aeon becomes the first Japanese 
retailer to set specific numerical targets 
for the reduction of CO2 emissions, with 
the adoption of the “Aeon Manifesto on 
the Prevention of Global Warming.”

Apr.  Maxvalu Hokkaido merges with Joy.

Apr.  Aeon Co., Ltd. signs an absorption-
type split agreement transferring its 
supermarket operations in the Kyoto- 
Osaka-Kobe areas of the Kinki region 
to its consolidated subsidiary, Kohyo.

Apr.  Aeon Environmental Foundation 
and the Beijing Municipal People’s 
Government implement a tree-planting 
project along the Great Wall of China at 
Badaling in Yanqing County, Beijing.

May  Emergency relief funds for victims 
of the major cyclone in central and 
southern Myanmar given to the 
Embassy of the Union of Myanmar.

May  Aeon Co., Ltd. and CFS Corporation 
agree on a business and capital tie-up.

May  Basic agreement signed on a merger 
between Tsuruya Shoe Store and 
Nustep with Tsuruya Shoe Store as the 
surviving company, which changes name 
to GFoot in February 2009.

June  Emergency relief funds for victims of 
the earthquake in Sichuan Province, 
China given to the Chinese Embassy 
in Japan.

June  Aeon Co., Ltd., Mycal and Aeon 
Supercenter send relief goods to areas 
affected by the 2008 Iwate-Miyagi 
Nairiku Earthquake, under a regional 
disaster prevention agreement.

July  Third round of donations for a school 
construction program in Laos given to 
Japan Committee for UNICEF.

Aug.  Season Select becomes a subsidiary of 
Maxvalu Tokai.

Aug.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Shimizu Drug 
establish a business and capital tie-up.

Aug.  Aeon shifts to a pure holding company 
structure.

Sept.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Mitsubishi 
Corporation agree that Mitsubishi 
Corporation will accept a third-party 
allocation of new shares issued by 
Aeon Global SCM, a shared-function 
subsidiary of Aeon Co., Ltd.
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Sept.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Marubeni 
Corporation agree that Marubeni 
Corporation will accept third-party 
allocations of new shares issued 
by Aeon Topvalu and Aeon Global 
Merchandising, which are shared-
function subsidiaries of Aeon Co., Ltd.

Sept.  Joint holding company, Growell 
Holdings, established through a 
transfer of shares in Welcia Kanto 
and Takada Pharmacy.

Sept.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Yoshinoya Co., 
Ltd. agree on the introduction of 
Aeon’s Waon e-money card system in 
Yoshinoya outlets.

Oct.  Aeon Laketown, one of Japan’s largest 
eco-friendly malls, opened.

Nov.  Aeon Beijing International Mall 
Shopping Center, the biggest mall in 
Beijing, opened.

Nov.  Welcia Kanto acquires Terashima as a 
subsidiary through a takeover bid.

Nov.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and KNT Co., Ltd. agree 
on a business tie-up relating to Aeon’s 
Waon e-money card system.

Nov.  Agreement reached concerning the 
takeover of the business operations 
of Kid Lab K.K. A new company, 
“Branshes” established and business 
operations started in February 2009.

Dec.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Mitsubishi 
Corporation establish a comprehensive 
business tie-up.

2009

Feb.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and FamilyMart Co., Ltd. 
agree on a business tie-up relating to 
Aeon’s Waon e-money card system to 
improve convenience for customers.

Feb.  Tsuruya Shoe Store (current GFoot) 
becomes a subsidiary.

Apr.  Emergency relief funds for victims of 
the central Italian earthquake given to 
the Italian Embassy.

Apr.  Funds for a campaign to eliminate 
landmines and cluster bombs given to 
Association for Aid and Relief, Japan 
(AAR Japan).

May   Business alliance established 
between Aeon Co., Ltd. and Kyocera 
Corporation. 

May   Honorary Chairman and Adviser 
Takuya Okada becomes the third 
Japanese to be granted honorary 
citizenship of Beijing. 

June  Brand name of Aeon Welcia Stores 
changed to Hapycom, and a new 
growth strategy launched. 

June  Aeon Environmental Foundation jointly 
establishes the Japan Awards for 
Biodiversity with the Ministry of the 
Environment.

July  Aeon Agri Create established to 
operate farms on leased land.

July  Aeon Marketing established as 
joint venture of Aeon Co., Ltd., NTT 
Docomo, Inc. and Aeon Credit Service. 

July  Agreement reached on the partial 
transfer of supermarket business 
operated by Aeon Retail to Maxvalu 
Tokai and Maxvalu Nishinihon. 

July  Fourth round of donations for a school 
construction program in Laos given to 
Japan Committee for UNICEF.

July  Disaster relief and recovery funds 
given to areas affected by heavy 
flooding in Yamaguchi and Fukuoka 
Prefectures. 

Aug.  Aeon Integrated Business Service 
established to provide IT services for 
the Group. 

Aug.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Mitsubishi 
Corporation reach agreement on a 
deal under which Aeon Co., Ltd. will 
underwrite a third-party share issue by 
Digital Direct Corporation.

Aug.  Disaster relief and recovery funds 
given to areas affected by heavy 
flooding in Hyogo Prefecture. 

Aug.  Disaster relief and recovery funds 
given to the Taipei Economic and 
Cultural Office in Japan to assist 
Taiwanese victims of Typhoon Morakot. 

Sept.  Aeon introduces a new cooperative 
structure for four retail firms based 
in the Tohoku region (the GMS and 
Maxvalu business of Aeon Retail in the 
Tohoku region, Maxvalu Tohoku, 
Aeon Supercenter and Sunday). 

Sept.  Absorption-type merger between 
Shenzhen Aeon and Aeon (China) 
with Shenzhen Aeon as the surviving 
company, which changes name to 
Aeon South China.

Oct.  Takiya acquires Kondo Pharmacy as a 
wholly owned subsidiary.

Nov.  Disaster relief and recovery funds 
given to the Embassy of the Republic 
of Indonesia for victims of the Sumatra 
earthquake. 

Dec.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Aeon Retail enter 
into an absorption-type split agreement 
in which the supermarket business 
of Aeon Retail is split off to form six 
subsidiaries of Aeon Co., Ltd. which 
commence business operations on 
February 21, 2010.

Dec.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and McDonald’s 
Company (Japan), Ltd. agree on the 
introduction of Aeon’s Waon e-money 
card system in 3,200 McDonald’s 
outlets.

2010

Feb.  Disaster relief funds for victims of the 
earthquake in Haiti given to JPF.

Feb.  Aeon Co., Ltd. and Choshi City sign 
comprehensive cooperation agreement 
relating to regional development. 

Feb.  Medical Ikkou and Medipal Holdings 
Corporation sign a capital and business 
partnership agreement.

*  “iD™” is a registered trademark of NTT Docomo, Inc.
“Suica” is a registered trademark of East Japan Railway Company.
“ICOCA” is a registered trademark of West Japan Railway Company.
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Pure holding company
 AEON CO., LTD.

General Merchandise Store Business
* AEON Retail Co., Ltd.
* AEON Hokkaido Corporation
* SUNDAY CO., LTD.
* AEON KYUSHU CO., LTD.
* AEON SUPERCENTER Co., Ltd.
* AEON Marché Co., Ltd.
* Bon Belta Co., Ltd.
* MYCAL CORPORATION
* RYUKYU JUSCO CO., LTD.

Supermarket Business
* Maxvalu Chubu Co., Ltd.
* Maxvalu Nishinihon Co., Ltd.
* Maxvalu Tohoku Co., Ltd.
* Maxvalu Tokai Co., Ltd.
* Maxvalu Hokkaido Co., Ltd.
 The Maruetsu, Inc.
 Inageya Co., Ltd.
 KASUMI CO., LTD.
 Belc CO., LTD.
* KOHYO CO., LTD.
* MAXVALU KANTO CO., LTD.
* MAXVALU KITA TOHOKU CO., LTD.
* Maxvalu Kyushu Co., Ltd.
* MAXVALU CHUKYO CO., LTD.
* MAXVALU NAGANO CO., LTD.
* MAXVALU HOKURIKU CO., LTD.
* MAXVALU MINAMI TOHOKU CO., LTD.

Discount Store Business

Strategic Small Size Store Business
* MINISTOP CO., LTD.
* ORIGIN TOSHU CO., LTD.

Drugstore & Pharmacy Business
 CFS Corporation
 GROWELL HOLDINGS CO., LTD.
 Medical Ikkou Co., Ltd.
* TAKIYA Co., Ltd.
 Welpark Co., Ltd.
 Shimizu Drug Co., Ltd.

Financial Service Business
* AEON CREDIT SERVICE CO., LTD.
* AEON CREDIT SERVICE (ASIA) CO., LTD.
* AEON THANA SINSAP (THAILAND) PLC.
* AEON CREDIT SERVICE (M) BERHAD
 AEON BANK, LTD.

Shopping Center Development Business
* AEON Mall Co., Ltd.
 LOC DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.

Service Business
* AEON DELIGHT CO., LTD.
* AEON Fantasy Co., Ltd.
* ZWEI CO., LTD.
* CERTO Corporation
* AEON Eaheart Co., LTD.
* AEON CINEMAS CO., LTD.
* JUSVEL CO., LTD.
* Reform Studio Co., Ltd.
 Warner Mycal Corporation

Specialty Stores Business
* GFOOT CO., LTD.
* COX CO., LTD.
* BLUE GRASS Co., Ltd.
 Taka:Q Co., Ltd.
* Abilities JUSCO Co., Ltd.
* AEON FOREST CO., LTD.
* AEON BODY Co., Ltd.
* Talbots Japan Co., Ltd.
* Branshes Co. Ltd
* PETCITY CO., LTD.
* MIRAIYA SHOTEN CO., LTD.
* Mega Sports Co., Ltd.
* MEGA PETRO Co., Ltd.
* LAURA ASHLEY JAPAN CO., LTD.
* AT Japan Co., Ltd.
 Claire’s Nippon Co., Ltd.

Information Technology & Digital Business
* AEON Integrated Business Service Co., Ltd.
* AEON VISTY CO., LTD.
*  Digital Direct Corporation

ASEAN Business
* AEON Co. (M) Bhd.
* AEON (Thailand) CO., LTD.

China Business
* AEON Stores (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd.
* Beijing AEON Co., Ltd.
* Qingdao AEON Dongtai Co., Ltd.

Merchandise procurement and 
food processing operations
 YAMAYA CORPORATION
* AIC Inc.
* AEON AGRI CREATE Co., Ltd.
* AEON GLOBAL SCM CO., LTD.
* AEON GLOBAL MERCHANDISING CO., LTD.
* AEON TOPVALU CO., LTD.
* AEON Bakery Systems Co., Ltd.
* AEON MARKETING CO., LTD.
* Cordon Vert CO., LTD.
*  Research Institute For Quality Living Co., Ltd.
* Food Supply JUSCO Co., Ltd.
* MYCAL CANTEVOLE Co., Ltd.
* Tasmania Feedlot Pty. Ltd.
  AEON Demonstration Service Inc.

*Consolidated subsidiaries.
  Listed companies are shown in bold print.

•AEON 1% Club
•AEON Environmental Foundation
•The Cultural Foundation of Okada
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